

Proceedings of the Second KSS Research Workshop

Karlsruhe | Germany | February 2016

Edited by Peter Hottum, Melanie Reuter-Oppermann, Margeret Hall, Maria Maleshkova, Patrick Jochem

KIT SCIENTIFIC WORKING PAPERS 69



Karlsruhe Service Research Institute (KSRI)

Kaiserstr. 89 D-76133 Karlsruhe, Germany http://www.ksri.kit.edu

Impressum

Karlsruher Institut für Technologie (KIT) www.kit.edu



This document is licensed under the Creative Commons Attribution – Share Alike 4.0 International License (CC BY-SA 4.0): <u>https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-sa/4.0/deed.en</u>

2017

ISSN: 2194-1629

Workshop Organization

Workshop Committee

Peter Hottum	Karlsruhe Institute of Technology
Melanie Reuter-Oppermann	Karlsruhe Institute of Technology
Margeret Hall	Karlsruhe Institute of Technology
Maria Maleshkova	Karlsruhe Institute of Technology
Patrick Jochem	Karlsruhe Institute of Technology

Track and Session Chairs

Dissertation Proposals Alexander Mädche

Energy and Mobility Services Patrick Jochem, Wolf Fichtner, Gerhard Satzger

Healthcare Services Melanie Reuter-Oppermann, Stefan Nickel

Participation & Crowd Services, Service Platforms and Service Design Margeret Hall, Markus Krause

Smart Services and Internet of Things Maria Maleshkova, Rudi Studer

Program Committee

Marc Adam	The University of Newcastle
Dalia Bagdziunaite	Copenhagen Business School
Teresa Cardoso	Universidade de Lisboa
Simon Caton	National College of Ireland
Justin Collinge	Tao Leadership
Pieter Colpaert	Ghent University
Axel Ensslen	Karlsruhe Institute of Technology
Paul Fremantle	University of Portsmouth
Hansjörg Fromm	Karlsruhe Institute of Technology
Roland Görlitz	Karlsruhe Institute of Technology
Christian Haas	IBM
Anuja Hariharan	Karlsruhe Institute of Technology

Paul Harper Heidi Heinrichs Haider Imam Benedikt Kämpgen Fiodar Kazhamiaka Felix Leif Keppmann Marian Klobasa Vincent Knight Jacek Kopecky Markus Krause Johannes Kunze von Bischhoffshausen Lars-Peter Lauven Mário Amorim Lopes Lionel Médini Stephan Meisel Monica Oliveira Patrick Philipp Sebastian Rachuba Christoph Stadtfeld Steffen Stadtmüller Carola Stryja Mehdi Terdjimi Maartje Van de Vrugt Julie Vile Jakob Wachsmuth **Tobias Weller** Christian Wernz Anne Zander Tom Zentek

Cardiff University Forschungszentrum Jülich Tao Leadership Karlsruhe Institute of Technology University of Waterloo Karlsruhe Institute of Technology Fraunhofer ISI Cardiff University University of Portsmouth UC Berkeley Karlsruhe Institute of Technology Georg-August-Universität Göttingen Universidade do Porto Université de Lyon University of Muenster Universidade de Lisboa Karlsruhe Institute of Technology University of Exeter ETH Zürich Karlsruhe Institute of Technology Karlsruhe Institute of Technology Université de Lyon University of Twente Cardiff University Fraunhofer ISI Karlsruhe Institute of Technology Virginia Tech Karlsruhe Institute of Technology FZI

Preface

Since April 2008 KSRI fosters interdisciplinary research to support and advance progress in the service domain. As an industry-on-campus partnership between KIT, IBM and Bosch, KSRI brings together academia and industry thus serving as a European research hub on service science. In the past years, we have established a vivid speaker series and an enriching exchange with guest professors from leading global universities and practitioners with responsibilities for the services business of their respective companies. Our regular Service Summits and Summer Schools are a well-known place for collaboration and source of inspiration for our partners from the service science and service business communities.

With the Second Karlsruhe Service Summit Research Workshop KSRI provides a service innovation hub for researchers and practitioners in the fields of business engineering, economics, computer science, information systems, operations research, logistics and social sciences. With the help of reviewers, we selected valuable submissions and grouped them in the following four tracks.

1) Energy and Mobility Services: The energy sector continues to undergo substantial structural changes. Currently, the expanding usage of renewable energy sources (RES), the decentralization of energy supply and the market penetration of electric vehicles have a significant impact on the future development of services in energy and mobility. In the energy sector, for instance, the share of self-generated electricity in the overall electricity demand steadily increases. Consequently, utilities are transforming their business models from pure delivery of energy to tangible (energy) service providers. While services for the energy sector were traditionally considered technical affordances (e.g., ancillary services), the recent increase in "prosumption" shows that the need for a set of tangible, non-technical services in the energy retail market, taking consumer engagement into consideration, is no longer an issue of future services, but current reality. Moreover, the increasing volatility and uncertainty of power supply lead to a rising demand for flexibility, which cannot be provided by the conventional supply side alone.

2) Healthcare Services: Demographic changes cause higher patient demands alongside severe cost pressure and increasing quality requirements. Therefore, more efficient healthcare services and logistics are desirable. Even though underlying planning problems in the area of Operations Research resemble the ones from other service or manufacturing industries (e.g., scheduling of different tasks, processes or appointments) healthcare services are especially challenging, because patients need different care than, for example, parts of cars. In addition, particularly interdisciplinary approaches are necessary for research on and improvement of healthcare services. Since Information Systems have high potentials for improving efficiency, they also play an important role.

3) Participation & Crowd Services: Today, crowd-based and participatory approaches are playing an increasingly important role in tackling innovative endeavors. Thus, platforms in the areas of open innovation, crowdfunding, participatory budgeting, crowdsourcing

and idea markets are used by a broad set of organizations to facilitate innovation processes and enhance engagement. Governmental organizations involve citizens, companies their wider staff, others engage parties from outside of their organization in strategic, direction setting activities. The employed approaches contribute to the generation, conceptualization, evaluation, funding, implementation, and increased acceptance of related projects. However, there is a lack of interdisciplinary research for understanding cognitive and collaborative processes that underpin these platforms, design options for approaches and their appropriateness for different settings and goals.

4) Smart Services and Internet of Things: Market competitiveness as well as new technology developments raise the need for constantly reshaping and improving the organizational, controlling and manufacturing aspects of the lifecycle of products and services. Production industries are increasingly characterized by individualized customer needs shaping not only the final result but also the actual design, development, manufacturing and delivery process steps, as well as the associated business models. Furthermore, flexibility, customization and the need to be able to support real-time scenarios are crucial in order to be able to keep up to date with current developments. These requirements aim to be addressed by Industry 4.0 – a vision of tomorrow's manufacturing, where in intelligent factories, machines and products communicate with each other, cooperatively driving production. Key technological pillars for realizing Industry 4.0 are cyber-physical systems, the Internet of Things (IoT) and the Internet of Services, which together facilitate the vision of the Smart Factories.

In cooperation with the International Society of Service Innovation Professionals (ISSIP), we honoured outstanding research papers with the ISSIP Most Innovative Paper Award. Winner of the ISSIP Most Innovative Paper Award 2016 are Daniel Gartner and Rema Padman with their work on "Length of Stay Outlier Detection through Cluster Analysis: A Case Study in Pediatrics" (page 74).

Congratulations to the award winners as well as to the runner-ups Lars-Peter Lauven and Johannes Schmidt (Comparing flexibility options on the supply and demand side of the German electricity market – page 2), Stefan Zandera and Yingbing Huab (Utilizing Ontological Classification Systems and Reasoning for Cyber-Physical Systems – page 176) and Simon Kloker, Tobias Kranz, Tim Straub, and Christof Weinhardt (Shouldn't Collaboration be social? - Proposal of a social Real Time Delphi – page 140).

The organizational committee of the KSS Research Workshop 2016

Table of Contents

Energy and Mobility Services

Comparing flexibility options on the supply and demand side of the German electricity market 2 Lars-Peter Lauven and Johannes Schmidt
Business Model Clustering: A network-based approach in the field of e-mobility services
Choice design as key to technology adoption - A research agenda in the domain of electric cars 26 Carola Stryja and Verena Dorner
Efficient use of Renewable Energy with Storage and E-Mobility Service
Towards Smart Distribution Grids: A Structured Market Engineering Review
Willingness to Pay for E-Mobility Services: A Case Study from Germany

Healthcare Services

Length of Stay Outlier Detection through Cluster Analysis: A Case Study in Pediatrics
A Machine Learning Approach for Brain Tissue Recognition of Human Brain Slice Images
A smart service for the rheumatological care: Healthcare platform RhePort.de
German data sets for comparing ambulance location models
Modeling Indirect Waiting Times with an M/D/1/K/N Queue
Performance evaluation of closed-loop logistics systems with generally distributed service times120 Martin Epp, Paolo Pagani, Judith Stoll, Sebastian Scherer, Carsten Rohlehr and Kai Furmans
Towards a Process Meta-Model

Participation & Crowd Services

Shouldn't Collaboration be social? - Proposal of a social Real Time Delphi
Emotional Arousal Effects in Participatory Budgeting Decisions
Towards a Guideline for Conducting Economic Experiments on Amazon's Mechanical Turk
Towards a Requirement Framework for Online Participation Platforms
Smart Services and Internet of Things
Utilizing Ontological Classification Systems and Reasoning for Cyber-Physical Systems
Enabling companies to make use of industrial clouds - Foundations for Evidence-Based Engineering of Service Systems
Requirements on a Service Tool to Foster Demand-Side-Management Under Changing Climate Conditions
Sourcing Strategies for Virtualized Services: An Intuitionistic Fuzzy Risk-based Approach205 Roland Schütze

Energy and Mobility Services

Comparing flexibility options on the supply and demand side of the German electricity market

Lars-Peter Lauven, llauven@gwdg.de, Chair of Production and Logistics, Georg-August-Universität Göttingen

Johannes Schmidt, jschmida@uni-goettingen.de, Chair of Information Management, Georg-August-Universität Göttingen

Abstract

In order to exploit flexibilities on energy markets in the most profitable way, providers or aggregators need suitable techno-economic models. In this paper, we illustrate the potential role of operation research on this field by investigating whether optimization models can help to understand, predict and improve the participation of actors offering flexibility options in the electricity markets. First investigations show that multiple ways to make use of flexibility potentials existist, which differ significicantly in terms of revenue or saving potential and required effort. The implementation and operation of virtual power plants (VPPs) could therefore benefit from planning tools that help to speedily assess the most efficient choices from a portofolio of flexibility options.

1 Introduction

The increasing share of volatile electricity production in wind turbines and photovoltaic modules requires increasing flexibility both on the supply and demand side of the German electricity sector (Pecas Lopez et al., 2007). In principle, there are four different flexibility options on both the supply side (1-3) and the demand side (4) (BMWi, 2014; Connect, 2014; Siano, 2014):

- 1. Flexible conventional and renewable production;
- 2. Efficient and effective energy grids;
- 3. storage systems (e.g., pumped-storage);
- 4. Flexible demand from industry (e.g. shiftable industrial processes), commerce, households and electric vehicles (EVs).

On both sides, however, the unearthing of decentralized potentials is stalling most notably because of the substantial investment required for constructing infrastructure (e.g. smart meters, on the demand side or additional energy storages on the supply side), user acceptance problems, lack of incentives, and extensive regulatory requirements on energy markets (Geelen et al., 2013; Kim, 2011).

In particular, many business cases for demand side integration (DSI) – defined as the consumer's ability to alter his or her energy consumption pattern in response to time-dependent electricity prices or incentive payments (Strbac, 2008) – are hindered by extensive requirements concerning minimum order sizes on energy markets, security levels, contract or reaction time or market time frame (BMWi, 2014). Due to this reason, most energy end-users are aggregated by intermediaries or utilities to participate in DSI (Chiu et al., 2009). On the supply side, the latest renewal of the Renewable Energy Law (EEG, 2014) seeks to increase the number of biogas plants that react flexibly on changes in market prices. So far, however, the number of biogas plant operators that have taken advantage of the subsidies for such adaptations to their plants is relatively low (6.9% of the maximum eligible plant capacity of 1.35 GW have been realized until November 2015).

To overcome the regulatory hindrances, bundling and combined control of decentralized units in portfolios may help to overcome the above-mentioned difficulties and thus unearth the potential of flexibility options. Such portfolios are offered by service providers – known as curtailment service providers (CSPs), demand response providers (DRPs) or aggregators – whose business model is to manage and combine various demand-side and supply-side resources in the most profitable way. To illustrate the potential role of operations research in this field, we thus investigate whether optimization models can help to understand, predict and improve the participation of actors offering flexibility options in the electricity markets in this paper.

2 Flexibility options

Numerous flexibility options are available to guarantee the secure, cost-effective and environmentally friendly synchronization of electricity production and electricity consumption. Therefore, precedence can be given to selecting the most inexpensive option. In the following, two promising fields of applications on the energy supply and energy demand side are presented; commercial heavy duty electric transport vehicles operating in closed transport systems (ETVs) and biogas plants. Regarding the energy demand side, EVs seem to be good candidates for initial DSI applications, such as the vehicle-to-grid concept (Kempton and Tomić, 2005) or smart charging (Goebel, 2013), mainly because they remain idle for the greater part of the day and it is thus possible to utilize the corresponding load-shifting potential for DSI (see also: Gu et al., 2013). Due to the high requirements on most DSI energy markets (see Section 1), , commercial ETVs seem to be particularly suitable for a broad implementation of DSI; it is possible to pool the ETVs – each with a considerable battery storage capacity – on company grounds and act as a single entity on energy markets (Schmidt et al, 2014). The energetic potential of using ETVs as flexibility option is difficult to assess as, so far, only few ETV fleets are in use (e.g., in the port of Hamburg).Regarding the energy supply side, biogas plants are both a renewable energy source, abundantly available in Germany and capable of adapting electricity production flexibly. The flexibility potential of biogas plants in Germany is estimated to be very high, up to 20 GW positive and negative power (Krzikalla et al., 2013).

2.1 Flexible demand

In order to assess the potential of DSI for this application context, a research project (called BESIC) with a container terminal operator was initiated in 2012. Within the frame of the project, 10 of the terminal's 80 conventional diesel-powered automated guided vehicles (AGVs) have been substituted by battery-powered AGVs (B-AGVs). The main goal of the project is to assess how the charging flexibility of the B-AGV fleet can be optimally utilized for DSI (see also: Schmidt et al., 2015a). To apply DSI programs in practice, a simulation model was established which enables the fleet operator to forecast the state of charge of the batteries for approx. 40 hours. This is necessary because it must be ensured that the logistic processes of the terminal operator are not negatively affected by influencing the charging processes. So far, it was found that controlled charging based on variable prices for electricity seems to be the most promising option for the fleet operator, mostly because of significant cost-saving potentials identified and relatively simple feasibility (Schmidt et al., 2015b).

2.2 Flexible renewable production

In order to find a more market-based way that utilizes biogas plants' ability to react to fluctuating electricity production from other renewable energy sources, the most recent versions of the EEG in 2012 and 2014 encourage biogas plant operators to produce electricity when the spot market prices is highest. In Germany, the largest spot market volume is traded on the EPEX.

The two most visible instruments to achieve these aims are commonly referred to as market premium and flexibility premium. While the market premium is paid on top of EPEX revenues to encourage direct marketing of produced renewable electricity at the energy stock exchange, the flexibility premium is designed to give an incentive to biogas plant operators to compensate the fluctuating production from wind turbines and photovoltaic cells instead of contributing to basic load.

3 Materials and Methods

In the context of VPPs and DSI, two different kinds of optimization models can be applied. On the demand side, the cost of electricity purchases at the EEX can be minimized. On the supply side, notably for biogas plants, a maximization approach can be used to decide when to produce and sell electricity for the market. In this section, we illustrate both optimization approaches. While several models for either electricity demand or supply have been presented (e.g. Panžić 2013, Oskouei 2015), only few papers present combined approaches (e.g. Nosratabadi 2016). It must be noted that the applied optimization approaches are simplified as, for example, we do not consider grid costs, partial load, or the the potential problems of simultaneous ETV charging.

3.1 Cost minimization on the electricity demand side

Under current energy market conditions, the DSI programs *controlled charging based on variable electricity prices* can be realized by procuring the required power on the electricity spot market and shift the energy demand to the hours with the lowest prices. A precondition for the implementation of this DSI program is the availability of information regarding the energy demand and charging flexibility of the B-AGV for a certain period. The main goal of this DSI program is to optimize charging costs C_{TF} by shifting the charging times to fully charge a battery system to the *M* time slots in which the electricity spot market prices per time slot (*i*) are the lowest. For that, let I be the number of 15-minute time slots i in which a vehicle is connected to the grid, and thus a subset of the set T of 15-minute intervals t in the year as a whole. In the interest of constraining the charging processes to the hours with lowest prices for electricity procurement, we use the following function as a decision variable

$$x(i) = \begin{cases} 1 \text{ for charging a battery in time slot } i \\ 0 \text{ for not charging a battery in time slot } i. \end{cases}$$
(1)

Next, we calculate the hourly electricity demand d_t per time slot t of 15 minutes in which the battery is charged under consideration of the charging efficiency η and the charging power $W_{Charging}$ (in kW). Thus, we derive

$$d_t(x(i)) = \frac{W_{Charging} \frac{1}{4}h}{\eta} x(i).$$
⁽²⁾

The corresponding optimization problem for one time frame resolves to

$$\min_{x(i)} C_{TF} \sum_{i=1}^{I} p_{spot}(i) d_t x(i),$$
(3)

subject to

$$\sum_{i=1}^{l} x(i) = M \,\forall \, x(i) \in \{0,1\}; i \in \{1, \dots, l\},\tag{4}$$

in which the first constraint states that each battery system must be fully charged at the end of each charging period as requested by the terminal operator.

Using driving profiles based on the simulation model developed, a cost-saving potential of up to 30% compared to the case of no DSI program application was calculated for the period of one year (annual charging costs uncontrolled charging: \in 129,164 / annual charging costs controlled charging \in 194,343).

3.2 Revenue maximization on the biogas-based electricity supply side

For the supply side, the optimization problem is framed by the regulations in the EEG of 2014. Whether biogas plants produce or use the time window in which operators can wait for higher electricity prices is therefore determined by a) the ratio of power generation capacity P_{inst} to biogas production capacity P_{biogas} and b) the remaining available biogas storage capacity at time $m \ cap_m$. Furthermore, we can assume that biogas plants will be operated to the full potential of their biogas production capacity over the year. Given that the plant produces at its full installed electrical capacity P_{inst} whenever it produces (which is not necessarily the case in reality), the biogas plant operator's revenue maximization problem can therefore be simplified to

$$max\left(\sum_{i}^{l} (p_i x_i P_{inst})\right),\tag{6}$$

s.t.

$$\frac{\sum_{i}^{I} x_{i}}{|I|} = \frac{P_{biogas}}{P_{inst}},\tag{7}$$

$$|I|P_{biogas} - P_{inst} \sum_{i=0}^{I} x_i \le cap_{max} - cap_{i=0}$$
(8)

4 Discussion and Conclusion

Existing enterprises like "Next Kraftwerke" offer services similar to those described in Section 2. Combined flexible supply and DSI has therefore proven to be possible already. The actual realization of such measures on a greater scale seems to be hindered by different factors on the supply versus the demand side. On the supply side, lack of monetary incentives is frequently cited as a reason for stagnation in the flexible power supply by biogas plants. On the demand side, regulatory hurdles make it difficult to motivate industrial electricity consumers to participate in demand side integration schemes. This is partly due to the fact that electricity consumers are usually primarily engaged in industries other than energy, and therefore face numerous constraints in their ability to reduce (or expand) their demand.

As shown in Section 3, the knowledge of day-ahead prices makes it possible to adapt flexible electricity consumption and electricity supply to market signals. As aggregators continuously control increasingly large numbers of supply and demand actors, constrained optimization may become a helpful means in the automatization of the operation of flexibility options. Furthermore, as actors in the electricity market already attempt to optimize their reaction to price signals, properly designed models can help to understand market participants' behavior. Identifying reasons for more or less enthusiastic behavior may help policy makers to improve regulations, and subsequently, market designs.

The overarching goal of developing a system of specific optimization models would therefore be to rank flexibility options and choose the best ones first in order to maximize the efficiency of responding to price signals. Aggregators, or any "virtual power plant" consisting of various supply-side and demand-side flexibility options, are thus enabled to determine an optimal reaction to price signals. It could therefore be attempted in the future to develop a comprehensive decision support system based on constrained optimization models that helps to choose the best flexibility option to react to market signals.

References

BMWi (2014), *An electricity market for Germany's energy transition*, Discussion paper of the federal ministry for economic affairs and energy (Green Paper), Federal Ministry of Economics and Technology (BMWi), Berlin.

Chiu, A., Ipakchi, A., Chuang, A., Qui, B., Hodges, B., Brooks, D., Koch, E., Zhou, J., Bertsch, L., Zientara, M.K., Precht, P.R., Burke, R., Crowder III, R.S. and Etheredge, Y. (2009), "Framework for Integrated Demand Response (DR) and Distributed Energy Resources (DER) Models" available at: www.naesb.org/pdf4/smart grid ssd022510a1.doc (accessed June 2015).

Connect (2014) "Leitstudie Strommarkt. Arbeitspaket Optimierung des Strommarktdesigns", Connect Energy Economics on behalf of the Federal Ministry for Economic Affairs and Energy, Berlin.

EEG (2014), Renewable Energy Sources Act, Bundesregierung, Berlin.

Geelen, D., Reinders, A. and Keyson, D. (2013), "*Empowering the end-user in smart grids: Recommendations for the design of products and services*", Energy Policy, Vol. 61, pp. 151–161.

Goebel, C. (2013), "On the business value of ICT-controlled plug-in electric vehicle charging in California", Energy Policy, Vol. 53, pp. 1–10.

Gu, W., Yu, H., Liu, W., Zhu, J. and Xu, X. (2013), "Demand Response and Economic Dispatch of Power Systems Considering Large-Scale Plug-in Hybrid Electric Vehicles/Electric Vehicles (PHEVs/EVs): A Review", Energies, Vol. 6 (9), pp. 4394–4417.

Kempton, W. and Tomić, J. (2005), "Vehicle-to-grid power implementation: From stabilizing the grid to supporting large-scale renewable energy", Journal of Power Sources, Vol. 144 (1), pp. 280–294.

Kim, J.-H. and Shcherbakova, A. (2011), "Common failures of demand response", Energy, Vol. 36 (2), pp. 873–880.

Krzikalla et al. (2013), "Möglichkeiten zum Ausgleich fluktuierender Einspeisungen aus erneuerbaren Energien", Büro für Energiewirtschaft und technische Planung GmbH (BET).

Nosratabadi, S.M., Hooshmand, R.-A., Gholipour, E. (2016), "Stochastic profitbased scheduling of industrial virtual power plant using the best demand response strategy", Applied Energy, Vol. 164, pp. 590-606

Oskouei, M.Z., Yazdankhah, A.S. (2015), "Scenario-based stochastic optimal operation of wind, photovoltaic, pump-storage hybrid system in frequency-based pricing", Energy Conversion and Management, Vol. 105, pp. 1105-1114

Panžić, H., Kuzle, I., Capuder, T. (2013) "Virtual power plant mid-term dispatch optimization", Applied Energy, Vol. 101, pp. 134-141

Pecas Lopes, J.A., Hatziargyriou, N., Mutale, J., Djapic, P. and Jenkins, N. (2007), "Integrating Distributed Generation into Electric Power Systems: A review of Drivers, Challenges and Opportunities", Electric Power Systems Research, Vol. 77 (9), pp. 1189–1203.

Schmidt, J., Eisel, M. and Kolbe, L.M. (2014), "Assessing the potential of different charging strategies for electric vehicle fleets in closed transport systems", Energy Policy, Vol. 74, pp. 179–189.

Schmidt, J., Meyer-Berlag, C., Eisel, M., Kolbe, L.M. and Appelrath, H.J. (2015a), "Using battery-electric AGVs in container terminals — Assessing the potential and optimizing the economic viability", Research in Transportation Business & Management, forthcoming.

Schmidt, J., Lauven, L., Ihle, N., Kolbe, L.M. (2015b), "Demand side integration for electric transport vehicles", International Journal of Energy Sector Management", Vol. 9 (4), pp. 160-177.

Siano, P. (2014), "*Demand response and smart grids–A survey*", Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews, Vol. 30, pp. 461–478.

Strbac, G. (2008), "Demand side management: Benefits and challenges", Energy Policy, Vol. 36 (12), pp. 4419–4426.

Business Model Clustering: A network-based approach in the field of e-mobility services

Christian Engel^a, Jan Haude^a, Niklas Kuehl^a

^aKarlsruhe Institute of Technology

Abstract

Empirical insights about business models in the field of e-mobility services are of high importance to academia, industry and politics. As basic clustering algorithms do not deliver semantically valuable findings on business model structures based on obtained empiric data, this paper proposes a similarity measure-based network approach of clustering the latter. On the basis of graph, social network and similarity measure theory, an approach is designed which compares every business model instances of a data set with each other. The paper comes up with a matching score in order to determine whether two business models are connected contentwise within a cluster or not. The plotting of the resulting matching scores leads to a visually based determination of a meaningful matching score which bonds two business models together or not. The elaborations result in four e-mobility service clusters: Dataand-software-driven-, brokering-, transportation- and energy supply-based business models. Additionally, further findings on current opportunities in clustering business models and future solution proposals are described.

Keywords: Energy and Mobility Services, E-mobility, Business Models, Clustering

Email addresses: christian.engel2@student.kit.edu (Christian Engel), jan.haude@student.kit.edu (Jan Haude), kuehl@kit.edu (Niklas Kuehl)

1. Introduction

In the last decade, the importance of an exit from nuclear and fossil-fuel energy concepts as well as sustainable mobility has become obvious among science, industry and politics. One important aspect of this shift is *e-mobility*, holistically defined as "a highly connective industry which focuses on serving mobility needs under the aspect of sustainability with a vehicle using a portable energy source and an electric drive that can vary in the degree of electrification." (Scheurenbrand et al., 2015, p. 25) Besides traditional research areas of e-mobility-like battery technology, ICT, manufacturing, etc.-innovative business models and complementary mobility services are important for the success and acceptance of electric vehicles (Stryja et al., 2015a; Hinz et al., 2015). A framework for capturing and describing business models for emobility services was presented in Stryja et al. (2015b) and continued in Kuehl et al. (2015). This framework (cf. figure 1) delivers a scientifically created and practically validated tool for registering the essences of business models. As a next step, we would like to identify clusters of empiric data from existing projects, who could submit their business model via the web platform e-mobility-atlas.de. These clusters may support interested parties to find "types" of typical e-mobility service business models and identify gaps as well. This may be of help to researchers, who struggle with emobility services because of their high heterogeneity. It also delivers results for practitioners to see in which combination existing concepts occur-and what might be missing. A first attempt to cluster business models on the basis of a k-Means clustering algorithm was presented in Kuehl et al. (2015). One outcome was that when applying commonly used clustering algorithms the outcomes are not semantically meaningful. This may have the following reasons: As (Beyer et al., 1999, p.217) concludes: "[A]s dimensionality increases, the distance to the nearest data point approaches the distance to the farthest data point"-so typically-used distance measures are not meaningful anymore. Additionally, most clustering algorithms will assign all observations to a cluster–even outliers. One way to eliminate these outliers is outlier detection (cf. Aggarwal and Yu (2001)), but it would remove actual observations from the (already small) data set which are no errors. Also, the high number of features (characteristics of business models) makes the clustering more complex. In order to face this challenge a feature reduction is possible, but it only improved the meaningfulness of the clusters fractionally (as shown in Kuehl et al. (2015)). To continue with our research, the paper at



Figure 1: E-mobility specific service business model framework

hand aims at answering the following three research questions:

- 1. Which clusters are identified by applying a similarity network approach?
- 2. How do these results compare to a baseline of clusters from previous research?
- 3. What are relevant insights of e-mobility service business models for politics, academia and industry?

Its contribution is threefold: At first, we acquired a larger data set (n=40) of business model instances than in Kuehl et al. (2015). Secondly, we explain,

apply and interpret a different approach of clustering and thirdly we are able to deliver new empiric insights of e-mobility service business models.

2. Methodology

As mentioned before, most commonly used algorithms for clustering have several restrictions in providing meaningful clusters for our problem. As meaningful and interpretable results are the key factor for our research, we need approaches which are customized to our specific needs. As a prerequisite we set the following definitions: The observations are called *Business Model Instances (BMIs)*, the attributes are called *characteristics*. Both dimensions are indexed as shown in figure 2. The indexing is based on the concept of

$C = \{c_1; c_2; \ldots c_j \ldots; c_p\},\$	\triangleright Business Model characteristics
$j \in J = \{1, \dots, p\}$	
$B = \{b_1; b_2; \dots b_i \dots; b_n\}$	\triangleright Business Model Instances
$i \in I = \{1, \dots, n\}$	
$x_{ij} \in X : I \times J \to \{0; 1\}$	\triangleright Occurrence (0 or 1)

Figure 2: Prerequisites

Boolean matrix entries which are used in this work to present a bipartite network, also called "two-mode network" (Salton et al., 1983, 1975; Opsahl, 2013). For instance, the survey participants of the first BMI can characterize it along the dimensions $(x_{11} \ldots x_{1p})$. This means that $x_{11} \ldots x_{1p}$ can either take values of 1 or 0. Thus, all of the n business models can be represented through a Boolean vector. This transformation helps to make the business models comparable.

This paper proposes an approach of clustering business models within a similarity measure-based node network. It combines two classic approaches which are often applied in literature: The concepts of *similarity measures* and the concept of *structuring relations within node networks*.

2.1. The concept of similarity measures

In order to compare the BMIs, this paper uses similarity measures (Choi et al., 2010). A binary similarity measure based on the Jaccard coefficient

is used to say "how similar" the compared business models are (Choi et al., 2010; Cheetham and Hazel, 1969). If the business model instances Y and Z are compared, the similarity score between them is calculated as follows:

Matching Score
$$(Y, Z) = \frac{\sum_{d \in D} \frac{|Y_d \cap Z_d|}{|Y_d \cup Z_d|}}{|D|}$$

The Jaccard value as a binary measure for similarity (Choi et al., 2010; Cheetham and Hazel, 1969) is calculated within each characterizing category of the vectors Y and Z of the business models and then normalized along the number of categories. This measure is called "Matching Score" in this paper. D is the set of all high level categories of characteristics while d is one category within D. As shown in figure 1, d could examplarily be "Key Activities", and thus, the characteristics would be "Aggregating", "Providing" etc.

In order to get an understanding of how each of the business models can be compared to the others and to find out the best-matches (the most similar business models) and the worst-matches (the most distinct business models), every business model vector has to be compared to all other business model vectors and the particular matching scores have to be calculated. If n is equal to the number of observed BMIs, this means that $\frac{n*(n-1)}{2}$ matching scores are calculated. We conduct this approach in order to find out how the similarity measures within the business model context behave and what a meaningful matching score which acts as a threshold should look like to speak of two business models being similar (Cha et al., 2005). In the following we speak of two BMIs being similar or related if their matching score is higher than or equal to the "meaningful matching score". The meaningful matching score can be inferred by plotting the down-ranked matching scores within a figure and visually analyzing the curve. In this paper the meaningful matching score (=threshold) is set at the point bewteen disjunctive and non-disjunctive clusters. This matter-of-fact is explained in detail within the results section.

2.2. The concept of structuring relations within node networks

In order to apply distinct metrics to calculate valid business model clusters, this approach focuses on representing BMIs as nodes within a network. This approach originates from the research field of computer sciences to structure and view complex data sets and to retrieve new information out of it (Bondy and Murty, 1976; West et al., 2001). Nowadays, a vast modern research

stream, called *social network analysis*, uses the network modeling approach to infer information about network structures like clusters and its participants (Scott, 2012; Hanneman et al., 2001). We try to apply the methods and tools of network analysis on our business model case: On the basis of the "meaningful matching score" which is illustrated within the results section, it can be inferred whether two nodes are connected or not: Only if two business models reach above the meaningful matching score, a non-directed relation is established between the particular nodes. One of the most-used metrics which can be derived from a network like this is the "degree" of a node which tells with how many other nodes the particular node is connected to (Bollobás, 1998). In the following we use the node degree to identify the most prominent nodes of the network and use them as the representatives of distinct clusters of the network (Scott, 2012; Kempe et al., 2003). This approach is based upon the so-called principle of "one-mode projection" which is highly prominent in Network Analysis literature (Zweig and Kaufmann, 2011). The tool to visualize the resulting business model networks which serves as the basis for the further analysis is called NodeXL and has been developed by scholars from the United States in cooperation with Microsoft Research (Smith et al., 2009).

2.3. The similarity network methodology at one sight

Summarizing the above explained methodology leads to the following structured order:

- 1. Indexing: Representing business models within a Boolean vector
- 2. Calculation of the matching score for every business model pair
- 3. Visual identification of the "meaningful matching score"
- 4. Representation of the business models within a node network according to the distinct matching scores
- 5. Calculation of the node degree in order to identify clusters and their particular representatives

3. Results

The methodology from the previous chapter is now applied on the data set. The data set consists of 40 invited e-mobility projects, which were chosen for



Figure 3: Matching score curve

their diversity and their service focus to submit their business model through an online tool (e-mobility-atlas.de).

3.1. The Matching Score Curve

As n equals 40, $\frac{40*(39)}{2} = 780$ comparisons are conducted, the particular matching scores are calculated and ordered decreasingly. Figure 3 shows the resulting matching score curve. The number of comparisons can be interpreted as the number of edges in a resulting node network consisting of BMIs. As figure 3 depicts, three areas of distinct cluster types can be derived from the analysis: A disjunctive clustering area, a non-disjunctive clustering area and an area of no clusters. The iterative visualization of the node network with a changing number of nodes according to the matching score shows that below a value of 89 percent in this data set no more disjunctive clusters can be found by performing the methodology proposed in section 2. Below a value of 89 percent all nodes of the network are connected to one big component (cf. figure 5).

Therefore, this part is called non-disjunctive clustering area. Identifying the lower boundary below no more clusters (disjunctive and non-disjunctive) can be found will be a future research focus, but is not of interest for this paper as the focus is put upon finding disjunctive clusters. Therefore, only business model pairs which reach above a "meaningful matching score" of 89 percent are considered.



Figure 4: Disjunctive e-mobility clusters based on the chosen approach

3.2. Resulting Clusters

From the data set of 40 business models four disjunctive clusters of 19 BMIs can be found. Figure 4 illustrates the node network. The node size depends on the particular node degree. The higher the degree, the bigger the node. The nodes in each cluster are numbered and matched to the particular business model characteristics which are depicted in the appendix in table 1. The business model node with the highest node degree can be seen as a representative for the cluster. The four e-mobility business model clusters which are found in this paper can be named as following:

- Cluster I: Data-and-software-driven services
- Cluster II: Brokering vehicles or specialists
- Cluster III: Energy services
- Cluster IV: Transportation services

3.3. Non-Disjunctive Clusters

As elaborated above, we only analyze disjunctive clusters in this paper. Nonetheless, a short wrap-up of the non-disjunctive clustering problem shall be given. As figure 5 shows, below a value of 89 percent all nodes within the network are connected to one component and with a decreasing matching score the number of edges within the resulting business model networks is rapidly increasing. When the matching score reaches a value of 44 percent, all nodes are connected with each other. Due to reasons of visualization the



Figure 5: Business model networks in dependence of distinct matching scores

networks are depicted as circles. This makes it easier to see how the network changes with a decreasing matching score. This consequently means that the setting of the matching score requirement in the non-disjunctive clustering area has got huge impact on the clustering results. Thus, it could be of further scholarly interest to develop ways of appropriately setting the matching score and clustering in the non-disjunctive clustering area. This could lead to more clusters than only studying the disjunctive clustering area and consequently reveal further insights concerning business model research.

3.4. Comparison to baseline

As a baseline we use the clustering approach from Kuehl et al. (2015) with the larger data set (n=40) with a minimum number of desired BMIs per cluster of 4 ($k_{min} = 4$) and a minimum number of characteristics per cluster of 3 (g = 3). The approach results in two clusters, which are almost identical to the results from the smaller data set:

- Cluster I: In this cluster we identify four different BMIs and corresponding projects after five iterations, all of them therefore sharing at least five commonalities. Their value proposition is the *Provision of information*, the key resources are *Data* and *Software*, and the key activities are *Providing* and *Aggregating*.
- Cluster II: In this cluster we identify five different BMIs and corresponding projects after three iterations, all of them sharing at least

three commonalities. Their key activity is *Operating*, their value proposition is *Transportation* and their key resources are *Vehicles*.

The main structural difference between the two approaches is the following: The frequences-algorithm (Kuehl et al., 2015) faces the prerequisite of the characteristics being disjunctive while the similarity measure-based approach is working on the basis of disjunctive BMIs. The results shown in table 1 from the approach presented in this paper find two more clusters than the baseline and also assign almost twice as many BMIs over all clusters. Moreover, cluster 1 in the baseline is a proper subset of cluster I presented in this paper in table 1 and the second cluster in the baseline is a subset of cluster IV in this paper. So even though two elementary different approaches were chosen, both methods come to similar results, which shows that there is no contradiction, but that these results support each others hypothesis. The approach at hand in this paper is more detailed, so depending on the interest of the researcher, (s)he may choose between an easy approach with restrictive input parameters or a more complex approach with more sophisticated clusters.

4. Conclusion and Outlook

This paper proposes an approach for clustering business models within an e-mobility service context. Summarizing the steps which have been taken to achieve this goal, the following can be stated: On the basis of treating business models as Boolean vectors which describe the characteristics of distinct business model instances (BMIs) and make them comparable, a pairwise comparison grounded on network, graph and similarity measure theory is conducted. This approach leads to four clusters of e-mobility services: Dataand-software-driven services, brokering vehicles or specialists, energy services and transportation services. The fundamental insights which are gained during the taking of the methodological steps are that disjunctive and non disjunctive clustering areas exist within the network-based approach. These areas have to be treated in different ways whilst this paper concentrates on elaborating the former. Concerning a wider matter of interest, this work delivers politically and economically relevant insights into the structure of current efforts of deploying e-mobility within a socially accepted and profit gathering manner. It is indisputably clear that in the e-mobility projects which are analyzed in this paper the main focus is put upon leveraging data, software and specialists in order to transfer the idea of e-mobility to common sense. Additionally, services concerning the e-mobility-based transportation and energy supply are in focus of current national study efforts in a business model context. These clusters should be taken as a starting point for both, further studies in this field and for business people for entering the socalled "white spots" which are not displayed in the current e-mobility service spectrum.

As limiting aspects of this work several points have to be adressed. The first restrictive point is that the Jaccard coefficient, which is part of the matching score formula, overestimates the non-selected (=0 or false) characteristics within the business model vectors because there are more characteristics which are not "fulfilled" in the particular business models than characteristics being applied in the business model. This is the reason for 44 percent being the matching score which connects every node with each other (cf. figure 5). It could be of future scholarly use to adjust the existing and study other kinds of matching score calculations and compare the results to the findings in this paper. As this phenomenon occurs in each BMI vector comparison, the results of this approach are nonetheless valuable. Concerning alternative similarity measures, the similarity measure presented by Sohn (2001) could be an interesting starting point for further research, for example. Furthermore, dealing with disjunctive networks and the setting of a lower boundary (below it no more clusters are found) should be in the focus of further research in this field in order to eliminate the above named inaccuracy and to broaden the spectrum of identifiable business model clusters. At the moment, the node degree is the only graph theoretical network measure which is in focus of the elaborations. In future works it could be enlarged by adding further measures like network centrality measures and distinct clustering coefficients for networks.

At the moment the data set which was retrieved by the project DELFIN consists of 40 projects dealing with e-mobility business models. This number of analyzable projects will be increased in near future and offer the opportunity to apply the above mentioned prospective proposals in order to substantiate the findings of this paper and to receive new results concerning the fields of business model clustering and e-mobility services.

Acknowledgements

This paper has been written in the context of the research project *DELFIN*. The project is funded by the German Federal Ministry of Education and Research (BMBF) under the promotion sign 01FE13002. We also thank the project management agency German Aerospace Center (PT-DLR) for the project support.

References

- Aggarwal, C. C. and Yu, P. S. (2001). Outlier detection for high dimensional data. ACM SIGMOD Record, 30(2):37–46.
- Beyer, K., Goldstein, J., Ramakrishnan, R., and Shaft, U. (1999). When is "nearest neighbor" meaningful? *Database Theory—ICDT'99*, pages 217– 235.
- Bollobás, B. (1998). *Modern graph theory*, volume 184. Springer Science & Business Media.
- Bondy, J. A. and Murty, U. S. R. (1976). *Graph theory with applications*, volume 290. Macmillan London.
- Cha, S.-H., Yoon, S., and Tappert, C. C. (2005). Enhancing binary feature vector similarity measures.
- Cheetham, A. H. and Hazel, J. E. (1969). Binary (presence-absence) similarity coefficients. *Journal of Paleontology*, pages 1130–1136.
- Choi, S.-S., Cha, S.-H., and Tappert, C. C. (2010). A survey of binary similarity and distance measures. *Journal of Systemics, Cybernetics and Informatics*, 8(1):43–48.
- Hanneman, R. A., Riddle, M., and Robert, A. (2001). Social network analysis. *Riverside: University of California*, pages 1–154.
- Hinz, O., Schlereth, C., and Zhou, W. (2015). Fostering the adoption of electric vehicles by providing complementary mobility services: a two-step approach using Best–Worst Scaling and Dual Response. *Journal of Business Economics*, pages 1–31.

- Kempe, D., Kleinberg, J., and Tardos, É. (2003). Maximizing the spread of influence through a social network. In *Proceedings of the ninth ACM* SIGKDD international conference on Knowledge discovery and data mining, pages 137–146. ACM.
- Kuehl, N., Walk, J., Stryja, C., and Satzger, G. (2015). Towards a serviceoriented business model framework for e-mobility. In *Proceedings of the European Battery, Hybrid and Fuel Cell Electric Vehicle Congress*, Brussels, Belgium.
- Opsahl, T. (2013). Triadic closure in two-mode networks: Redefining the global and local clustering coefficients. *Social Networks*, 35(2):159–167.
- Salton, G., Fox, E. A., and Wu, H. (1983). Extended boolean information retrieval. *Communications of the ACM*, 26(11):1022–1036.
- Salton, G., Wong, A., and Yang, C.-S. (1975). A vector space model for automatic indexing. *Communications of the ACM*, 18(11):613–620.
- Scheurenbrand, J., Engel, C., Peters, F., and Kuehl, N. (2015). Holistically Defining E-Mobility: A Modern Approach to Systematic Literature Reviews. In 5th Karlsruhe Service Summit, Karlsruhe, Germany.
- Scott, J. (2012). Social network analysis. Sage.
- Smith, M. A., Shneiderman, B., Milic-Frayling, N., Mendes Rodrigues, E., Barash, V., Dunne, C., Capone, T., Perer, A., and Gleave, E. (2009). Analyzing (social media) networks with nodexl. In *Proceedings of the fourth international conference on Communities and technologies*, pages 255–264. ACM.
- Sohn, M.-W. (2001). Distance and cosine measures of niche overlap. Social Networks, 23(2):141–165.
- Stryja, C., Fromm, H., Ried, S., Jochem, P., and Fichtner, W. (2015a). On the Necessity and Nature of E-Mobility Services – Towards a Service Description Framework. *Proceedings of the International Conference on Exploring Service Science 1.5.*, 201(Lecture Notes in Business Information Processing):109–122.

- Stryja, C., Schueritz, R., Kuehl, N., Hottum, P., and Satzger, G. (2015b). Entwicklung eines Frameworks zur Beschreibung von Geschaeftsmodellen fuer Elektromobilitaetsdienstleistungen. In Konferenzband der 9. Internationalen Energiewirtschaftstagung (IEWT), Wien, Austria.
- West, D. B. et al. (2001). *Introduction to graph theory*, volume 2. Prentice hall Upper Saddle River.
- Zweig, K. A. and Kaufmann, M. (2011). A systematic approach to the onemode projection of bipartite graphs. Social Network Analysis and Mining, 1(3):187–218.

Appendix

uster]	BMI Node D	Degree	Value Proposition	Key Activities	Key Resources
	1 5		Provision of information	Aggregating	Data
	2 4		Provision of information	Aggregating, operating	Data, software
	3 4		Individual consulting, provision of information	Aggregating, providing, operating	Data, software
	4 3		Provision of information	Aggregating, providing	Data, software
	5 2		(Further) Education	Aggregating	Data, specialists
	6 2		(Further) Education, provision of information, safety	Aggregating	Data
L	7 2		Provision of information	Operating	Software
L	8		Provision of information	Brokering	Data
L	9 1		Individual consulting, provision of information, transportation	Aggregating, providing, operating	Data, vehicles, charging infrastructure, software
L	10 1		Individual consulting, provision of information	Aggregating, providing, operating, optimizing	Data, software
	11 1		Transportation	Operating	Software
-	1 2		Transportation	Brokering	Vehicles
L	2 2		(Further) Education	Brokering	Specialists
	3		Transportation	Providing, brokering	Vehicles
	4 1		Safety	Brokering	Specialists
-	1		Energy supply, provision of information	Operating, brokering	Data, software
-	2 1		Energy supply, provision of information	Operating, brokering	Supplying customers, software
	1		Transportation	Providing, Operating	Vehicles
	2		Transportation	Providing, Operating	Vehicles

Table 1: Overview of the resulting disjunctive business model clusters and their characteristics (BMI enumeration can be compared with figure 4)

Choice design as key to technology adoption - A research agenda in the domain of electric cars -

Carola Stryja^a, Verena Dorner^a

^aKarlsruhe Institute of Technology

Abstract

Whether an innovation is adopted or rejected by a consumer depends not only on technological, economic or social factors but also on psychological attributes of the decision maker (Kleijnen et al., 2009). Furthermore, according to studies from the domain of behavioral economics, there is evidence that the design of the decision situation itself has a significant impact on the final decision as well (Thaler et al., 2013). The goal of the research proposed in this paper is to apply insights from innovation resistance theory and behavioral economics to the case of technology adoption, that is (1) to consider psychological aspects in the design of technology adoption settings and (2) to evaluate the effect such consciously designed choices have on real adoption decisions. As part of the study, several experiments will be conducted to test the influence of different choice designs on the perception and adoption of electric vehicles and to identify potential strategies for the design of decision settings that are supportive to their adoption.

Keywords: choice architecture, experimental studies, nudging, innovation resistance, sustainable technology

Preprint submitted to Elsevier

January 27, 2016

Email addresses: carola.stryja@kit.edu (Carola Stryja), verena.dorner@kit.edu (Verena Dorner)

1. Motivation

Electric cars are important means to mitigate climate change problems, increasing global resource shortages and reduce pollution especially in urban areas (Jochem et al. (2015), Kley et al. (2011)). In 2010, the German government announced the target of reaching one million electric cars in 2020 in Germany (Abdelkafi et al., 2013). The establishment of electric cars is of particular interest for several interest groups. First, general public whose health and life quality could be enhanced by reduced noise and air pollution in growing urban areas. The European Union captured the goal of reduced air pollution in their climate targets for 2030 (Jochem et al., 2015). To meet the targets, Germany has to reduce GHG (green house gas) emissions of passenger cars by 60~% between 1990 and 2050 which can hardly be achieved without the use of electric cars (EC (European Commission) (2011), Jochem et al. (2015)). Besides social and environmental consequences, lagging behind at electric car diffusion could undermine Germany's position as one of the most influential automotive industry nations in the world and thus lead to losing industrial power (Handelsblatt, 2016). Due to contradicting interests of reaching short-term profit targets with traditional gasoline cars Germany's car manufacturers and suppliers are trapped in striving to maintain the status quo (Sorge, 2014) while in the meantime international car manufacturers and new players from the IT sector establish their global production facilities (Geiger, 2015). As a result, the global rise of electric cars may lead to dramatic shifts in industrial power structures and drives risk for national automakers and suppliers to face the threat of falling back because of missing innovative alternatives for their core businesses (Schipper, 2015). The more it is important to get consumers interested and demand the technology to provide an intrinsic motivation for automakers to invest in the technology of electric cars.

The remainder of the paper proceeds as follows: Section 2 provides related work from relevant domains. Section 3 introduces the research problem and the hypothesis of the study. Section 4 explains the underlying research questions and methodology. Section 5 completes the paper with a conclusion and discussion of the topic.

2. Related Work

The question of what determines the adoption of an innovation has a long history in research (Venkatesh et al., 2007). Also the adoption of electric cars in particular and considerations how it could be enhanced and predicted has been subject of many scientific and corporate research studies since the early 80s of the last century (e.g. Calfee (1985), Beggs et al. (1981)). Since then a lot of research has been done to understand which premises have to be fulfilled that individuals use or buy electric cars and how fast markets would develop as a consequence. The following section gives a short insight into the state of knowledge relevant for the planned research.

2.1. Adoption of electric cars

The majority of research on this topic bases its results on empirical findings made in surveys or interviews (Rezvani et al., 2015). Most of these studies focus on the identification of adoption factors and barriers in order to derive strategies how these requirements could be addressed best (e.g. Fazel (2013), Egbue and Long (2012), Lane and Potter (2007)). According to Rezvani et al. (2015) there are four groups of adoption factors identified in existing literature: (1) technical factors, (2) contextual factors, (3) cost factors and (4)individual and social factors. Technical factors are all issues concerning the vehicle like e.g. its driving range, emissions and environmental impacts, performance, safety but also its ease of use (e.g. Moons and De Pelsmacker (2012), Lane and Potter (2007)).Contextual factors comprise all external (governmental, industrial) aspects whose availability is relevant for the willingness to purchase and use electric cars, that is e.g. the availability of (public) charging infrastructure, governmental incentives like tax reliefs or buyers premium (e.g. Egbue and Long (2012), Lane and Potter (2007)). In Germany, governmental incentives like a buyers premium are still hypothetical means and their actual effects thus remain unclear. Several studies try to analyze and predict the (long-term) effects of fiscal incentive mechanisms (e.g. Lieven (2015), Sierzchula et al. (2014), Shepherd et al. (2012)). Fiscal incentives are not planned to be part of this research as the study focus lies on the question of how the setting of the (experimental) adoption decision should be designed and what effect is caused hereby and not how governmental incentives itself should be designed to be most effective. That is why theory on this topic is not elaborated in further detail in this paper. In
Rezvani et al. (2015) purchase cost, running cost and (saving) fuel cost are considered as **cost factors** (based on e.g. Schuitema et al. (2013), Egbue and Long (2012), Lane and Potter (2007)). Aspects concerning the adopting person and societal influencers as a whole are considered in the fourth group as **individual and social factors**. Studies on these aspects are of particular interest for this study since they comprise valuable investigations on the personality of early electric car adopter or the role of emotions and psychological barriers for the adoption of electric cars (e.g. Steinhilber et al. (2013), Moons and De Pelsmacker (2012), Franke et al. (2012)). Furthermore, several of these works already use established adoption models like the Theory of planned behavior (TPB) (Fazel (2013), Moons and De Pelsmacker (2012), Egbue and Long (2012), Lane and Potter (2007)) or theoretical constructs from economic decision theory like the Rational choice theory (Lane and Potter, 2007) as theoretical foundation. Most promising studies for this research are (Franke et al., 2012) and (Moons and De Pelsmacker, 2012). In their study, Franke et al. (2012) focus on driving range as major psychological barrier for the acceptance of electric cars. Based on an empirical study they examine the individual perception of a comfortable driving range and its antecedents (e.g. personality traits, coping skills). In contrast, Moons and De Pelsmacker (2012) integrate emotions towards car driving and electric cars into the Theory of Planned Behavior (TPB). Theoretical contribution is the investigation of emotions in the usage intention decision process of new and more sustainable consumer products and differences in motivations to use these new products. Result is that emotions and attitude are the strongest predictors of usage intention, followed by subjective norm. Reflective emotions towards car driving and perceived behavioural control factors are also important antecedents.

2.2. Innovation resistance theory

As innovations, new technologies usually impose some form of change for the consumer (Kleijnen et al. (2009), Bagozzi and Lee (1999), Ram (1987), Sheth (1981)). However, "the typical human tendency is to strive for consistency and status quo rather than to continuously search for, and embrace new behaviors" (Sheth (1981), p.275). Because of this tendency, consumers usually seek for psychological equilibrium (Osgood and Tannenbaum, 1955) and anything which endangers the status quo is likely to evoke initial resistance (Ram and Sheth (1989), Rogers (1976)). The stronger the habit which is challenged by the innovation, the stronger the resistance of the consumer (Sheth, 1981). As such, resistance is a natural part of the adoption process: only when the initial resistance of the consumer has been overcome, adoption takes place (Sheth, 1981). However, according to Rogers (1976), traditional innovation and adoption research suffers from a so-called "prochange bias", i.e. assumes customers to be always open to change and eager to instantly use innovations. The theory of innovation resistance strives to close this gap by studying antecedents and barriers to the adoption of innovations with the goal of being able to understand the psychological processes behind consumer resistance (Kleijnen et al. (2009), Bagozzi and Lee (1999)). So far, there is evidence to suggest that resistance is a product of internal processes and external innovation-related barriers. Internal processes comprise the individual inclination to resist changes, i.e. the attitude towards change in general (Heidenreich and Handrich (2014), Kleijnen et al. (2009)) and the inherent human tendency to maintain the status quo, i.e. to misperceive expected changes due to loss aversion (Kahneman and Tversky, 1979). Innovation-related barriers comprise functional concerns about usage, value and risk issues while psychological barriers reflect concerns regarding the image of the innovation and its compliance with existing traditions of the consumer (Ram and Sheth, 1989). An understanding of the decision making of technology adoption therefore requires an understanding of the resistance provoked by the technology.

2.3. Choice architecture

The theory of choice architecture states that the way a choice is presented to the decision maker already influences the decision he takes (Johnson et al., 2012). Initially introduced by Leonard (2008) the term "choice architecture", also labelled as "nudging", has gained increasing and controversial interest in science and public (Selinger and Whyte, 2011). The concept of libertarian paternalism understands humans as mostly irrational decision makers who often vote for options which are, rationally considered, not the best choice for them. To help them to make better decisions, choices are designed in a way that decision makers are more likely to vote for options they would also chose when deciding on a completely rational basis (Thaler et al. (2013), Goldstein et al. (2008)). Especially in the context of environmental consciousness and sustainable behavior, choice architecture has been established as promising tool to affect irrational decision making (Mont et al. (2014), Bothos et al. (2014)).

3. Research Problem

According to Steinhilber et al. (2013) the transition to low carbon transport requires a "new notion of mobility" (p.532) and thus challenges long established mobility routines and habits. This inevitably provokes consumer resistance. A widespread market success of electric cars is still absent although electric cars are in general honored by consumers (Bühler et al., 2014). Empirical studies identify three main concerns regarding the adoption of electric cars that explain the gap: these are (1) perceived limited range, (2) high costs and (3) limited charging infrastructure (Steinhilber et al. (2013), Egbue and Long (2012)). While high initial costs are still an actual problem for widespread electric car adoption, major barriers like perceived range anxiety and the associated fear of limited public charging infrastructure has been proven to be mainly a psychological concern (Franke et al., 2012). As a result, even in rental and carsharing settings where usage costs are almost equal compared to costs for using traditional gasoline cars consumers tend to back off from chosing electric cars in anticipation of perceived limitations in driving experience even if their desired driving range would be fully covered by the range of the car (Holzer, 2015). The resulting research problem can be formulated as followed:

Research Problem:

The transition to electric cars leads to a significant change in mobility behaviour and thus provokes consumer resistance. One of the major barriers for electric car usage is their perception. Electric cars are perceived to fall short of consumer expectations in regard of range and convenience. Even in settings where costs correspond with gasoline cars it can be observed that customers back off from chosing electric cars due to range anxiety.

A significant part of consumer resistance against electric cars is based on perceptual misconceptions. Electric cars are perceived as inferior choices in comparison to traditional gasoline and diesel drive cars. This perception changes with the usage of electric cars. As soon as consumers actually drive and experience electric cars, their perception of range anxiety changes significantly towards a positive attitude (Bühler et al., 2014). This leads to the conclusion that in specific settings electric car adoption could be enhanced by supporting consumers to overcome their so far irrationally biased perception of electric cars. The resulting hypothesis for the study can then be formulated as followed:

Working Hypothesis:

Electric car adoption can be enhanced by supporting consumers to overcome their biased perception of electric cars. Due to the nature of human decision making and based on insights from choice architecture theory it is assumed that such support can be realized through a conscious design of the adoption setting. Supportive electric car choice design may thus have a positive impact on the selection of electric cars over conventional car alternatives which will in turn enhance adoption probability.

The adoption of electric cars has not been studied from the perspective of behavioral theory and economics so far and therefore lacks a deeper understanding of and ways to address psychological factors in adoption decisions. This study aims to bridge this gap.

4. Research Approach

In order to understand and control influencing variables in electric car adoption decisions, experimental studies are chosen because of their explanatory strength: nonexperimental research techniques such as interviews, case studies or surveys are "limited to statements about description and correlation" while "experiments permit statements about causation" (Kantowitz et al. (2005), p.52). During the experiments, individual choice behavior will be observed, e.g. by the use of eye tracking. An important part in experimental decision studies is the measurement of emotion since human decisions are strongly influenced by emotions (Coricelli et al., 2007). To understand and shape consumer perception, it is necessary to also measure cognitive and emotional arousals during the experimental selection process. According to Myers (2004), emotions manifest in behavior but also in psychophysiological data collected by biosensor technology. In this research it is planned to use biosensor technology like electrocardiograms and electrodermal measurement in order to identify and understand unconscious and emotional factors such as anxiety, stress, effort or arousal in the adoption process. Based on this knowledge, choices can be designed in a way that e.g. negative emotions are better compensated and perceived biases towards the technology of electric cars can be alleviated.

5. Conclusion and Research Contribution

The research proposed in this paper aims to consider psychological aspects and insights from innovation resistance theory and behavioral economics in the design of technology adoption choices. This will be achieved by conducting experimental lab studies to test the influence of different choice designs on the perception and adoption of electric cars. The intended research contributes in several aspects to the body of knowledge. First, the study of experimental decision making allows a deeper and more realistic understanding of how technology adoption decisions are made by individuals. So far, theoretical contributions to this area are mainly built upon empirical studies which assess the intention or willingness to adopt a technology (in case of electric cars: e.g. Fazel (2013), Moons and De Pelsmacker (2012), Egbue and Long (2012)). Moons and De Pelsmacker (2012) themselves state the so-called "intention-behavior linkage" as main limitation of their work and emphasize that "behavioural intentions do not evidently translate into objectively measured buying behaviour" (p.220). Besides the intention shortcoming, one of the main weaknesses of existing technology adoption models such as TAM are the limited consideration of emotions (Bagozzi, 2007). The proposed research will address both issues by providing behavioral observations of actual adoption decisions and measurements of occurring emotions in this context and thus contributes to the theory of technology adoption in multiple areas of interest. The second contribution will be made by studying the role of emotions and resistance behaviour during the experience of applied choice architecture ("nudging") which has been considered little in existing studies on this topic so far (Bothos et al., 2014). Insights on this issue may offer valuable starting points for further studies in innovation resistance theory, adoption of electric car research and applied behavioral economics.

References

- Abdelkafi, N., Makhotin, S., and Posselt, T. (2013). Business Model Innovations for Electric Mobility — What Can Be Learned From Existing Business Model Patterns? International Journal of Innovation Management, 17(01):1340003-1-41.
- Bagozzi, R. P. (2007). The legacy of the Technology Acceptance Model and a proposal for a paradigm shift. *Journal of the Association for Information* Systems, 8(4):244–254.
- Bagozzi, R. P. and Lee, K.-H. (1999). Consumer Resistance to, and acceptance of, Innovations. Advances in Consumer Research, 26(1):218–225.
- Beggs, S., Cardell, S., and Hausman, J. (1981). Assessing the potential demand for electric cars. *Journal of Econometrics*, 16:1–19.
- Bothos, E., Prost, S., Schrammel, J., Röderer, K., and Mentzas, G. (2014). Watch your Emissions : Persuasive Strategies and Choice Architecture for Sustainable Decisions in Urban Mobility. *PsychNology Journal*, 12(3):107– 126.
- Bühler, F., Cocron, P., Neumann, I., Franke, T., and Krems, J. F. (2014). Is EV experience related to EV acceptance? Results from a German field study. *Transportation Research Part F: Traffic Psychology and Behaviour*, 25(PART A):34–49.
- Calfee, J. (1985). Estimating the demand for electric automobiles using fully disaggregated probabilistic choice analysis. *Transportation Research Part* B: Methodological, 19B(4):287–301.
- Coricelli, G., Dolan, R. J., and Sirigu, A. (2007). Brain, emotion and decision making: the paradigmatic example of regret. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, 11(6):258–265.
- EC (European Commission) (2011). Roadmap to a Single European Transport Area Towards a Competitive and Resource Efficient Transport System. http://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/ALL/?uri=CELEX:52011DC0144., accessed 18.1.2016.

- Egbue, O. and Long, S. (2012). Barriers to widespread adoption of electric vehicles: An analysis of consumer attitudes and perceptions. *Energy Policy*, 48:717–729.
- Fazel, L. (2013). Akzeptanz von Elektromobilität. Springer Gabler.
- Franke, T., Neumann, I., Bühler, F., Cocron, P., and Krems, J. F. (2012). Experiencing Range in an Electric Vehicle: Understanding Psychological Barriers. Applied Psychology, 61(3):368–391.
- Geiger, T. (2015). Das Auto der Zukunft kommt aus dem Silicon Valley. http://www.welt.de/motor/article147584506/Das-Auto-der-Zukunft-kommt-aus-dem-Silicon-Valley.html. , accessed 18.1.2016.
- Goldstein, D. G., Johnson, E. J., Herrmann, A., and Heitmann, M. (2008). Nudge your customers toward better choices. *Harvard Business Review*, 86(12).
- Handelsblatt (2016). "Automobilstandort D wird an Bedeutung verlieren". http://www.handelsblatt.com/unternehmen/industrie/elektromobilitaetautomobilstandort-d-wird-an-bedeutung-verlieren-seite-2/3403288-2.html. , accessed 18.1.2016.
- Heidenreich, S. and Handrich, M. (2014). What about Passive Innovation Resistance? Investigating Adoption-Related Behavior from a Resistance Perspective. Journal of Product Innovation Management, 32(6).
- Holzer, H. (2015). Die Spannung lässt nach. http://www.zeit.de/mobilitaet/2015-09/carsharing-elektroauto-probleme. , accessed 20.1.2016.
- Jochem, P., Babrowski, S., and Fichtner, W. (2015). Assessing CO2 Emissions of Electric Vehicles in Germany in 2030. Transportation Research A: Policy and Practice, 78:68–83.
- Johnson, E. J., Shu, S. B., Dellaert, B. G. C., Fox, C., Goldstein, D. G., Häubl, G., Larrick, R. P., Payne, J. W., Peters, E., Schkade, D., Wansink, B., and Weber, E. U. (2012). Beyond nudges: Tools of a choice architecture. *Marketing Letters*, 23(2):487–504.

- Kahneman, D. and Tversky, A. (1979). Prospect Theory: an Analysis of Decision Under Risk. *Econometrica*, 66(3):497–527.
- Kantowitz, B. H., Roediger III, H. L., and Elmes, D. G. (2005). Experimental Psychology - Understanding Psychological Research. Wadsworth Thomson Learning, 8 edition.
- Kleijnen, M., Lee, N., and Wetzels, M. (2009). An exploration of consumer resistance to innovation and its antecedents. *Journal of Economic Psychology*, 30(3):344–357.
- Kley, F., Lerch, C., and Dallinger, D. (2011). New business models for electric cars—A holistic approach. *Energy Policy*, 39(6):3392–3403.
- Lane, B. and Potter, S. (2007). The adoption of cleaner vehicles in the UK: exploring the consumer attitude-action gap. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 15(11-12):1085–1092.
- Leonard, T. C. (2008). Richard H. Thaler, Cass R. Sunstein, Nudge: Improving decisions about health, wealth, and happiness. *Constitutional Political Economy*, 19(4):356–360.
- Lieven, T. (2015). Policy measures to promote electric mobility A global perspective. Transportation Research Part A: Policy and Practice, 82:78– 93.
- Mont, O., Heiskanen, E., and Lehner, M. (2014). Nudging. A tool for sustainable behaviour? Technical report, Swedish Environmental Protection Agency.
- Moons, I. and De Pelsmacker, P. (2012). Emotions as determinants of electric car usage intention. *Journal of Marketing Management*, 28(3-4):195–237.
- Myers, D. (2004). Psychology. NY: Worth Publishers., New York, 7 edition.
- Osgood, C. and Tannenbaum, P. (1955). The principle of congruity in the prediction of attitude change. *Psychological Review*, 62(1):42–55.
- Ram, S. (1987). A model of innovation resistance. Advances in Consumer Research, 14(1):208 – 212.

- Ram, S. and Sheth, J. N. (1989). Consumer resistance to innovations: the marketing problems and its solutions. *Journal of Consumer Marketing*, 6(2):5–14.
- Rezvani, Z., Jansson, J., and Bodin, J. (2015). Advances in consumer electric vehicle adoption research: A review and research agenda. *Transportation Research Part D: Transport and Environment*, 34:122–136.
- Rogers, E. (1976). New product adoption and diffusion. Journal of consumer Research, 2(4):290–301.
- Schipper, L. (2015). Die Auto-Attacke aus dem Silicon Valley. http://www.faz.net/aktuell/wirtschaft/neue-mobilitaet/die-silicon-valleyautos-von-google-tesla-und-apple-13428695.html., accessed 18.1.2016.
- Schuitema, G., Anable, J., Skippon, S., and Kinnear, N. (2013). The role of instrumental, hedonic and symbolic attributes in the intention to adopt electric vehicles. *Transportation Research Part A: Policy and Practice*, 48:39–49.
- Selinger, E. and Whyte, K. (2011). Is There a Right Way to Nudge? The Practice and Ethics of Choice Architecture. Sociology Compass, 5(10):923– 935.
- Shepherd, S., Bonsall, P., and Harrison, G. (2012). Factors affecting future demand for electric vehicles: A model based study. *Transport Policy*, 20:62–74.
- Sheth, J. N. (1981). Psychology of Innovation Resistance : The Less Developed Concept in Diffusion Research. Research in Marketing, 4(January):273–282.
- Sierzchula, W., Bakker, S., Maat, K., and Van Wee, B. (2014). The influence of financial incentives and other socio-economic factors on electric vehicle adoption. *Energy Policy*, 68:183–194.
- Sorge, N.-V. (2014). Ist Volkswagen das neue Eon? http://www.managermagazin.de/unternehmen/autoindustrie/deutschland-hadert-mit-denelektroautos-warum-das-gefaehrlich-ist-a-1006071.html.
 , accessed 18.1.2016.

- Steinhilber, S., Wells, P., and Thankappan, S. (2013). Socio-technical inertia: Understanding the barriers to electric vehicles. *Energy Policy*, 60:531–539.
- Thaler, R. H., Sunstein, C. R., and Balz, J. P. (2013). Choice architecture. In Shafir, E., editor, *The Behavioral Foundation of Policy*, pages 428–439. Princeton University Press.
- Venkatesh, V., Davis, F. D., and Morris, M. G. (2007). Dead or Alive? The Development, Trajectory And Future Of Technology Adoption Research. *Journal of the Association for Information Systems*, 8(4):267–286.

Efficient use of Renewable Energy with Storage and E-Mobility Service

Stephan Meisel^a, Tanja Merfeld^a

^aDepartment of Information Systems, University of Münster, Germany

Abstract

We consider a stochastic and dynamic decision problem of an innovative private household acting as a "prosumer" in the energy market. The household is equipped with a renewable energy source, with a stationary energy storage device and with an electric vehicle. Its goal is maximization of profits from both trading energy and offering a car sharing service to customers. We formulate the problem as a Markov Decision Process and propose two policies for solving the problem. The policies are evaluated in terms of their performance.

Keywords: Energy and Mobility Services, Energy Storage, Plug-In Electric Vehicles, Stochastic Optimization

1. Introduction

The recent technological progress in the areas of energy storage (Blonbou, 2013) and electric vehicles (Manzetti and Mariasiu, 2015) enables new ways of utilizing renewable energy. Hence, both companies and private house-holds that generate renewable energy do face new opportunities of turning this energy into profits. To ensure high profits, operators of renewable energy use. In many cases, however, making economically efficient decisions about the use of currently generated renewable energy is a major challenge. Algorithmic decision support is needed in order to address this challenge.

Email addresses: stephan.meisel@uni-muenster.de (Stephan Meisel), tanja.merfeld@uni-muenster.de (Tanja Merfeld)

In this work, we propose and compare two approaches to algorithmic decision support for an innovative private household with a source of renewable energy, battery storage and a plug-in electric vehicle. The household acts as a "prosumer", i.e., energy market access is granted and the generated energy may be used to satisfy the household's own demand. Moreover, the household provides a mobility service in terms of sharing its electric vehicle. If the vehicle is available at the charging station it may be rented by a customer for a per distance fee. As the households goal is to operate its energy system with maximum profit, and as each of generated amount of energy, load, energy market price and transportation demand is subject to stochastic variations over time, the system operator needs to repeatedly adapt its decisions about energy flows. At each point in time, decisions are made about how much energy to transfer between renewable source, storage device, vehicle battery and electricity grid while satisfying the household's energy demand.

Within the past few years an increasing discussion about innovative business models with electric vehicles can be observed (e.g. Budde Christensen et al., 2012). In this context electric vehicle sharing has been identified as one of the service-oriented new business models (see, e.g. Klev et al., 2011) that may involve sharing personal electric vehicles on a peer-to-peer basis (Lue et al., 2012). Weiller and Neely (2014) present a study of the various energy services that electric vehicles can provide and conclude that residential applications such as vehicle-to-home and smart home systems are realizable in the near future. Moreover, Geelen et al. (2013) stress the need for better service design that supports private households in their role as prosumers in a smart grid. Tan et al. (2016) review approaches to integration of electric vehicles into smart grids and propose the use of bidirectional vehicle to grid technology in order to optimize the efficiency of renewable energy sources. Concerning the combination of renewable energy and electric vehicle a number of studies illustrate that renewables could (Bellekom et al., 2012; Hennings et al., 2013) and should (Ajanovic and Haas, 2015) be the only source of energy for electric vehicles. For a recent review on electric vehicles interacting with renewable energy in smart grid we refer to Liu et al. (2015).

Our work connects the area of electric vehicle services with the area of energy storage optimization in the presence of renewable energy. We refer to Powell and Meisel (2015b) for a recent overview of optimization approaches to energy storage problems, and to Banos et al. (2011) for an overview of optimization in the presence of renewable energy.



Figure 1: Solid line arrows represent energy flows in kWh between energy source (E), stationary storage (R), car battery (B), grid (G), household's demand (D) and customer demand (M).

2. Problem Formulation

We rely on the canonical modeling framework proposed by Powell and Meisel (2015a) for representing the decision maker's problem as a Markov Decision Process. New decisions about energy flows are made at discrete points in time $t \in \{0, ..., T\}$ over a given time horizon of, e.g., one week.

2.1. State Variable and Decision Space

At time t the decision maker observes the energy system's current state

$$S_t = (D_t, M_t, P_t, E_t, R_t, B_t, A_t, f_t),$$

where D_t represents the household's current demand for energy, P_t is the current retail electricity price, E_t is the currently generated renewable energy, R_t is the current amount of energy in the stationary storage device, B_t is the current amount of energy in the electric vehicle's battery and M_t is the current customer demand for transportation in km. We assume that customers book the vehicle for a predefined number of time steps and that A_t always indicates the number of time steps remaining until the vehicle returns, i.e., $A_t = 0$ indicates that the vehicle is on-site. Moreover, we assume that we have access to forecasts of $D_{t'}$, $M_{t'}$, $P_{t'}$ and $E_{t'}$ for all t' > t, and that these forecasts are represented as four vectors $f_t = (f_t^D, f_t^M, f_t^P, f_t^E)$.

With capital letters in the superscripts denoting origins and destination of flows, as given in Figure 1, the decisions at time t may be represented as

$$x_t = (x_t^{ED}, x_t^{RD}, x_t^{BD}, x_t^{GD}, x_t^{ER}, x_t^{BR}, x_t^{RG}, x_t^{RG}, x_t^{BG}, x_t^{EB}, x_t^{RB}, x_t^{GB}, x_t^m),$$

where x_t^m is a binary variable indicating whether or not a customer takes the electric vehicle. Note that we assume that the decision maker always shares his car if possible, i.e., if the car is on-site and if the current battery charge

level is sufficient. With these assumptions the set of feasible decisions at time t is defined by Equations 1-21:

$$x_t^{ED} + \eta_R^d x_t^{RD} + \eta_B^d x_t^{BD} + x_t^{GD} = D_t + E_t^- \quad (1) \qquad x_t^{BD} + x_t^{BR} + x_t^{BG} \le \delta_B^d \quad (10)$$
$$\eta_R^c (x_t^{ER} + \eta_B^d x_t^{BR} + x_t^{GR}) \le R^C - R_t \quad (2) \qquad A_t \le K(1 - y_t) \quad (11)$$

$$x_t + x_t + x_t \le n_t \quad (4) \qquad M_t - D_t \le K(1 - z_t) \quad (13)$$
$$x_t^{BD} + x_t^{BR} + x_t^{BG} \le B_t \quad (5) \qquad M_t' - B_t > -Kz_t \quad (14)$$

$$m_t^{ED} + m_t^{ER} + m_t^{EB} < F^+ \quad (6) \qquad \qquad m_t^{eD} + m_t^{eR} + m_t^{eB} < F^+ \quad (6) \qquad \qquad m_t^{em} < \infty \quad (15)$$

- $\begin{aligned} x_t + x_t + x_t &= x_t (0) & m_t & x_t (1) \\ x_t^{ED} + x_t^{ER} + x_t^{EB} &\leq E_t (0) & x_t^m &\leq z_t (15) \\ x_t^{ER} + x_t^{GR} + \eta_B^d x_t^{BR} &\leq \delta_R^c (7) & x_t^m &\leq y_t (16) \\ x_t^{RD} + x_t^{RB} + x_t^{RG} &\leq \delta_R^d (8) & M_t' > -K(1 x_t^m) (17) \\ x_t^{EB} + x_t^{GB} + \eta_R^d x_t^{RB} &\leq \delta_B^c (9) & y_t, z_t, x_t^m \in \{0, 1\} (18) \\ x_t^{BD} + x_t^{BR} + x_t^{BG} + x_t^{EB} + x_t^{GB} + x_t^{RB} &\leq K(1 x_t^m) (19) \\ x_t^{BD} + x_t^{BR} + x_t^{BR} + x_t^{BG} + x_t^{EB} + x_t^{GB} + x_t^{RB} &\leq Ky_t (20) \end{aligned}$

$$x_{t}^{ED}, x_{t}^{RD}, x_{t}^{BD}, x_{t}^{GD}, x_{t}^{ER}, x_{t}^{BR}, x_{t}^{GR}, x_{t}^{RG}, x_{t}^{BG}, x_{t}^{EB}, x_{t}^{RB}, x_{t}^{GB} \ge 0 \quad (21)$$

We consider the fact that a generating unit such as a wind turbine consumes energy during operations by letting $E_t^- = -1 \cdot \min(0, E_t)$ and $E_t^+ = \max(0, E_t)$. The (dis-)charge efficiencies of stationary storage and vehicle battery are denoted as η_R^d , η_R^c , η_B^d and η_B^c . Accordingly, we denote the storage device's (dis-)charge rates as δ . R^C and B^C are the storage capacities. M'_t denotes the transportation demand converted into kWh and K is a very large number.

2.2. State Transition and Objective Function

The transition from state S_t to successor state S_{t+1} is determined by both decisions x_t and uncontrolled exogenous influences W_{t+1} . We model these influences as changes $W_t = (\hat{D}_t, \hat{M}_t, \hat{P}_t, \hat{E}_t, \hat{f}_t)$ of D_t, M_t, P_t, E_t and f_t .

The profit at a point in time results as the sum of (a) money made by selling energy to the market, (b) money gained from car sharing, (c) opportunity costs of satisfying the household's demand from renewables, minus (d) the money spent on buying energy. The total profit at time t is defined as

$$C(S_t, x_t) = P_t(D_t + \eta_R^d x_t^{RG} + \eta_B^d x_t^{BG} - x_t^{GR} - x_t^{GB} - x_t^{GD}) + \alpha M_t x_t^m,$$

where α is the fee we charge the car sharing customers per km. The decision maker aims at finding an optimal policy, i.e., an optimal decision rule, $X_t^{\pi}(S_t)$, that given any system state S_t returns the best feasible decisions. His overall goal is the maximization of the expected sum of profits over the entire time horizon, which results into the objective function

$$\max_{\pi \in \Pi} \mathbb{E}^{\pi} \sum_{t=0\dots T} C(S_t, X_t^{\pi}(S_t)).$$
(22)

3. Policies

Due to the well-known curses of dimensionality (see, e.g., Powell, 2011) problem (22) typically turns out to be computationally intractable for real-world applications. As an optimal policy cannot be computed, we propose and compare the performances of two alternative policies.

Policy Function Approximation (PFA). PFAs are analytic functions that map states to decisions without solving an optimization problem. We propose a PFA, $X_t^{PFA}(S_t|\theta^L, \theta^U)$, with tunable parameters θ^L and θ^U . The PFA is in the spirit of the PFA proposed by Powell and Meisel (2015b) for an energy storage problem. For the sake of brevity, we do not provide a formal definition of the PFA, but describe its logic at each point in time t. As much of E_t as possible is used for satisfaction of the household's demand. Then, as much of the remaining energy as possible is transferred to the stationary storage. As much as possible of the still remaining energy is then transferred to the car battery. If part of the demand is still unsatisfied and if $P_t \leq \theta^L$, we buy energy at the market in order to satisfy the remaining demand. If $P_t > \theta^L$, we first rely on the stationary storage as much as possible, before we rely on the car battery as much as possible and buy any additional energy needed for demand satisfaction at the market. If $P_t > \theta^U$, as much energy from the two storages as possible is sold to the market, and if $P_t \leq \theta^L$, as much energy as possible is bought at the market and stored in the two batteries.

Lookahead (LA) Policy. We propose a deterministic LA policy $X_t^{LA}(S_t|\theta^H)$, with the lookahead horizon as the tunable parameter θ^H . The LA policy determines the decisions x_t by solving the optimization problem

$$\arg\max_{\tilde{x}_{t}} \sum_{t'=t}^{t+\theta^{H}} f_{tt}^{P} (f_{tt}^{D} + \eta_{R}^{d} \tilde{x}_{tt'}^{RG} + \eta_{B}^{d} \tilde{x}_{tt'}^{BG} - (\tilde{x}_{tt'}^{GR} + \tilde{x}_{tt'}^{GB} + \tilde{x}_{tt'}^{GD})) + \alpha \cdot f_{tt}^{M} \cdot \tilde{x}_{tt'}^{m},$$

where the set of feasible decisions is defined along the lines of constraints 1–21 for each t' with $t \leq t' < t + min(T - t, \theta^H)$, and where the decision vectors for points in time $t \dots t + min(T - t, \theta^H)$ are represented by $\tilde{x}_t = (\tilde{x}_{tt}, \tilde{x}_{t,t+1}, \dots, \tilde{x}_{t,t+min(T-t,\theta^H)})$. For notational convenience we define $f_{tt}^D = D_t$, $f_{tt}^M = M_t$, $f_{tt}^E = E_t$ and $f_{tt}^P = P_t$.



(a) Weekly profits with $\alpha = 0.2$. (b) Weekly profits with $\theta^H = 70$. Figure 2: Comparison of weekly profits.

4. Computational Results

In this section, we showcase one illustrative example of the policies' performances. The considered problem instance is derived from Problem 2 in Meisel and Powell (2016). We adopted the characteristics of all stochastic processes, but scaled them to the numbers that correspond to an average household in Germany. The capacity of the stationary storage is $R^C = 10$ kWh with $\delta_R = 3.3$ kW and $\eta_R = 0.9$. The simulated time horizon is one week and one time interval is set to 15 minutes. The electric vehicle has battery capacity $B^C = 85$ kWh with $\delta_B = 10$ kW, $\eta_B = 0.85$ and a consumption rate of 20 kWh per 100 km. The stochastic demand for transportation varies between 0 and 100 km. We estimate the quality of a policy by generating n = 100 sample paths for the exogenous processes and by approximating $\mathbb{E}^{\pi} \sum_{t=0...T} C(S_t, X_t^{\pi}(S_t))$ by sample average.

Figure 2a compares the performances of PFA (with manually tuned parameters) and LA policy (with different lookahead horizons) at a per km fee of $\alpha = 0.2 \in$, which is about the average fee in German car sharing services. The figure allows for the conclusion that the LA policy should be preferred over the PFA provided that $\theta^H > 33$. However, Figure 2b shows that the advantage of the LA policy critically depends on α . As soon as $\alpha > 0.3$ the tuned PFA clearly outperforms the LA policy.

5. Conclusions

We present a model of a dynamic decision problem of an innovative household that acts as a "prosumer" in the energy market and that provides customers with a e-vehicle sharing service. For solving the problem we propose and compare a lookahead policy and a policy function approximation. Our computational results show that the preferred policy depends on the service fee.

References

- Ajanovic, A. and Haas, R. (2015). Driving with the sun: Why environmentally benign electric vehicles must plug in at renewables. *Solar Energy*, 121:169–180.
- Banos, R., Manzano-Agugliaro, F., Montoya, F., Gil, C., Alcayde, A., and Gomez, J. (2011). Optimization methods applied to renewable and sustainable energy: A review. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, 15(4):1753–1766.
- Bellekom, S., Benders, R., Pelgröm, S., and Moll, H. (2012). Electric cars and wind energy: Two problems, one solution? A study to combine wind energy and electric cars in 2020 in the Netherlands. *Energy*, 45:859–866.
- Blonbou, Ruddy; Monjoly, S. B. J.-L. (2013). Dynamic Energy Storage Management for Dependable Renewable Electricity Generation. In *Energy Storage - Technologies and Applications*, volume 1, pages Volume 1, Chapter 11. InTech.
- Budde Christensen, T., Wells, P., and Cipcigan, L. (2012). Can innovative business models overcome resistance to electric vehicles? Better place and battery electric cars in denmark. *Energy Policy*, 48:498–505.
- Geelen, D., Reinders, A., and Keyson, D. (2013). Empowering the end-user in smart grids: Recommendations for the design of products and services. *Energy Policy*, 61:151–161.
- Hennings, W., Mischinger, S., and Linssen, J. (2013). Utilization of excess wind power in electric vehicles. *Energy Policy*, 62:139–144.
- Kley, F., Lerch, C., and Dallinger, D. (2011). New business models for electric cars—a holistic approach. *Energy Policy*, 39:3392–3403.
- Liu, L., Kong, F., Liu, X., Peng, Y., and Wang, Q. (2015). A review on electric vehicles interacting with renewable energy in smart grid. *Renewable* and Sustainable Energy Reviews, 51:648–661.
- Lue, A., Colorni, A., Nocerino, R., and Paruscio, V. (2012). Green Move: an innovative electric vehicle-sharing system. *Proceedia - Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 48:2978–2987.

- Manzetti, S. and Mariasiu, F. (2015). Electric vehicle battery technologies: From present state to future systems. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, 51:1004–1012.
- Meisel, S. and Powell, W. (2016). Dynamic decision making in energy systems with storage and renewable energy sources. In *Advances in Energy System Optimization*. Springer.
- Powell, W. (2011). Approximate Dynamic Programming. John Wiley & Sons, Hoboken, NJ.
- Powell, W. and Meisel, S. (2015a). Tutorial on stochastic optimization in energy I: Modeling and policies. *IEEE Transactions on Power Systems*.
- Powell, W. and Meisel, S. (2015b). Tutorial on stochastic optimization in energy II: An energy storage illustration. *IEEE Transactions on Power* Systems.
- Tan, K. M., Ramachandaramurthy, V., and Yong, J. Y. (2016). Integration of electric vehicles in smart grid: A review on vehicle to grid technologies and optimization techniques. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, 53:720–732.
- Weiller, C. and Neely, A. (2014). Using electric vehicles for energy services: Industry perspectives. *Energy*, 77:194–200.

Towards Smart Distribution Grids: A Structured Market Engineering Review

David Dauer^a, Frederik vom Scheidt^b, Christof Weinhardt^b

^aFZI Research Center for Information Technology ^bKarlsruhe Institute of Technology

Abstract

The changes taking place in the energy sector, the transition towards smart grids and an increasing share of renewable energy sources (RES) generate the need for new market designs as well as new business models on the level of distribution grids. This work applies the market engineering framework to markets in smart distribution grids. First, a systematic overview of research approaches in the respective fields is given. Second, by viewing intermediaries as market engineers in their own one-sided market, existing industry projects from intermediaries are compared along the market engineering framework.

Keywords: Energy and Mobility Services, Market Engineering, Smart Grid

1. Introduction

New proposals for energy market designs on both national [4] and EU level [12] call for a better integration of the increasing share of RES as well as opening the market to more actors in order to utilize their flexibilities. In particular, distribution system operators (DSOs) and aggregators could leverage flexibility from consumers to further generate revenue from new business models. Moreover, flexibility products and services as well as other measures

Email addresses: dauer@fzi.de (David Dauer),

frederik.scheidt@student.kit.edu (Frederik vom Scheidt), weinhardt@kit.edu
(Christof Weinhardt)

beneficial to the grid and security of supply are necessary. In the following, this work gives a structured overview and analysis of current research approaches and real-world industry projects in Germany regarding smarter distribution grids along the elements of the market engineering framework. Moreover, all components of the market engineering framework are analyzed and illustrated by examples.

2. Related Work

The market engineering framework [44] serves as a basis for the development of a layout for markets in distribution grids. Along the elements in the framework, this work will analyze current developments in research, politics and industry related to the design of future local markets. In the framework, every market is surrounded by an economic and legal environment. The good traded between parties in a market is called transaction object. According to the market engineering framework, the market structure itself consists of the microstructure, the IT-infrastructure and the business structure. The microstructure defines the market mechanism, i.e., pricing and allocation rules. All facilities required in order for markets to function on a technical level form the IT-infrastructure. The business structure encompasses the business and pricing model as well as possible trading fees in auctions [45, 5]. Perceiving new companies in the energy market as single markets themselves allows for analysis of new business models in the context of the market engineering framework. Finally, the market outcome (or performance) constitutes the result of a market by which different markets can be compared.

3. Smart Distribution Grids: A Market Engineering Overview

This section elaborates on current research agendas by reviewing publications and projects for (local) markets in smart grids along the elements of the market engineering framework. In the following, this work broadens the focus from the perspective of the market engineer to additionally incorporate the role of market intermediaries, or aggregators, which can also take the role of a market engineer, whose market environment depicts a one-sided market, sometimes with a fixed price strategy. In addition, engineering a business structure and designing appropriate transaction objects remains an important task.

3.1. Economic and Legal Environment

Both on European Union (EU) as well as on national level, efforts towards achieving ambitious energy targets, such as the EU 2030 targets [12] or the exit from nuclear power generation [3], are driving changes to the current legal and economic environment which governs energy markets. Recently, the EU started working on proposals for a new energy market design, which envisions a market design that should allow innovative companies to provide for the energy needs of consumers by using new technologies, products and services [12]. Opening the market to more actors, therefore allowing access to flexible demand and new energy service providers, e.g. aggregators, remains a priority. In late 2015, German policy established measures that target the development of an advanced electricity market – the *electricity market 2.0* [4]. The electricity market 2.0 draft tackles issues concerning the improvement of market mechanisms, fostering the market participants' flexibility, as well as the integration into the EU's internal energy market (IEM).

3.2. Market Outcome

Markets are designed to achieve a desired outcome, i.e., an allocation and pricing result [44]. Concerning the design of markets for distribution grids, market efficiency is crucial in order to ensure a continuous balance of supply and demand. Considering system stability, incentives of agents should be aligned with security of supply in mind to prevent market failure. The following suggestions for outcome objectives of secondary nature represent promising goals towards the success of local markets in smart grids. (i) Consumer privacy must be protected in light of the large amount of high-resolution data collected by smart meters. (ii) In order to integrate customers into such markets, intermediaries such as aggregators are required. These in turn will only operate given viable business models. Thus, a market outcome should also consider revenue streams not only for the market engineer but also for its participants. Focusing on aggregators, the main market outcome is to allocate and in turn provide balancing power to ensure grid stability by efficiently controlling small power plants or to manage a pool of consumer batteries efficiently.

3.3. Agent Behavior

Agent behavior results from the transaction object and market structure. Therefore, it is not the goal of the market engineer to influence this behaviour directly, but instead analyze and anticipate behavior and characteristics of agents [44, 45]. In context of the smart grid, agents are expected to offer their flexibility to a market or market intermediary [1]. Flexibility corresponds to deferring or reducing loads over time [43] and increasing production, for different types such as storable, shiftable, curtailable, base load and self-generation [21, 36]. In addition, other approaches to stimulate agent behavior might include: (i) Gamification, i.e., using game design elements such as rankings in non-game contexts [9] to support the consumers' value creation [25]. (ii) Hidden markets [40] can influence and mediate user behavior with the graphical user interface of a market. (iii) Following the sharing economy [2, 19], peer-to-peer (P2P) platforms present an opportunity to communicate and share different transactions objects with close neighbors or friends. When looking at real-world examples of intermediaries, for example the strategy of employing hidden markets can be observed. Most of the time, it is reasonable not to inform customers about details behind the intermediaries' business models. Existing companies putting this approach into practice are for example Next Kraftwerke, Caterva, LichtBlick and Beegy.

3.4. Market Structure

Focusing on distribution grids, strengthening the role of DSOs in markets and enabling the participation of flexible users and intermediaries, i.e., businesses that facilitate the participation of flexible users on (new) markets, represent the main challenges [3]. New transaction objects and market microstructures are emerging, while IT infrastructure considerations on privacy and security need to be addressed.

Microstructure. The market microstructure describes the mechanism under which resources are allocated and priced. It consists of a market's trading rules and systems, considers structural characteristics of markets and the form in which information is exchanged, i.e., the bidding language [44]. Different decentralized mechanisms which aim at reducing peak loads [37], using balancing markets [23], and incentivizing agents to reveal true preferences [30] have been proposed. When applying the microstructure element of the framework to intermediaries, the market mechanism corresponds to the general terms and conditions of the respective intermediary. They basically define the rules of the trade, such as the delivery of the product and the payment period. The customers do not submit bids to an auction but rather inquire (customized) offers. As can be seen in table A.1, some companies offer customized products and services with individual pricing, while others have a general fixed price product portfolio.

IT Infrastructure. IT infrastructure is deemed a fundamental and critical component in the smart grid as it is responsible for ensuring a reliable system operation. Firewalls and encryption mechanisms must ensure reliable system operation [33]. Authentication solutions [32, 28], extensions of current architectures [35] as well as complete system architectures [33] have been proposed. Moreover, smart meter data must be protected [15] and consumer anonymity must be ensured [10, 31, 27]. Standards can facilitate the information flow in a heterogeneous landscape of devices in the smart grid [17, 16]. Moreover, interfaces to the market are required to allow and encourage agent participation [40, 41]. For existing intermediaries/virtual power plants (VPPs) for example, the communication with the distributed power plants plays a crucial role and happens via DSL connection or mobile (GSM) communication. Besides, the communication between intermediary and customer often is done completely through web portals and mobile applications. The individual characteristics of each of the surveyed companies are summarized in table A.1 below.

Business Structure. Business structure concerns the charges for accessing the market, as well as fees for using the communication means and for executing orders [44]. Important revenue streams of current energy markets like the European Energy Exchange include fees for connectivity and trading.¹ By means of aggregators, or VPPs, consumption and production capacities could be pooled and sold accordingly [24, 18, 22]. Use cases include wind [34] or electric vehicle (EV) pooling [7, 26, 11]. Moreover, tariff and coordination models are explored [8, 29]. Current startups such as Next Kraftwerke aggregate several types of plants. From a market perspective their revenue stream

¹https://www.eex.com/blob/65974/e8b0e854878e50ae201afd097495c704/ membership-options-technical-access-data.pdf

through one time sales of hardware for connection to the pool corresponds to initial connectivity fees. The second major revenue stream, keeping a share of the revenues from flexibility marketing, corresponds to costs for trading.

Transaction Object. The good traded between parties in a market is called transaction object. In general, this can be a product or a service [6]. Early research suggests to differentiate products, i.e., tariffs, along temporal and spacial components [39]. Similarly, concepts for quality of service (QoS) level indicators for new tariffs [20] and electric mobility [14] are suggested. While electricity will remain a homogeneous good regarding its technical properties (voltage and frequency), a product differentiation along non-functional quality attributes of electricity services presents an emerging approach. In particular, temporal and curtailment flexibility as well as reliability requirements constitute promising characteristics to further raise efficiency not only on the local, but also on the global electricity market level [38, 42, 13]. Existing intermediaries in smart grids offer various types of transaction objects, like hardware products for the connection and integration into the swarm, intelligent management software and a wide range of different services.

Summary. As shown before, initial solutions from the industry exist already today. The findings are summarized in table A.1, structured according to the market engineering framework.

4. Conclusion and Outlook

This work highlights that local markets in distribution grids are a promising way to cope with the challenges posed by the transformation of the energy sector. Therefore, a survey of current research is conducted and subsequently structured according to the market engineering framework. By defining intermediaries in distribution grids as one-sided markets on their own, they can be included in the analysis.

Future research opportunities regarding market engineering in smart distribution grids include the application of the structured market engineering process [44], which allows achieving specific market design goals in a systematic and structured way. Besides, it would be valuable that the research approaches mentioned above are elaborated, refined and adjusted to a rapidly changing economic and political environment.

References

- Mohammed H. Albadi and Ehab F. El-Saadany. "A summary of demand response in electricity markets." In: *Electric Power Systems Research* 78.11 (2008), pp. 1989–1996. ISSN: 0378-7796. DOI: 10.1016/j. epsr.2008.04.002.
- Russell Belk. "Why Not Share Rather Than Own?" In: The ANNALS of the American Academy of Political and Social Science 611.1 (2007), pp. 126–140. ISSN: 0002-7162, 1552-3349. DOI: 10.1177/0002716206298483.
- [3] Bundesministerium für Wirtschaft und Energie (BMWi). Ein Strommarkt für die Energiewende. Ergebnispapier des Bundesministeriums für Wirtschaft und Energie (Weißbuch). Tech. rep. Bundesministerium für Wirtschaft und Energie (BMWi), 2015. (Visited on 10/23/2015).
- [4] Bundesministerium für Wirtschaft und Energie (BMWi). Informationen zum Energiekabinett am 4. November 2015. 2015. URL: http: //www.bmwi.de/BMWi/Redaktion/PDF/F/fact-sheet-zumenergiekabinett,property=pdf,bereich=bmwi2012,sprache=de, rwb=true.pdf.
- [5] Matthias Burghardt and Christof Weinhardt. "Nonlinear pricing of emarket transaction services." In: International Journal of Electronic Business (IJEB) 6.1 (2008).
- [6] Scott H Clearwater. Market-based control: A paradigm for distributed resource allocation. World Scientific, 1996.
- [7] D. Dallinger, D. Krampe, and M. Wietschel. "Vehicle-to-grid regulation reserves based on a dynamic simulation of mobility behavior." In: *IEEE Transactions on Smart Grid* 2 (2 2011), pp. 302–313. DOI: 10.1109/ TSG.2011.2131692.
- [8] David Dauer, Sebastian Gottwalt, Willi Schweinfort, and Gerhard Walker.
 "Lademanagement für Elektrofahrzeuge am Beispiel der Netzampel."
 In: VDE-Kongress 2014 Smart Cities. VDE-Kongress 2014 Smart Cities – Intelligente Lösungen für das Leben in der Zukunft. 2014.
- Sebastian Deterding, Dan Dixon, Rilla Khaled, and Lennart Nacke.
 "From Game Design Elements to Gamefulness: Defining "Gamification"." In: Proceedings of the 15th International Academic MindTrek Conference: Envisioning Future Media Environments. MindTrek '11. New York, NY, USA: ACM, 2011, pp. 9–15. ISBN: 978-1-4503-0816-8. DOI: 10.1145/2181037.2181040.

- [10] Costas Efthymiou and Georgios Kalogridis. "Smart Grid Privacy via Anonymization of Smart Metering Data." In: 2010 First IEEE International Conference on Smart Grid Communications (SmartGridComm).
 2010 First IEEE International Conference on Smart Grid Communications (SmartGridComm). 2010, pp. 238–243. DOI: 10.1109/SMARTGRID.
 2010.5622050.
- [11] Axel Ensslen, Philipp Ringler, Patrick Jochem, Dogan Keles, and Wolf Fichtner. "About business model specifications of a smart charging manager to integrate electric vehicles into the German electricity market." In: 14th IAEE European Conference. Rome, 2014.
- [12] European Commission. Communication from the Commission to the European Parliament, the Council, the European Economic and Social Committee and the Committee of the Regions - Launching the public consultation process on a new energy market design. COM(2015) 340 final. 2015. URL: http://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/ TXT/?uri=CELEX:52015DC0340 (visited on 11/09/2015).
- [13] Christoph M. Flath. "Evaluating Time-of-Use Design Options." In: ECIS 2014 Proceedings. 2014.
- [14] Christoph M. Flath, Florian Salah, Alexander Schuller, and Christian Will. "Innovative Energy Product Differentiation in Smart Grids." In: ETG-Fachtagung - Von Smart Grids zu Smart Markets 2015. 2015.
- [15] Sanjay Goel and Yuan Hong. "Security Challenges in Smart Grid Implementation." In: *Smart Grid Security*. SpringerBriefs in Cybersecurity. Springer London, 2015, pp. 1–39. ISBN: 978-1-4471-6662-7 978-1-4471-6663-4.
- [16] Vehbi Cagri Gungor, Dilan Sahin, Taskin Kocak, Salih Ergut, Concettina Buccella, Carlo Cecati, and Gerhard P. Hancke. "A Survey on Smart Grid Potential Applications and Communication Requirements." In: *IEEE Transactions on Industrial Informatics* 9.1 (2013), pp. 28–42. ISSN: 1551-3203. DOI: 10.1109/TII.2012.2218253.
- [17] Vehbi Cagri Gungor, Dilan Sahin, Taskin Kocak, Salih Ergut, Concettina Buccella, Carlo Cecati, and Gerhard P. Hancke. "Smart Grid Technologies: Communication Technologies and Standards." In: *IEEE Transactions on Industrial Informatics* 7.4 (2011), pp. 529–539. ISSN: 1551-3203. DOI: 10.1109/TII.2011.2166794.
- M. Hashmi, S. Hänninen, and K. Mäki. "Survey of Smart Grid Concepts, Architectures, and Technological Demonstrations Worldwide." In: (2011). DOI: 10.1109/ISGT-LA.2011.6083192.

- [19] Florian Hawlitschek, Timm Teubner, and Henner Gimpel. "Understanding the Sharing Economy. Drivers and Impediments for Participation in Peer-to-Peer Rental." In: Proceedings of the Forty-Ninth Annual Hawaii International Conference on System Sciences (HICSS). 2016.
- [20] Marian Hayn, Valentin Bertsch, and Wolf Fichtner. "A concept for service level indicators in residential electricity tariffs with variable capacity prices." In: Proceedings of the First Karlsruhe Service Summit Research Workshop - Advances in Service Research (2015).
- [21] Xian He, Nico Keyaerts, Isabel Azevedo, Leonardo Meeus, Leigh Hancher, and Jean-Michel Glachant. "How to engage consumers in demand response: A contract perspective." In: *Utilities Policy* 27 (2013), pp. 108–122. ISSN: 0957-1787. DOI: 10.1016/j.jup.2013.10.001.
- [22] Lutz Hillemacher, Kai Hufendiek, Valentin Bertsch, Holger Wiechmann, Jan Gratenau, Patrick Jochem, and Wolf Fichtner. "Ein Rollenmodell zur Einbindung der Endkunden in eine smarte Energiewelt." In: Zeitschrift für Energiewirtschaft 37 (3 2013), pp. 195–210.
- [23] Nicolas Höning and Han La Poutré. "An electricity market with fast bidding, planning and balancing in smart grids." In: *Multiagent and Grid Systems* 10.3 (2014), pp. 137–163. DOI: 10.3233/MGS-140220.
- [24] Michiel Houwing. "Smart heat and power. Utilizing the flexibility of micro cogeneration." Doctoral dissertation. Delft: Next Generation Infrastructures Foundation, 2010.
- [25] Kai Huotari and Juho Hamari. "Defining Gamification: A Service Marketing Perspective." In: Proceeding of the 16th International Academic MindTrek Conference. Envision Future Media Environments. Ed. by Artur Lugmayr, Heljä Franssila, Janne Paavilainen, and Hannu Kärkkäinen. Tampere, Finland, 2012, pp. 17–22. ISBN: 978-1-4503-1637-8. DOI: 10. 1145/2393132.2393137.
- [26] Johannes Jargstorf and Manuel Wickert. "Offer of secondary reserve with a pool of electric vehicles on the German market." In: *Energy policy* (2013), pp. 185–195. ISSN: 0301-4215. DOI: doi:10.1016/j. enpol.2013.06.088.
- [27] Stephan Kessler, Christoph M. Flath, and Klemens Böhm. "Allocative and strategic effects of privacy enhancement in smart grids." In: *Information Systems* 53 (2015), pp. 170–181. ISSN: 0306-4379. DOI: 10.1016/j.is.2014.09.007.

- Himanshu Khurana, Mark Hadley, Ning Lu, and Deborah A. Frincke.
 "Smart-Grid Security Issues." In: *IEEE Security & Privacy* 8.1 (2010), pp. 81–85. ISSN: 1540–7993. DOI: 10.1109/MSP.2010.49.
- [29] Andreas Kießling, David Dauer, Sebastian Gottwalt, Christian Schäfer, and Christof Weinhardt. "Flexibility Procurement for EV Charging Coordination." In: ETG Congress 2015 - Die Energiewende. ETG Congress 2015 - Die Energiewende - The Blueprint for Change. 2015.
- [30] Steffen Lamparter, Silvio Becher, and Jan-Gregor Fischer. "An Agentbased Market Platform for Smart Grids." In: Proceedings of the 9th International Conference on Autonomous Agents and Multiagent Systems. International Foundation for Autonomous Agents and Multiagent Systems. 2010, pp. 1689–1696.
- [31] Félix Gómez Mármol, Christoph Sorge, Osman Ugus, and Gregorio Martinéz Pérez. "Do not snoop my habits: preserving privacy in the smart grid." In: *IEEE Communications Magazine* 50.5 (2012), pp. 166– 172. ISSN: 0163-6804. DOI: 10.1109/MCOM.2012.6194398.
- [32] Anthony R. Metke and Randy L. Ekl. "Security Technology for Smart Grid Networks." In: *IEEE Transactions on Smart Grid* 1.1 (2010), pp. 99–107. ISSN: 1949-3053. DOI: 10.1109/TSG.2010.2046347.
- [33] Khrosrow Moslehi and Ranjit Kumar. "A Reliability Perspective of the Smart Grid." In: *IEEE Transactions on Smart Grid* 1.1 (2010), pp. 57– 64. ISSN: 1949-3053. DOI: 10.1109/TSG.2010.2046346.
- [34] Hrvoje Pandžić, Juan M. Morales, Antonio J. Conejo, and Igor Kuzle.
 "Offering model for a virtual power plant based on stochastic programming." In: *Applied Energy* 105 (2013), pp. 282–292. DOI: 10.1016/j.apenergy.2012.12.077.
- [35] Andrew Paverd, Andrew Martin, and Ian Brown. "Security and Privacy in Smart Grid Demand Response Systems." In: Smart Grid Security. Ed. by Jorge Cuellar. Lecture Notes in Computer Science 8448. Springer International Publishing, 2014, pp. 1–15. ISBN: 978-3-319-10328-0 978-3-319-10329-7.
- [36] Mette Højgaard Petersen, Kristian Edlund, Lars Henrik Hansen, Jan Dimon Bendtsen, and Jakob Stoustrup. "A Taxonomy for Modeling Flexibility and a Computationally Efficient Algorithm for Dispatch in Smart Grids." In: American Control Conference (ACC), 2013. Ed. by Lucy Pao and Daniel Abramovitch. American Automatic Control Council, 2013, pp. 1150–1156. ISBN: 978-1-4799-0178-4. DOI: 10.1109/ ACC.2013.6579991.

- [37] Sarvapali D Ramchurn, Perukrishnen Vytelingum, Alex Rogers, and Nicholas R Jennings. "Agent-Based Control for Decentralised Demand Side Management in the Smart Grid." In: *The 10th International Conference on Autonomous Agents and Multiagent Systems*. Vol. 1. International Foundation for Autonomous Agents and Multiagent Systems. 2011, pp. 5–12.
- [38] Alexander Schuller, Florian Salah, Christian Will, and Christof M. Flath. "Quality of Service Product Differentiation in Smart Grids." In: Proceedings of the First Karlsruhe Service Summit Research Workshop - Advances in Service Research (2015).
- [39] Fred C. Schweppe, Michael C. Caramanis, Richard D Tabors, and Roger E. Bohn. Spot Pricing of Electricity. Ed. by Thomas A. Lipo. Boston/Dordrecht/London: Kluwer Academics Publishers, 1988, p. 355.
- [40] Sven Seuken, Kamal Jain, and David Christopher Parkes. "Hidden Market Design." In: Proceedings of the Twenty-Fouth AAAI Conference on Artificial Intelligence (AAAI-10). Ed. by Maria Fox and David Poole. Atlanta, Georgia: The AAAI Press, 2010, pp. 1498–1503. ISBN: 978-1-57735-463-5.
- [41] Sven Seuken, David C. Parkes, Eric Horvitz, Kamal Jain, Mary Czerwinski, and Desney Tan. "Market User Interface Design." In: *Proceedings of the 13th ACM Conference on Electronic Commerce*. Ed. by Boi Faltings, Kevin Leyton-Brown, and Panos Ipeirotis. ACM. 2012, pp. 898–915. ISBN: 978-1-4503-1415-2. DOI: 10.1145/2229012.2229080.
- [42] Ramteen Sioshansi. "OR Forum Modeling the Impacts of Electricity Tariffs on Plug-In Hybrid Electric Vehicle Charging, Costs, and Emissions." In: Operations Research 60.3 (2012), pp. 506–516.
- [43] Goran Strbac. "Demand side management: Benefits and challenges." In: *Energy Policy*. Foresight Sustainable Energy Management and the Built Environment Project 36.12 (2008), pp. 4419–4426. ISSN: 0301-4215. DOI: 10.1016/j.enpol.2008.09.030.
- [44] C. Weinhardt, C. Holtmann, and D. Neumann. "Market-Engineering." In: Wirtschaftsinformatik 45.6 (2003), pp. 635–640.
- [45] Christof Weinhardt and Henner Gimpel. "Market Engineering: An Interdisciplinary Research Challenge." In: Negotiation and Market Engineering. Ed. by Nick Jennings, Gregory Kersten, Axel Ockenfels, and Christof Weinhardt. Dagstuhl Seminar Proceedings 06461. Internationales Begegnungs- und Forschungszentrum für Informatik (IBFI), Schloss Dagstuhl, Germany, 2007.

Appendix A. Market Engineering Overview Table

Table A.1: Overview of prominent products and services from industry ($\bullet =$ Fulfilled, $\bigcirc =$ Not fulfilled or unknown)

	Next Kraftwerke	Beegy	LichtBlick SchwarmEnergie	Sonnenbatterie	Tesla	Caterva
Market outcome						
efficient allocation			•			\bullet
Generate revenues through				Φ	Φ	
flexibility marketing			•	0	0	
Agent behavior						
Private households			•			\bullet
Industry consumers			•	\bigcirc		\bigcirc
Solar generation installed			٠	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	
Wind generation installed	•	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Ο	0
Microstructure						
Custom prices			٠	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
(IT) infrastructure						
Internet access required			•	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bullet
Mobile (GSM) access available		\bigcirc	\bigcirc		\bigcirc	
Provides mobile application			\bigcirc		\bigcirc	
Business structure						
One-time sale			•			
Subscription	\bigcirc			\bigcirc	\bigcirc	
Brokerage fee/ Shared revenue			\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	
Transaction object						
Physical product			•			
Service			•	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	

Own data from 2015/11.

Willingness to Pay for E-Mobility Services: A Case Study from Germany

Axel Ensslen^{1*}, Till Gnann², Joachim Globisch², Patrick Plötz², Patrick Jochem¹, Wolf Fichtner¹

¹Energy Economics Group at Karlsruhe Service Research Institute (KSRI) at KIT, Kaiserstr. 12, 76131 Karlsruhe, Germany and ²Fraunhofer Institute for Systems and Innovation Research (ISI), Breslauer Strasse 48, 76139 Karlsruhe, Germany *Corresponding author

Abstract

We analyse the relevance of and willingness to pay for services connected to operation and charging of electric vehicles. Our survey data comprises fleet manager answers from 109 German organizations, mainly small and medium-sized enterprises. The results indicate that semi-public charging infrastructure at the organizations connected to services enabling the operation of an interorganizational charging network are relevant to most of the fleet managers. In most of the organizations willingness to pay for connected charging services is available, but only sporadic usage of inter-organizational charging activities could be observed.

1 Introduction and literature review

Electric vehicles (EV) are an important technology to reduce greenhouse gas and local air emissions as well as the dependency on fossil fuels. Yet, their market diffusion is still at low levels (IAE 2015) due to several barriers linked with this new technology (Steinhilber et al. 2013), such as a limited mobility radius or a higher recharging necessity resulting in a so-called range anxiety (Tate et al. 2008). New business models or services could diminish these concerns by proposing alternative procedures, such as mobility guarantees in case of trips that are not performable with an EV or the provision of a larger charging network (Kley et al. 2011). While business models or services¹ in the automotive industry are the subject of many papers (see e.g. Tongus and Engvall (2014) for an evaluation of business models and technology development) only some works focus on business models for EV (see Wells (2013) for a review). There are qualitative studies on business models for EV available (e.g. Bohnsack et al. (2012), Piao et al. (2014), Cherubini et al. (2015)). Furthermore, frameworks for EV business models exist (Kley et al. (2011), Stryja et al. (2015), San Roman et al. (2012)). Beyond that specific case studies are evaluated as well (Christensen et al. (2012), Illing et al. (2014), Kosub (2010)). By contrast, this paper determines the current relevance and willingness to pay (WTP) for services provided to commercial EV users. A survey targeting this issue with 109 company car pool managers, who actually procured EV within the project Get eReady, which was scientifically accompanied and partly carried out by the authors of this paper between 2013 and 2015, was performed. Findings of this case study are described in the next section before a conclusion, limitations and a brief outlook are provided.

2 Case study: Project Get eReady

2.1 Sample description and background information

The data used in this study was gathered in an online survey during the e-mobility project Get eReady. The objective of the project was to determine critical success factors for EV in organizations. Therefore, a large-scale fleet trial including 109 organizations and 327 EV was set up in order to prove whether appropriate sales activities for product service systems consisting of EV, connected charging services, charging infrastructure (EVSE²), consulting activities and an adequate compensation of expenses lead to an accelerated market diffusion of EV. The industry partners within the project, i. e. Bosch Software Innovations GmbH responsible for software solutions concerning connected charging services tested

¹ According to Osterwalder & Pigneur (2010), Chesbrough & Rosenbloom (2002) as well as Stryja et al. (2015) the value proposition represented by the utility that a provider offers to its customers with products and services is in the center of a business model. In this paper, we focus on services that could offer a business model. In literature, these terms are often used equivalently.

² Electric Vehicle Supply Equipment, i.e. charging stations

in the project, Heldele GmbH responsible for EVSE and Athlon GmbH associated to the project for EV leasing purposes, pushed the sales activities for the product service systems offered. The scientific partners, i. e. Fraunhofer ISI and KIT, supported the sales activities by fleet consulting activities as well as the contractual project integration of the participating organizations (associated with a compensation of expenses granted and the commitment to acquire the number of EV contractually specified, to install and use project specific EVSE and the project specific connected charging services). Most of the EV were registered after their contractual integration (75%). Due to long delivery periods, the time lag between these two events was three months on average. Almost all organizations installed the project specific EVSE after becoming part of the project (about 97 %). Preconditions for project participation were, that the organizations intended to participate at least with one EV, that the organizations were allocated in Baden-Württemberg and that they still applied for the program after intensive sales conversations leading to individual recommendations concerning individual constructual, security and telecommunication requirements. The organizations participated in the project between 7 and 27 months, 16 months on average. They received a monthly compensation of expenses for participating of up to 500 Euros net per full electric vehicle (BEV) or range extended electric vehicle (REEV) and 350 Euros net per plug-in hybrid electric vehicle (PHEV) for additional costs of project specific EVSE and for the still existent economic disadvantages of EV. Overall, the resulting compensation per EV ranged between 1,200 Euros and 13,200 Euros including 19 % VAT, 8,100 Euros on average. Fleet managers³ of all 109 participating organizations were asked to fill out two surveys with a response rate of 100 % each, i.e. all organizations participating in the project answered both questionnaires.

According to the survey results, 75 % of the participating organizations were small and medium-sized companies with up to 250 employees. The allocation of EV within the Get eReady project represents the sectors of the participating

³ In the project Get eReady fleet managers, i. e. persons responsible for the organizations' car pools mostly involved in purchase decisions for the EV, as well as fleet EV users not involved in the EV purchase decisions, participated in the surveys. However, this article only focuses on the answers of the fleet managers.

organizations reasonably well, e. g. 36 % of the participating organizations and 35 % of the EV are allocated in the manufacturing sector $(C)^4$. Comparing the EV of the Get eReady project with new commercial EV registrations in Germany shows that the manufacturing sector (C) is overrepresented by 15 percentage points (pp), information and communication (J) is overrepresented by about 11 pp and public administration (O) is overrepresented by about 9 pp. On the other hand, wholesale and trade (G) is underrepresented by 20 pp. The sector of other service activities (S) is underrepresented by about 13 pp. Despite these discrepancies, results can be considered to be representative for the current commercial EV users in Germany.

The fleet managers and decision makers in the participating organizations are on average 45 years old (SD=12), are predominantly male (about 85 %) and are well educated. About half of them have completed academic studies and about 30 % have a degree at university entrance level or a master craftsman diploma. 50 % have a technical, about 40 % a commercial background. On average, the respondents have been employed for 16 years in their organizations (SD=12) and have an experience level with fleet management activities of 10 years on average (SD=10). Half of them dedicate more than 10 hours per month to fleet management activities, 25 % four hours or less and 25 % more than 20 hours.

2.2 Relevance of different services

In a workshop with the Get eReady partners in the year 2013, a set of different services potentially relevant for EV were identified in order to ask the fleet managers and decision makers of the participating organizations about the attractive-ness and relevance of these services. Based on the fleet managers' answers, the project partners agreed to consider only the relevant services in the second survey with a focus on the WTP for these services (Table 1 in the appendix). This set of services was completed by three additional services not in focus so far, but according to the authors of this study potentially relevant. These are on the one hand two alternatives of a smart charging energy service that could potentially be pro-

⁴ Sectors distinguished according to NACE, Rev. 2.

vided by a Smart Charging Service Provider (SCSP) (Ensslen et al., 2014)⁵ and on the other hand, the relevance and WTP of inductive EV charging as a service, which is potentially increasing the comfort level of EV charging.





Figure 1 shows the results concerning stated relevance for the services considered in the survey. The most important services are: (1) the possibility to provide the own EVSE to other organizations, (2) the basic connected charging services including a web-based map displaying charging points including information about their current availability and a reservation function as well as (3) a smart charging tariff provided by a SCSP incentivizing EV users to hand over control of the charging processes to the SCSP scheduling the charging events in a costminimizing manner in order to co-create value. These are also considered as comparably most relevant by the Get eReady fleet managers according to paired ttests (cf. Table 2 in the appendix). (4) A smart charging tariff incentivizing EV users to hand over control for EV charging to a SCSP scheduling the charging

⁵ This option of a new type of operator, the so-called SCSP, is contracting households and organizations and manages the charging of their EV. This operator considers the EV load shifting potentials and current price signals from electricity markets. Details about the value proposition of the SCSP are available in Ensslen et al. (2014).

⁶ Scale: 1 Not relevant; 2 Predominantly not relevant; 3 Rather not relevant; 4 Rather relevant; 5 Predominantly relevant; 6 Relevant

events in a CO₂ minimizing manner and (5) the possibility to use EVSE of other organizations are somewhat less important, i.e. less important than (1). According to the respondents, (6) inductive charging, (7) mobility guarantees as well as (8) consulting activities for EV, infrastructure and car pools are least important amongst the services considered. Although some statistically significant differences between the services considered could be observed, most of them are on average considered to be rather relevant. In order to verify whether the differences observed in individuals' evaluations in the paired t-tests would also be valid if the samples were considered to be independent, additional pairwise comparisons with a one way analysis of variance were conducted (F(7,815) = 4.763, p<.001). Results of multiple comparison t-tests according to Bonferroni (cf. Table 2 in the appendix) show significant differences between services 1 and 2 and services 7 and 8 as well as between services 1 and 6. It should be remarked, that services 1 and 2 were actively tested within the project, services 6 and 7 were not. This could indicate that actually experiencing a service might contribute to an increased acceptance of a service.

2.3 WTP for different services

Two different types of services can be distinguished: E-mobility services actively tested during the Get eReady field trial (services 1, 2, 5, 8) and other e-mobility services not actively tested in the field trial (services 3, 4, 6, 7). Table 3 in the appendix contains results for usage frequencies of the connected charging services tested within the project and Table 4 for WTP and corresponding cost assumptions. According to the results, the WTP per month and vehicle to get access to the Get eReady charging network (service fee) is higher for most of the participating organizations than the monthly costs. According to the results the participants charge the EV only scarcly at EVSE of other organizations. However, they frequently charge their EV at their own connected EVSE. The WTP for charging at own EVSE of most organizations seems as high as the current costs. Cost assumptions for all other connected charging services presented in Table 4 are higher than the WTP of most organizations.
As EV are frequently parked at the workplace for longer time periods, the control for charging EV incentivized by smart charging tariffs discussed in this study is handed over to the SCSP who is scheduling the charging events in a cost or CO_2 minimizing manner in order to co-create value.

WTP was measured with the Van Westendorp method (Reinecke et al. 2009) and is presented in Table 5 in the appendix. Using the Van Westendorp method is appropriate as this method supports to determine WTP for innovative services with unknown price conceptions as well as a so far missing competitive environment (Reinecke et al. 2009). All of these three criteria apply to the SCSP's value proposition. Furthermore, the Van Westendorp method is considered as a very efficient alternative to determine prices, that has been frequently disregarded (Reinecke et al. 2009). The method permits to determine the lower bound and the uppter bound of an acceptable price range. Furthermore, an optimal price point, which is maximizing the turnover, can be determined. Comparing the difference between the indifference price point and the optimal price point permits to derive estimates about the price sensitivities of the potential customers. Lower differences between the two price points implicate higher price sensitivities of the potential customers (Reinecke et al. 2009).

The SCSP's tariff consists of two price levels: (a) The price level for charging the EV as quickly as possible to guarantee a minimum amount of range, so that the EV could be used e.g. in cases of emergencies. (b) The price level for controlled EV charging of a SCSP who is scheduling the charging events in a cost or CO_2 minimizing manner.

The results concerning WTP for the two smart charging tariffs provided in Table 5 include complete and consistent answers from 57 fleet managers. The results indicate that the organizations' fleet managers are willing to pay somewhat less for the energy charged during the time they are handing over control of the charging process to the SCSP, if the SCSP minimizes costs (b_1), compared to a single price level state of the art reference tariff without controlled EV charging. However, the price levels for the two tariffs do not differ significantly (Table 6 in the appendix). On the other hand, they are willing to pay more compared to the reference tariff, if the charging events are scheduled by the SCSP in an environmental-

65

ly friendly, i.e. in a CO₂ minimizing manner (b_2). Paired t-tests show that two of the four price curves measured differ significantly (Table 6). Furthermore, respondents are also willing to pay a premium so their EV is directly charged up to an individual minimum range threshold after it was plugged in. Paired t-tests show that significant differences could be observed in three of the four price curves measured (Table 6).

3 Conclusion, limitations and outlook

We showed that the connected charging services offered and tested within the Get eReady project are relevant to fleet managers in most of the participating organizations. However, our results seem ambiguous here: On the one hand, fleet managers state that connected charging services are relevant to them, particularly the possibility to provide their own EVSE to other organizations. On the other hand, we observe only sporadic usage of inter-organizational charging activities. Hence, the connected charging services tested within this case study may be interpreted as an "insurance" for the EV users. Furthermore, not only the e-mobility services tested within Get eReady are relevant to fleet managers, but also smart energy services, i. e. controlled EV charging by a SCSP. For this reason, we recommend to expand the existing Get eReady product service system offering by smart energy services. This would strengthen the arguments for connected charging infrastructure solutions as these form the basis for additional smart charging activities. However, the results concerning WTP for smart charging tariffs provided by a SCSP can be scrutinized as fleet managers come from organizations varying in size and internationalization. Electricity costs per kWh might vary largely between the organizations.

Future work could focus on analyzing costs and benefits of service systems consisting of EV, EVSE and corresponding services in order to provide an answer to the question whether offering suitable service systems can be supportive to EV adoption. Furthermore, acceptance in organizations for controlled EV charging in fleets should be studied more profoundly.

66

Acknowledgements

The research was made possible as part of the project Get eReady funded by the German Federal Ministry for Economic Affairs and Energy (FKZ 16SBW020D).

Appendix

Table 1: Services considered within the Get eReady project

Services considered	Average scores for services considered in the first survey for fleet manag- ers (n ~ 40)	Services considered in the second survey for fl managers	n leet
Fleet consulting – Item: "Trips which are outside the range of EV can be distributed amongst conventional vehicles"	5.3	х	
Sharing of own organizations' EVSE over platform – Item: "My organization would offer EV charging possibilities on the premises to other organizations against payment."	4.6	x	
Usage of other organizations' EVSE over platform – Item: "For my organization it would be attractive to have the possibility to use EV charging possibilities of other organizations against payment."	4.3	x	
Display of current EVSE availability – Item: "Frequently access to publicly accessible charging points is not possible because these are occupied by (conventional) vehicles."	3.9	х	re 1
Web-based map displaying charging points – Item: "It is difficult to find out where publicly accessible charging points are allocated."	3.7	х	: Figu
A EVSE reservation function – Item: "Frequently publicly accessible charging points are occupied by other EV."	3.5	х	ults cf
Mobility guarantees (rental car option) – Item: "Trips that cannot by made with EV due to their range limitations could be substituted by free of charge rental cars."	3.3	х	Resi
Using advertisement space on the EVSE for own advertisements – Item: "For our organization it would be attractive to place advertisements on our charging station."	3.1	e ther	
Mobility guarantee (train travel option) – Item: "Trips that cannot by made with EV due to their range limitations could be substituted by free of charge train trips."	2.5	eRead these or fur	
Leasing of adverticement space on the own EVSE to other organizations – Item: "For our organization it would be interesting from a financial point of view to rent adver- tisement space on the charging point out."	2.3	the Get nsidered elevant f	4.
Sharing of the own organizations' EV over a platform – Item: "For my organization it would be attractive to rent fleet vehicles of our organization to other organizations."	2.0	/es of ers co o be i ng a v	ar 20]
Usage of EV from other organizations over a platform – Item: "For my organization it would be attractive to use fleet vehicles of other organizations against payment."	2.0	entativ partne s not t s duri	the ye
Separate registration and billing of private and business trips – Item: "For us it is a problem that business and private trips can not be registered in a way that separate billing is possible."	1.6	Represe project service analyse	end of 1
Billing of charging events	Representatives of	of the Get	
Roaming	eReady project pa	rtners conside	ered
Authorized repair shops	these services not	to be relevant	for
Breakdown- and maintenance service	further analyses du	uring a worksl	hop
EV specific add-on for fleet management systems	in the end of the y	ear 2013.	

Annotation concerning the measurement scale for the items on the services considered:

1 Not applicable at all; 2 Predominantly not applicable; 3 Rather not applicable; 4 Rather applicable; 5 Predominantly applicable; 6 Completely appicable

Table 2: Paired samples t-test results and Post Hoc ANOVA results (in brackets)

for different services

Basic connected charging services (2)	n.s. (n.s.)						
Cost minimized charging provided by SCSP (3)	n.s. (n.s.)	n.s. (n.s.)					
CO ₂ minimized charging provided by SCSP (4)	** (n.s.)	n.s. (n.s.)	n.s. (n.s.)				
Usage of charging infrastructure of other organizations (5)	*** (n.s.)	** (n.s.)	n.s. (n.s.)	n.s. (n.s.)			
Inductive charging (6)	** (*)	** (n.s.)	n.s. (n.s.)	n.s. (n.s.)	n.s. (n.s.)		_
Mobility guarantee (7)	*** (***)	*** (*)	* (n.s.)	* (n.s.)	* (n.s.)	n.s. (n.s.)	
Consulting (8)	*** (***)	*** (*)	** (n.s.)	* (n.s.)	* (n.s.)	n.s. (n.s.)	n.s. (n.s.)

Annotation: *p<.05, **p<.01, ***p<.001, n.s.: not significant

	Ν		Number of charging hours / usages per month						
	Va	Mie		Std.			Р	ercentile	es
Service	lid	sing	Mean	Devi- ation	Min	Max	25	50	75
Reservations	82	27	2.00	6.90	0	50	0	0	1
Charging at the own EVSE	81	28	64.47	90.51	0	600	15	32	80
Charging of others at the own organizations' EVSE within a regional charging network (Get eReady)	73	36	1.74	6.42	0	50	0	0	0
Charging of others at the own organizations' EVSE within a supra-regional charging network (Hubject)	74	35	1.24	6.16	0	50	0	0	0
Charging at other organizations' EVSE within a regional charging network (Get eReady)	76	33	3.45	10.41	0	60	0	0	1
Charging at other organizations' EVSE within a supra-regional charging network (Hubject)	78	31	4.42	18.38	0	120	0	0	0

Table 3: Usage frequency of connected charging services

	Pricing		I	N	· ·	WTP / E	xpecte	d refu	nd [in	Euros]
	model	Cost assumn-							P	Percentiles	
Service	(payment frequency and object)	tions	Va- lid	Mis- sing	Mean	SD	Min	Max	25	50	75
Activation fee	One time per organization	248.65	89	20	102.18	145.09	0	1000	10	50	135
EVSE maintenance	Monthly per EVSE	54.20	89	20	19.38	21.61	0	100	5	10	25
M2M	Monthly per EVSE	15.00	95	14	1.85	2.24	1	15	1	1	2
Service fee	Monthly per EV	2.45	87	22	8.52	13.6	0	100	2	5	10
Reservation	Pay per use	1.00	76	33	1.08	1.80	0	10	0	0.50	1
Charging at the own EVSE ⁷	Pay per charging hour	0.95 (≤ 3.3 kW) 0.85 (> 3.3 kW)	58	51	0.93	1.25	0	5	0	0.5	2
Regional provision of EVSE (in Get eReady) ⁸	Credit per charging hour	1.00 (≤ 3.3 kW) 3.10 (> 3.3 kW)	52	57	1.65	1.56	0	6	1	1	2.75
Supra-regional provision of EVSE (in Hubject)	Credit per charging hour	n. a.	55	54	1.82	1.95	0	10	0	1	3
Usage of EVSE of other organizations within a regional charging network (Get eReady) ⁹	Pay per charging hour	1.95 (≤ 3.3 kW) 3.95 (> 3.3 kW)	57	52	2	1.74	0	6	1	2	3
Usage of EVSE of other organizations within a supra-regional charging network (Hubject)	Pay per charging hour	n. a.	57	52	1.82	1.71	0	6	0	2	3
Mobility guarantee (free usage of a rental car at 20 days per year)	Pay per EV per year	n. a.	86	23	98.6	190.45	0	1200	0	22.5	100
Consulting	One time payment per organization	1,000	86	23	70.88	121.17	0	500	0	0	100
Inductive charging	One time payment per EV	n. a.	84	25	309.89	686.77	0	5000	0	22.5	437.50

Table 4: WTP for e-mobility services

Table 5: WTP for smart charging tariffs of a SCSP (n=57)

	Optimal price point	Indifference price point	Point of marginal cheapness	Point of marginal expensiveness
Reference tariff with a single price level	2.65€	3.55€	1.30€	5.00€
First price level: Direct charing so the minum range threshold is reached as quickly as possible.	2.95€	3.80€	1.70€	5.90€
Second price level: SCSP controls the charging processes in cost minimizing manner.	2.60€	3.15€	1.40€	4.95 €
Second price level: SCSP controls the charging processes in an environmentally friendly, CO ₂ minimizing manner.	3.25€	3.85€	1.70€	5.25€

 ⁷ Excluded outlier: 1 respondent with WTP of 85 Euros per charging hour
⁸ Excluded outlier: 1 respondent expecting credit of 95 Euros per charging hour
⁹ Excluded outlier: 1 respondent with WTP of 395 Euros per charging hour

Table 6: Differences between WTP for the two price level smart charging tariffs of a SCSP controlling charging events of EV and a state of the art single price level reference tariff without controlled charging

Pairwise comparisons	WTP compared	Paired differences					
	-	Mean	SE	t	df	Sig. (2-tailed)	
Reference tariff vs.	Too expensive	-0.59	0.26	-2.25	49	0.029	
(a) First price level with direct charing	Expensive	-0.50	0.22	-2.28	49	0.027	
so the minum range threshold is reached as quickly as possible	Cheap	-0.28	0.13	-2.08	49	0.042	
	Too cheap	-0.12	0.07	-1.65	49	0.106	
Reference tariff vs.	Too expensive	0.20	0.30	0.67	47	0.507	
(b_1) Second price level with SCSP	Expensive	0.18	0.25	0.73	47	0.469	
controlling the charging processes in	Cheap	0.06	0.15	0.37	47	0.711	
cost minimizing manner	Too cheap	0.07	0.07	1.05	47	0.300	
Reference tariff vs.	Too expensive	-0.64	0.37	-1.72	48	0.091	
(b_2) Second price level with SCSP controlling the charging processes in	Expensive	-0.45	0.28	-1.61	48	0.114	
	Cheap	-0.53	0.20	-2.68	48	0.010	
CO ₂ minimizing manner	Too cheap	-0.32	0.15	-2.17	48	0.035	

References

Bohnsack, R., Pinkse, J., Kolk, A. (2014). Business models for sustainable technologies: Exploring business model evolution in the case of electric vehicles, Research Policy 43 (2), 284-300, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2013.10.014

Cherubini, S., Iasevoli, G., Michelini, L. (2015). Product-service systems in the electric car industry: critical success factors in marketing. Journal of Cleaner Production 97, 40-49, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2014.02.042

- Chesbrough, H.; Rosenbloom, R. S. (2002). The role of the business model in capturing value from innovation!: evidence from Xerox Corporation's technology spinoff companies. Industrial and Corporate Change 11 (3), 529–555.
- Christensen, T.B., Wells, P., Cipcigan, L. (2012). Can innovative business models overcome resistance to electric vehicles? Better Place and battery electric cars in Denmark, Energy Policy 48, 498-505, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2012.05.054
- Ensslen, A., Ringler, P., Jochem, P., Keles, D., Fichtner, W. (2014). About business model specifications of a smart charging manager to integrate electric vehicles into the German electricity market. Proceedings of 14th IAEE European Conference, Rome, Italy.
- IEA International Energy Agency (2015). Global EV Outlook 2015. http://www.iea.org/evi/Global-EV-Outlook-2015-Update_1page.pdf.
- Illing, B., Warweg, O., & Hartung, P. (2014). Cost-utility analysis to evaluate business cases for electric vehicle market integration. European Energy Market (EEM), 2014 11th International Conference on the European Energy Market, Krakow, Poland, http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/EEM.2014.6861270
- Kley, F., Lerch, C., Dallinger, D. (2011). New business models for electric cars— A holistic approach, Energy Policy 39 (6), June 2011, 3392-3403, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2011.03.036
- Kosub, J. (2010). Transitioning to a greener fleet: a cost-benefit analysis of a vehicle fleet program at the texas general land office in Austin, Texas, Doctoral dissertation, Texas State University.
- Osterwalder, A., Pigneur, Y. (2010). Business Model Generation: A Handbook for Visionaries, Game Changers, and Challengers, Amsterdam: John Wiley & Sons, ISBN: 978-0470876411.
- Piao, J., McDonald, M., Preston, J. A. (2014). cost benefit analysis of electric vehicles-a UK case Study. In Transport Research Arena (TRA) 5th Conference: Transport Solutions from Research to Deployment, http://tra2014.traconference.eu/papers/pdfs/TRA2014_Fpaper_17738.pdf

- Reinecke, S., Mühlmeier, S., Fischer, M. (2009). Die van Westendorp-Methode: Ein zu Unrecht vernachlässigtes Verfahren zur Ermittlung der Zahlungsbereitschaft?, Wirtschaftswissenschaftliches Studium 38 (2), 97-100, http://dx.doi.org/10.15358/0340-1650-2009-2-97
- San Román, T. G., Momber, I., Abbad, M. R., Sánchez Miralles, A. (2011). Regulatory framework and business models for charging plug-in electric vehicles: Infrastructure, agents, and commercial relationships, Energy Policy 39 (10), 6360-6375, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2011.07.037
- Steinhilber, S., Wells, P., and Thankappan, S. (2013). Sociotechnical inertia: Understanding the barriers to electric vehicles. Energy Policy 60,531-539, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2013.04.076
- Stryja, C., Fromm, H., Ried, S., Jochem, P., Fichtner, W. (2015). On the Necessity and Nature of E-Mobility Services–Towards a Service Description Framework. In Nóvoa, H., Drăgoicea, M. (2015). Exploring Service Science 201, 109-122, http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-14980-6 9
- Tate, E., Harpster, M. O., and Savagian, P. J. (2008). The Electrification of the Automobile: From Conventional Hybrid, to Plug-in Hybrids, to Extended-Range Electric Vehicles. SAE Int. J. Passeng. Cars - Electron. Electr. Syst. 1(1):156-166, 2009, http://dx.doi.org/doi:10.4271/2008-01-0458
- Tongur, S., Engwall, M. (2014). The business model dilemma of technology shifts. Technovation 34 (9), http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.technovation.2014.02.006
- Wells, P. (2013) Sustainable business models and the automotive industry: A commentary, IIMB Management Review 25 (4), 228-239, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.iimb.2013.07.001

Healthcare Services

Length of Stay Outlier Detection through Cluster Analysis: A Case Study in Pediatrics

Daniel Gartner^a, Rema Padman^b

^aSchool of Mathematics, Cardiff University, United Kingdom ^bThe H. John Heinz III College, Carnegie Mellon University, Pittsburgh, USA

Abstract

The increasing availability of detailed inpatient data is enabling the development of data-driven approaches to provide novel insights for the management of Length of Stay (LOS), an important quality metric in hospitals. This study examines clustering of inpatients using clinical and demographic attributes to identify LOS outliers and investigates the opportunity to reduce their LOS by comparing their order sequences with similar non-outliers in the same cluster. Learning from retrospective data on 353 pediatric inpatients admitted for appendectomy, we develop a two-stage procedure that first identifies a typical cluster with LOS outliers. Our second stage analysis compares orders pairwise to determine candidates for switching to make LOS outliers similar to non-outliers. Results indicate that switching orders in homogeneous inpatient sub-populations within the limits of clinical guidelines may be a promising decision support strategy for LOS management.

Keywords: Machine Learning; Clustering; Health Care; Length of Stay

Email addresses: gartnerd@cardiff.ac.uk (Daniel Gartner), rpadman@cmu.edu (Rema Padman)

1. Introduction

Length of Stay (LOS) is an important quality metric in hospitals that has been studied for decades Kim and Soeken (2005); Tu et al. (1995). However, the increasing digitization of healthcare with Electronic Health Records and other clinical information systems is enabling the collection and analysis of vast amounts of data using advanced data-driven methods that may be particularly valuable for LOS management Gartner (2015); Saria et al. (2010). When patients are treated in hospitals, information about each individual is necessary to perform optimal treatment and scheduling decisions, with the detailed data being documented in the current generation of information systems. Recent research has highlighted that resource allocation decisions can be improved by scheduling patient admissions, treatments and discharges at the right time Gartner and Kolisch (2014); Hosseinifard et al. (2014) while machine learning methods can improve resource allocation decisions and the accuracy of hospital-wide predictive analytics tasks Gartner et al. (2015a). Thus, using data-driven analytic methods to understand length of stay (LOS) variations and exploring opportunities for reducing LOS with a specific focus on LOS outliers is the goal of this study.

Using retrospective data on 353 inpatients treated for appendectomy at a major pediatric hospital, we first carry out a descriptive data analysis and test which (theoretical) probability distribution best fits our length of stay data. The results reveal that our data matches observations from the literature. In a first stage cluster analysis, we identify one potential outlier cluster while a descriptive analysis using box plot comparisons of this cluster vs. the union of patients assigned to all other clusters supports this hypothesis. In a second clustering stage, we analyse the patient sub-population who belongs to that outlier cluster and provide order prescription behaviour insights. More specifically, on a pairwise comparison, we describe which orders are likely to be selected in the outlier population vs. ones that are deselected in the non-outlier population and vice versa. Our findings reveal that four order items are not prescribed in the outlier population while in the nonoutlier sub-population, these orders were prescribed. On the other hand, 51 orders were prescribed for the outlier patients which are not enabled in the non-outlier population. These novel data-driven insights can be offered as suggestions for clinicians to apply new evidence-based, clinical guidelinecompliant opportunities for LOS reduction through healthcare analytics.

2. Related Work

Clustering algorithms and other machine learning approaches are discussed in Baesens et al. (2009); Jain (2010); Meisel and Mattfeld (2010); Olafsson et al. (2008) including an overview of operations research (OR) techniques applied to data mining. Mathematical programming and heuristics for clustering clinical activities in Healthcare Information Systems has been applied in Gartner et al. (2015b) while the identification of similar LOS groups has been studied by El-Darzi et al. (2009). Similar to our problem, the authors study the application of approaches to cluster patient records with similar demographic and clinical conditions. Using a stroke dataset, they compare the performance of Gaussian Mixture Models, k-means clustering and a two-step clustering algorithm. Determining cluster centers for patients in the Emergency Department (ED) is studied by Ashour and Okudan Kremer (2014). Having defined similar patient clusters, they study the improvement on patient routing decisions based on the clusters. Similarly, Xu et al. (2014) focuses their clustering problem on the ED. Their objective is to cluster patients to resource consumption classes determined by length of treatment while patient demographics are taken into consideration.

The approaches proposed in our paper can be categorized and differentiated from the literature of clustering in length of stay management as follows: Using a descriptive data analysis we provide an overview about the characteristics of our length of stay data. Fitting several distribution types and parameters of the theoretical probability distribution, we underline the skewed property of the probability distribution from our data. In a next step, we define homogeneous patient groups with respect to demographic, clinical attributes and length of stay outliers. Having learned homogeneous groups of inpatients, we evaluate patient orders within the group that potentially **contains** length of stay outliers and may be responsible for increasing LOS in that group. In conclusion, this study may be considered to be the first to link the discovery of similar clinical and demographic attributes in appendectomy inpatients while, within length of stay outlier clusters, we evaluate possibilities for switching of orders and how they potentially reduce the number of LOS outliers.

3. Methods

Let \mathcal{P} denote a set of individuals (hospital inpatients) and let \mathcal{K} denote the set of clusters to which these individuals can be grouped. For each inpatient $p \in \mathcal{P}$, we observe a set of attributes \mathcal{A} during the patient's LOS. Let \mathcal{V}_a denote the set of possible values for attribute $a \in \mathcal{A}$ and let $v_{p,a} \in \mathcal{V}_a$ denote the value of attribute a for inpatient p. In the following, we will describe how we label patients as LOS outliers, followed by a two-stage clustering approach: The first stage assigns patients' attributes to homogeneous clusters while clusters with high likelihood to contain LOS outliers can be identified. In a second stage, we filter patients assigned to these clusters and evaluate which patient orders may be switched to reduce length of stay in the LOS outlier patient sub-population. The section closes with an illustrative example.

Given the observed LOS of patient $p \in \mathcal{P}$, denoted by l_p , the 25 and 75 percentile of the LOS distribution denoted by q^{25} and q^{75} , respectively then we assign a patient the flag "outlier" using the following expression (Pirson et al. (2006)):

$$o_p = \begin{cases} 1, & \text{if } l_p > q^{75} + (1.5 \cdot (q^{75} - q^{25})) \\ 0, & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$
(1)

Now, let \mathcal{A}^{dem} denote the set of binary demographic attributes and let $v_{a,p} \in \{0,1\}$ denote the attribute value of demographic attribute $a \in \mathcal{A}^{\text{dem}}$ of patient $p \in \mathcal{P}$. Let $\mathcal{K} := \{1, 2, \ldots, K\}$ be a set of integers with maximum K which will be used for cluster indexing. Our objective is to find cluster centers of patient attributes in order to minimize deviations of each patient's attribute values with the ones of the cluster centres. One algorithm that minimizes this objective is the k-means clustering algorithm Jain (2010). The algorithm is a method of vector quantization. It seeks to partition observations into clusters in which each observation belongs to the cluster with the nearest mean which serves as a prototype of the cluster.

Once we have found patients with similar clinical, demographic and LOS characteristics, we wish to separate patients within the cluster that has the highest likelihood to contain LOS outliers. In this stage, we extract patients with these attributes and evaluate the order prescription behaviour for these patients between outliers and the false positively clustered outliers which actually belong to the group of non-outliers. Orders prescribed by clinicians to

patients are, for example, the application of drugs, examinations and therapies. Having determined patients with high likelihood of belonging to the group of outliers, we introduce a set $\mathcal{A}_k^{\text{o, off} \to \text{on}}$ for cluster $k \in \mathcal{K}$ which allows experts to evaluate orders which were switched off for outlier patients and were switched on for non-outlieres. The set is determined by $\mathcal{A}_k^{\text{o, off} \to \text{on}} :=$ $\{a \in \mathcal{A}^{order} | v_{a,p^*(p)} - v_{a,p} = 1 \quad \forall k \in \mathcal{K}, p \in \mathcal{P}_k^{out}\}$. Similarly, we introduce the set $\mathcal{A}_k^{\text{o, on} \to \text{off}} := \{a \in \mathcal{A}^{order} | v_{a,p^*(p)} - v_{a,p} = -1 \quad \forall k \in \mathcal{K}, p \in \mathcal{P}_k^{out}\}$ to analyze which orders were given to LOS outlier patients while the reference patient didn't receive the order.

4. Results

The data for this study were obtained from a pediatric hospital in Pittsburgh. $|\mathcal{P}| = 353$ appendectomy patients were hospitalized for, on average, for 78.968 hours. Important variables extracted from the data warehouse include, among others, diagnosis codes, gender, age and 636 unique orders that were entered using Computerized Physician Order Entry. All patientidentifiable health information was removed to create a de-identified dataset for this study.

A histogram of the LOS distribution including a Gaussian kernel density curve is shown in Figure 1(a). We used Equation (1) to determine the outlier LOS threshold o_p which is 229.140 hours. The figure reveals a skewed distribution with a density maximum at the first interval. Another observation is a large proportion of patients after the outlier LOS threshold. A boxplot of the LOS is shown in Figure 1(b). One can observe that the median is very close to the first quartile and some LOS outliers can be observed after the 95 percentile.

To investigate whether a parametric model may be used to fit the data, we ran experiments with 9 distributions such as Beta, Log-normal, Weibull and Erlang. Our results revealed that the Beta distribution results in the best fit with respect to the squared error between the empirical and the best theoretical distribution. The log-normal distribution fits second best and its results of the fitting process will be analysed in more detail: Both the Chi-Square (CS) and the Kolmogorov-Smirnov (KS) test resulted in p < 0.01 while the CS-test run with 7 intervals and 4 degrees of freedom resulted in a p < 0.005. The optimal parameters of the (theoretical) log-normal



Figure 1: LOS distribution (a), LOS box plot (b) clustered patients' LOS (c)

distribution's expected value and variance come up to $\mu = 72$ and $\sigma^2 = 123$, respectively with a LOS-intercept of 14 (hours) based on the empirical minimum LOS value. Using this distribution to fit our data, the squared error comes up to 0.137. The result that the log-normal distribution fits very well is not surprising and confirms assumptions from the literature, see Min and Yih (2010).

In our first stage clustering, we varied the number of k until we reached a cluster in which the outlier flag was present. The first cluster was k =13. The clinical and demographic information are shown in Table 1(a) and a summary statistics is shown in Table 1(b). The table shows that ICD-9 code 540.1 – 'Acute appendicitis with peritoneal abscess', an emergency type of 4, a moderate APR DRG severity and 'laparoscopic appendectomy' are the attributes in which outlier patients are most likely to be present. Figure 1(c) shows a LOS boxplot of patients of which the demographic and clinical attributes belong to this cluster vs. all other patients. In a second stage, we clustered based on orders to determine the switching patterns. Again, we run the k-means algorithm and now want to discover differences in the prescription of orders. We came up with two clusters with a total number of 306 orders. Table 1(d) shows the results of the second stage clustering. The table reveals that the number of orders more than doubles from cluster k = 2 to cluster k = 1. One explanation for this phenomenon is that the length of stay is longer and therefore more orders are likely to be prescribed to patients. Another observation is that in cluster k = 2 the LOS more than triples as compared to cluster k = 1. Now, comparing both

clusters, we observed $|\mathcal{A}_{13}^{o, \text{ on } \to \text{ off}}| = 52$ occurrences with a switch from on-off while a off-on was only observed $|\mathcal{A}_{13}^{o, \text{ off } \to \text{ on}}| = 4$ times. In the latter case, we predominantly observed order switches in drug and diet prescriptions.

				NT 1		1.17
				Number	of Data Points	17
\mathcal{A}		v_a	,	Min Data	a Value	47.7
			_	Max Dat	a Value	730
Diagnosis code		540.1		Sample N	Aean	178.9
Emergency type		4	-	Sample S	td Dev	156.5
APR DRG Severity		Moderate)	1 st quart	ile	88.5
Laparoscopic append	ectomy	yes	3	2 nd quar	tile	137.2
(a)			3 rd quart	ile	190.4
					(b)	
Number of Data Points	336					
Min Data Value	14.5					
Max Data Value	424.9	cluster	#	orders on	#orders off	Mean LOS
Sample Mean	73.9		11		11	
Sample Std Dev	66.7	k = 1		90	216	371.6
1 st quartile	32.2	k=2		42	264	119.7
2 nd quartile	43.7				(d)	
3 rd quartile	109.1					
(c)						

Table 1: Outlier cluster k = 13 (a), its summary statistics (b) and summary statistics of patients not belonging to it (c) and order switchings after the 2nd stage clustering (d)

As a consequence of our study, if we assume that the patient population in cluster k = 2 could be moved towards the patient population in cluster k = 1 through order switching, we can determine a lower LOS bound. Applied to our dataset, the total length of stay could be reduced from 78.97 to 76.11 hours which equals to a 3.8% LOS reduction. In practice and to create a decision support tool which involves clinicians, similar reference patients may be presented to a clinician when treating each particular patient. A clinician may then decide to what extent order switching is appropriate within the limits of clinical guidelines.

5. Summary and Conclusions

In this paper, we have developed a clustering approach of patients for the management of length of stay outliers for pediatric appendectomy. We provided a two-stage clustering method to cluster patients based on similar clinical, demographic and length of stay characteristics and applied it to a data set including more than 350 patients. We retrieved a cluster of patients in which LOS outliers are likely to occur. In a second stage, we compared order prescription for LOS outliers with the ones for patients who have similar clinical and demographic characteristics but are non-outlier patients. Future work will extend this work towards the LOS outlier management of chronic conditions such as asthma and to incorporate clinicians' feedback into our methods.

References

- Ashour, O. and Okudan Kremer, G. (2014). Dynamic patient grouping and prioritization: a new approach to emergency department flow improvement. *Health Care Manag Sci*, pages 1–14.
- Baesens, B., Mues, C., Martens, D., and Vanthienen, J. (2009). 50 years of data mining and OR: upcoming trends and challenges. J Oper Res Soc, 60(Supplement 1):16–23.
- El-Darzi, E., Abbi, R., Vasilakis, C., Gorunescu, F., Gorunescu, M., and Millard, P. (2009). Length of stay-based clustering methods for patient grouping. In McClean, S., Millard, P., El-Darzi, E., and Nugent, C., editors, *Intelligent Patient Management*, pages 39–56. Springer.
- Gartner, D. (2015). Scheduling the hospital-wide flow of elective patients early classification of diagnosisrelated groups through machine learning. Springer, Lect Notes Econ Math edition. Heidelberg.
- Gartner, D. and Kolisch, R. (2014). Scheduling the hospital-wide flow of elective patients. Eur J Oper Res, 223(3):689–699.
- Gartner, D., Kolisch, R., Neill, D. B., and Padman, R. (2015a). Machine Learning Approaches for Early DRG Classification and Resource Allocation. *INFORMS Journal on Computing*, 27(4):718–734.
- Gartner, D., Zhang, Y., and Padman, R. (2015b). Workload Reduction Through Usability Improvement of Hospital Information Systems – The Case of Order Set Optimization. Proceedings of the International Conference on Information Systems (ICIS). Fort Worth, TX.
- Hosseinifard, S., Abbasi, B., and Minas, J. (2014). Intensive care unit discharge policies prior to treatment completion. Oper Res Health Care, 3(3):168–175.

Jain, A. (2010). Data clustering: 50 years beyond k-means. Pattern Recogn Lett, 31(8):651-666.

- Kim, Y.-J. and Soeken, K. (2005). A meta-analysis of the effect of hospital-based case management on hospital length-of-stay and readmission. *Nurs Res*, 54(4):255–264.
- Meisel, S. and Mattfeld, D. (2010). Synergies of operations research and data mining. *Eur J Oper Res*, 206(1):1–10.

- Min, D. and Yih, Y. (2010). Scheduling elective surgery under uncertainty and downstream capacity constraints. Eur J Oper Res, 206(3):642–652.
- Olafsson, S., Li, X., and Wu, S. (2008). Operations research and data mining. Eur J Oper Res, 187(3):1429–1448.
- Pirson, M., Dramaix, M., Leclercq, P., and Jackson, T. (2006). Analysis of cost outliers within APR-DRGs in a Belgian general hospital: two complementary approaches. *Health Policy*, 76(1):13–25.
- Saria, S., Rajani, A., Gould, J., Koller, D., and Penn, A. (2010). Integration of early physiological responses predicts later illness severity in preterm infants. Sci Transl Med, 2(48):48-65.
- Tu, J., Jaglal, S., and Naylor, C. (1995). Multicenter validation of a risk index for mortality, intensive care unit stay, and overall hospital length of stay after cardiac surgery. *Circulation*, 91(3):677–684.
- Xu, M., Wong, T., and Chin, K. (2014). A medical procedure-based patient grouping method for an emergency department. Appl Soft Comp, 14(Part A):31–37.

A Machine Learning Approach for Brain Tissue Recognition of Human Brain Slice Images

Jiawei Cui, cuijiaweiyes@gmail.com, KIT

Plamen Kiradjiev,kiradjiev@de.ibm.com, IBM Johannes Kunze von Bischhoffshausen, kunzevb@de.ibm.com, KIT/IBM

Abstract

This work presents a Machine Learning (ML) approach for classifying areas of brain tissue in a stack of high resolution human brain slice images. Compared with standard image segmentations algorithms, this ML approach provides more reliable results by concentrating on pixel classification. The presented ML approach is fourfold. First, four feature extraction methods were developed to extract features as a basis for the classification procedure. Second, two feature selection approaches were developed and implemented in order to construct feature vectors. Third, Random Forest (RF), Neuronal Networks (NN), and a novel ensemble Meta classifier constructed by different multilayer perceptron (MLP) were implemented in our classifier construction procedure. Finally, a post-processing method based on graph cut algorithm was used to enforce a smoother classification result into coherent regions. This paper details the feature extraction part and illustrates its application conceiving initial results of a small subset of brain slices.

1 Introduction

1.1 Problem definition & research questions

The basis of the presented work is a stack of colored (RGB) images taken during histological sectioning of a tissue block from a post-mortem human brain. The tissue block was frozen at -80°C and cut into 843 slices, each 70 μ m thick. Images were taken right after the extraction of each individual slice using a high-resolution indus-

try-grade camera. Both, the histological processing and image collection has been carried out in the lab of Prof. Katrin Amunts at the Institute of Neuroscience and Medicine (INM1) at Research Center Juelich in Germany. At INM1, such "block-face" images are successfully reconstructed into consistent 3D volumes, and used as reference data for the significantly more difficult 3D reconstruction of the subsequent histological scans that typically suffer from nonlinear distortions and artifacts. Such 3D reconstructions play an important role in the EU FET flagship "Human Brain Project".

Due to the lack of contrast between the sectioning plane and the adjoining underlying brain surface, standard image segmentations algorithms often produce unreliable results for this kind of data. Therefore, neuroscientists in Juelich have spent significant manual effort to segment the sectional planes of brain tissue manually.



Figure 1.1 Image ressource of slice 450

In order to reduce the manual effort for marking areas of brain tissue, a ML approach needs to be developed. Since the manually labeled data has been provided together with the images, INM1 is particularly able to investigate supervised learning techniques to solve the problem. Based on supervised learning techniques, INM1 should be able to segment future datasets based on a small sample of manually marked image sections as training data. Based on the trained model, INM1 should be able to automatically segment the remaining images by classifying pixels of slice image into two classes- one identifying a pixel as part of the sectioning plane, and the other associating it to the background (Figure 1.1 - Left

image is the original brain slice image. On the is the "blockface" image, which provides label data.).

2 Methodology

This project is a collaborative project of KIT, IBM and INM1 at the Smart Data Innovation Lab (SDIL), which is an initiative intended for cutting-edge research in the area of data engineering. INM1 plays a role as data sponsor and propose requirements. KIT academics jointly conducted this research project with support of IBM-provided software and infrastructure (Figure 2.1).



Figure 1.2 Consortium of smart brain project

2.1 Training Testing strategy

Strategy of training and testing laid the basis for each ML project. In order to improve the accuracy of models, classifiers learned by a certain slice are used for classification of neighboring slices. We define the distance between two training slice as scope N, number of training slice needed is 843/N. Training slices must be manually segmented, a large value of scope needs less slices for training, which reducing manual work obviously. In order to balance accuracy and manual work, scope distance is set as 20. Consequently only 5 percent of slices need to be manual segmented by INM1.

As an example, given training slices slice 450 and slice 470, testing scope of slice 450 is from slice 431 to slice 469. Our final generated images of slice 451 to slice 469 are created by classifiers, which trained by slice 450 and slice 470 individely.

2.2 Feature extraction

Each pixel is described by RGB values as a basis for feature extraction. We developed four feature extraction methods, which are presented in the following with an emphasis on the developed method based on LCH and linear regression. First extraction method is filter based extraction method. We utilize three popular denoising filters to describe context information of pixel, i.e. Gaussian filter and two edge preserving filter Bilateral filter and Total Variation filter (C.Tomasi et al, 1998; Ivan W et al, 2010). Second method is the pre-segmentation extraction method. We append three additional image channels with help of Haematoxylin-Eosin-DAB color space (Ruifrok AC et al, 2001). Next feature selection method is used to emphasis edge pixel. Histograms of oriented gradients (HOG) and image entropy are chosen to implement this extraction method (Dalal, N et al, 2005; R.M. Haralick et al, 1985).

Last feature extraction method is based on LCH and linear regression. Main idea of this method is inspired by signal processing method. LCH generates red-greenblue signals of pixel by summarizing information of all pixels within the LCH window. Indeed, uniqueness of signals induces obvious difference between similar pixels, which meet the motivation of enhancing the difference between similar pixels thus improving descriptive ability of features (Figure 2.2).

For each pixel we use a LCH window to extract context information, i.e. the center of this window is the pixel we calculated for. All the pixels in this window serve for providing context information of this central pixel. Scale of LCH window is a critical parameter for the quality of features, since length of this window determines the scope of context information we calculated with. We set width (x') and length (y') of our LCH window as 151 with consideration of boundary limitations, i.e. for each pixel we utilize 151*151=22801 pixels to extract context information. In short, we translate feature extraction of pixel to feature extraction of

signals under the assumption that features describe the signals efficiently also describe pixels efficiently.

Intuitively, the peaks of each signal can be regarded as features. We developed a peak finding algorithm (interpolate) and extract the maximal value and interpolate central of peaks as features. Instead of mean value of signal we extract media value for features with consideration of non-repeatability. With the help of Dis-



Figure 2.2 Red- green-blue signals of similar pixels

crete Fourier Transformation we utilize the mean amplitude of a specific frequency bands as feature. In conclusion, with described approaches we extract 12 features for red-green -blue signals.

Features extracted from local two color space coordinate system are based on linear regression. Discriminating of linear regression line of each pixel make it plausible that features extracted from linear regression can be served as efficient features. A linear regression line can be described exactly with only two values, or rater slope and intercept. For each pixel we extract 2*3=6 features by implement this approach (Figure 2.2).

We regard the dimension of width of image, length of image and slice stack as x, y, z coordinate system. From the xy plane we extracted 18 features with window size 151*151. For xz and xy plane we extract also 18 features with 151*65 as window size respectively.



Figure 2.2 Linear regression of two similar pixels

Red-green-blue values are regarded as 3 basic features. We extracted another 81 features based on red-green-blue values. 22 features are extracted by filter based feature extraction algorithm, 3 features are extracted by pre-segmentation extraction method, 2 features are extracted by edge intensify extraction method, LCH provide most of the features, from 3 planes we extracted 54 features (Table 1).

Extraction method	Features number
basic	3
Filter based	22
Pre_segmentaion	3
Edge intensify	2
LCH	54
Total	84

Table 1 Overview of features

2.3 Feature selection

In consideration of loss original feature information widely used dimension reduction methods such as PCA, Autoencoder are not applied. Instead, two feature selection approaches are adopted. Feature filter method is implemented based on statistical test of the analysis of variance (ANOVA) with F-Score as ranking function (N. Elssied et al., 2014). In order to improve the performance of Filter feature selection method we also develop an Ensemble feature selection method, which implement a flexible forward selection strategy.

2.4 Classifier construction

Finding suitable classifiers are very important for testing result. We utilize IBM SPSS Modeler 17.1 to construct classifiers (IBM, 2015). Analytic server 2.1 of SPSS Modeler 17.1 supports Spark integration and provides the possibilities to integrate python and R. Hence, the feature extraction and selection algorithms can be also integrated into SPSS Modeler.

We choose two popular classification algorithms for classifier construction. Random Forrest (RF) is an ensemble learning method by constructing a multitude of decision trees during training time, which correct for decision trees' habit of overfitting (Ho. et al., 1995). Multi-layer perceptron (MLP) is chosen since our feature selection algorithm executes normalization for features. Normalization features proven to be efficient for MLP (Bishop et al., 1995). In order to avoid overfitting of MLP, we develop a method which implement ensemble method by changing topology and validation set of a series of MLPs.

2.5 Post processing method

Developing a method to post process our created image is helpful to improve quality of created images. We develop a post process algorithm for our created image with help of a graph cut algorithm and Gaussian smoothing algorithm (Egil Bae et al. 2009).

3 Preliminary results



Figure 3.1 Evaluation of feature extraction methods

Preliminary evaluation results are conceived based on a set of 450 slices for training, 460 slices for testing, and the MLP classifier. These results illustrate the performance of those feature extraction methods. Another experiment denotes the final created image following described methodology. We utilize basic evaluation metrics to evaluate our created images, i.e. accuracy, precision, recall, F1-score, AUCROC, MCC.

Among different evaluation criterion features extract by LCH approach played an important role for the feature extraction procedure (Figure 3.1). FE1 denotes filter based method, FE2 denotes pre-segmentation method, FE3 denotes edge intensify method, FE4 denotes LCH based method.

4 Conclusion

This work presented a fourfold Ml approach for classifying areas of brain slice images. First, several feature extraction methods provide efficient features. Features extracted from LCH with help of signal processing and linear regression proven to be efficient that implicit enough contextual information of single pixel. In order to improve performance of classifier, we also utilize two feature selection methods to construct suitable feature vector. A classifier building module two popular classification algorithms RF and MLP is implemented. With purpose of handling of overfitting problem we develop another ensemble MLP classifier with help of IBM SPSS Modeler. Furthermore, post processing of result images is based on the implementation of graph cut algorithms. This provides a new way to combine different classified pixel created image, and proven to be an efficient outlier set reduction method. In conclusion, the initial results are promising and lay the basis for advancing this approach.

5 Acknowledgment

We would like to express our thanks to Dr. Timo Dickscheid and Dr. Stefan Koehnen for their suggestions and help during our research as well as reviewing of our paper. We are also thankful to Prof. Katrin Amunts, Prof. Morris Riedel and Christian Bodenstein for providing the source data, scientific material and allocating INM1 resources. We appreciate the responsiveness and support of the SDIL team, especially Erekle Magradze, Jan Erik Sundermann and Nico Schlitter.

References

- Katrin Amunts, Claude Lepage, and Timo Dickscheid et al. "BigBrain an ultrahigh resolution 3D human brain model". In: *Science* 340 (2013), pp. 1472-1475.
- E. Davies and Royal Holloway. "Machine Vision: Theory, Algorithms and Practicali- ties". In: *Academic Press* (2012).
- Navneet Dalal and Bill Triggs. "Histograms of oriented gradients for human detec- tion". In: *Computer Vision and Pattern Recognition, 2005. CVPR 2005. IEEE Computer Society Conference on.* Vol. 1. IEEE. 2005, pp. 886–893.
- C. Tomasi and R. Manduchi. "Bilateral Filtering for Gray and Color Images." In:Proceedings of the1998 IEEE International Conference on Computer Vision (1998).
- Ivan W. Selesnick and Ilker Bayram. "Total Variation Filtering". In: (2010).
- Robert M Haralick and Linda G Shapiro. "Image segmentation techniques". In: (1985), pp. 2–9.
- AC Ruifrok and DA Johnston. "Quantification of histochemical staining by color deconvolution". In: Analytical and quantitative cytology and histology / the Inter- national Academy of Cytology [and] American Society of Cytology 23.4 (Aug. 2001), pp. 291–299.
- Massar and Melody L. "Local histograms for per-pixel classification". In: (2012).
- Grosan Crina, Abraham Ajith, and Chis Monica. "Swarm intelligence in data mining".In: (2006).
- Tin Kam Ho. "Random decision forests". In: (1995), pp. 278–282.
- Ji Liu, Ryohei Fujimaki, and Jieping Ye. "Forward-backward greedy algorithms for general convex smooth functions over a cardinality constraint". In: *arXiv preprint arXiv:1401.0086* (2013).
- Nadir Omer Fadl Elssied, Othman Ibrahim, and Ahmed Hamza Osman. "A novel feature selection based on one-way anova f-test for e-mail spam classification". In: *Research Journal of Applied Sciences, Engineering and Technology* 7.3 (2014), pp. 625–638.
- IBM. "SPSS Modeler 17.1 Documentation". In: (2015). url: http://www-01.ibm.com/ support/docview.wss?uid=showg27046116.
- Christopher M Bishop. "Neural networks for pattern recognition". In: (1995).
- Egil Bae, Juan Shi, and Xue-Cheng Tai. "Graph cuts for curvature based image denoising". In: *Image Processing, IEEE Transactions on* 20.5 (2011), pp. 1199–1210.

A smart service for the rheumatological care: Healthcare platform RhePort.de

Marco Husmann, Marco.Husmann@fir.rwth-aachen.de, FIR at RWTH Aachen University

Dominik Kolz, Dominik.Kolz@fir.rwth-aachen.de, FIR at RWTH Aachen University

Abstract

The goal of the paper is to illustrate an innovative approach of the rheumatological care through smart digital services on an online platform and the establishment of a cross-sectoral network. The online platform RhePort.de will allow earlier diagnosis and treatment of rheumatic diseases, by which the quality of patient treatment will be increased and costs for the healthcare sector significantly reduced. The service platform is currently operating and being evaluated in the German region of Aachen, Dueren, Heinsberg and Moenchengladbach in order to prove increased effectiveness and efficiency of IT-based rheumatological care.

1 Current situation of rheumatic diseases

1.1 Background

Today, there are more than 100 different known symptoms of rheumatism worldwide, causing pain and functional disorders of the human locomotor system. Rheumatic diseases significantly burden the patients as well as the society. About 2% of the population is affected and the economic costs of rheumatic diseases are significant. On average 76% of female patients are declared incapable for work 8 days per month in the first year of illness. 25 - 42% of the patients are retired early during the first four years of a disease, a value that increases to 43 - 85% during the following years (Mau 2004). An early medical treatment may reduce the work disability (ter Wee et al. 2012). The later a treatment begins, the more difficult it is to individualize it to specific patients, resulting in tremendously increased costs. From a societal perspective, the annual indirect costs through lost productivity add up to about $11.222 \notin$ per person each year. Additionally, the costs for medication amount to $20.000 \notin$ and the costs for the health care system to $4.170 \notin$ each year (Boonen et al. 2011; Mau 2004). Even higher costs are possible through surgeries and consequential treatments, which are not included in these numbers yet.

1.2 Problem statement

Rheumatic diseases are often diagnosed in an advanced state. Due to ambiguous symptoms and long waiting times for consultation of a rheumatologist, the entire process takes too long (on average more than 1.1 years from the very first symptoms to a final medical diagnosis). Most serious and irreparable damages occur in the earlier stages of the disease and especially to women (Westhoff, Edelmann, Zink 2009). Many inflammatory rheumatic diseases are - although not curable - treatable nowadays. The earlier the treatment begins, the better are the chances to reach a state, which is similar to a cure of the disease (Schneider/Krueger 2013). Personal consequences of rheumatism could be prevented or at least be reduced and follow-up costs of the therapy could be decreased. For instance, more than half of the cases of rheumatoid arthritis can be stopped with today's options of treatment (Puolakka et al. 2004).

Common reasons for a delayed diagnosis and inadequate treatment are the limited level of awareness of rheumatism, the specific symptoms and consequences of the disease, the often delayed medical care due to lack of specialists, the insufficient prioritization/organization of the medical referral to a specialist, and discontinuous long-term care.

Despite the need for easy assessment, rapid appointment scheduling, precise diagnosis and efficient patient-centered treatment, today's health and patient care system is dominated by horizontally aligned "silos" for physical and digital service provision. These closed systems prevent cooperation between the stakeholders on the cost of the patient. (Kagermann et al. 2015; Kaplan 2015; Bates et al. 2010). IT- based health care is a promossing approach to address these problems.

2 IT-based healthcare services

Connected healthcare service platforms enable improved diagnostics and patientcare through the generation of Big Data and the utilization of individual patient treatment. Furthermore, easy and secure data-sharing across the healthcare ecosystem enables patients, insurance companies and doctors to exchance information efficiently and collaborate in real-time (Kagermann et al. 2015). In doing so, the information flow is improved between different stakeholders within the patients care pathway (Görlitz, 2014). This environment is simultaneousely a fertile soil for the establishment of additional providers that offer specific knowledge (i. e. the evaluation of X-ray-images) as a service to the relevant stakeholders (Kagermann et al. 2015).

An IT based Community seems to be a promising approach in order to use available resources efficiently, to transform tacit knowledge into tangible knowledge as well as to realize a modern network of supply structures. Within the discipline of rheumatism, there are no known established IT-based based communities, which focus on the improvement of early diagnosis. Besides Scheibe et al. (2015), who developed an electronic referral system, which focuses on the use of preconsultation exchange of information through IT support systems. Moreover, the mobile application of Rheumabuddy.com assists patients on tracking treatment information of the disease itself in a diary (e.g. pain barometer), but these services are not connected to physiscans. The deficits of a missing IT-based approach to improve early diagnosis of the disease will be addressed by the RhePort.de plattform in an innovative and patient-centered way.

3 RhePort.de as a digital marketplace for rheumatism care

For these reasons the development of RhePort.de - Rheumatism Portal of the 21th century system - was sponsored by means of the European Union (Ziel2-Program) and the Ministry of Health, Equalities, Care and Ageing (MGEPA) of the state North Rhine-Westphalia. Enabled by platform technologies, the objectives of RhePort.de are to:

- diagnose the illness during an early stage, start therapy quickly and effectively and establish a coordinated acute-management to minimize the activity of the rheumatic disease,
- minimize the physical and mental interferences and avoid consequential damages,
- limit the high financial burden on the health and social care system, e. g. by avoiding expensive therapies during a difficult and severe course of the disease, limit incapacity to work and early retirement,
- indicate the gender specific effects of the rheumatic disease, apply adequate therapies and help patients to reduce negative consequences.

The online platform RhePort.de is based on two pillars (see Figure 1). Patients as well as primary care providers are able to use **RPAS** (Rheumatism Patient Assistant System) in order to receive general information, concerning the record of symptoms and discomfort to provide a direct diagnostic screening. Based on obtained knowledge and a developed algorithm, an allocation service quickly forwards patients to a rheumatism specialist within the local network. Comprehensive information about the patients completes the service.



Legend: PVS: Patient Administration System

Figure 1: Schematic representation of the platform RhePort.de

Simultaneously, with **RNIS** (Rheumatism Network Integration System) the workflow and cooperation within the local network is improved. Substantial elements of the project were the development and deployment of an electronic Case Record (eCR), as well as a comprehensive support for the Community Management, especially for problems concerning rheumatology. Furthermore, a database about rheumatism knowledge was established. Medical examination and therapy methods are beeing discussed and agreed on by rheumatism experts. The upcoming paragraphs will describe the three main elements of RhePort.de briefly.

Diagnostic Screening: The screening function is a standardized, understandable and interactive procedure to record symptoms and discomfort (symptom guide). A questionnaire was developed as a self-assessment-tool by a working group of various rheumatologists, which is used to support the diagnostic and which is accessible to all patients and primary care providers for free. The online questionnaire and tool support systematic prevention as well as the early diagnosis screenings. During an interactive dialogue with the physician, the information is also used for medical assistance and appointments on-site.

Allocation Service: Based on the questionnaire, the patient is allocated into one of three categories, which shows the probability of the disease (e.g. group of patients with very high risk of rheumatoid diseases, group of patients without rheumatoid diseases, group of uncertain patient cases). In case of suspected rheumatism disease (or unsure cases), the patient automatically receives a list of short-term appointments for a rheumatism specialist (matching service) online, from which the patient can select an appointment. Parameters such as urgency, appointment availability and location of the patient are taken into account. Therefore a fast, early and valid diagnosis followed by an adequate therapy is achieved (appointment within 48 hours). First results show that the speed of the diagnosis is improved dramatically by this allocation service compared to the status quo in the german health care system. Based on the registration with only an email-address and a telephone number, only anonymized patient data is available. The possibility to add and publish additional health care data anonymously, taking the data

5

protection into account, is very important for the RhePort.de concept. For this reason a security architecture is implemented (e. g. methods of pseudonomic encryption, authentication, authorization and performance assurance), which focuses primarily on specifications of eCR (electronic Case Record) and KV-SafeNet (interface of the association of panel doctors).

Electronic Case Record: In order to improve the collaboration and procedure of the various treatments within the rheumatism network, the development and implementation of a rheumatism specific medical electronic case record, consistent with the eCR standards, is crucial. Under consideration of scientific quality standards, eCR consistent pseudonomic medical case records were created. Only authorized rheumatology specialists within the network can access this data. A case record contains patient information concerning diagnosis, therapy and progress of the disease. The documents are developed for the RhePort.de community and all medical partners are connected to the online community.

The main characteristic of multi-sided communities is to connect different, but dependent groups of clients with each other. The creation of additional value between those groups is the main idea of Rheport.de. Among an automated appointment and an electronic case record system, the community also distributes various information to patients on one side and physicians on the other side. Thus, network effects are crucial for this approach. The more participants are registered, the more value can be gained.

4 Discussion and outlook

After going live in February 2015, first results of RhePort.de could be evaluated successfully. At the time of November 2015, voluntarily there are 32 physicians connected to RhePort.de from the above mentioned region. Within the first nine months 464 patients registered on the platform with over 460 allocated appointments at the rheumatologist. A first evaluation shows that approximately one third of all allocated patients were affected by rheumatism and were successfully helped by RhePort.de.

6

Further medical and statistical evaluation is still ongoing until end of 2016. The questionnaire has been updated in order to clarify missunderstandings from the patients' side. In the second phase of the evaluation an A-B study is conducted with patients who entered from RhePort.de compared to patients who started treatment by medical referral, which is common in Germany. Furthermore, male and female patients from various age segments and different regions are compared. The main question is, wheather RhePort.de can successfully reduce the time between the first patient complaint and the diagnosis through a physician. Studies prove that the patients' quality of life increases inversely proportional to this period of time (Mau 2004). Nevertheless, it is apparent that the approach of using an integrative healthcare service platform like RhePort.de is a great chance to enhance rheumatology care in the 21th century.

For the future it is plannend to increase the area of coverage and also add new value added services, like automated letters of physicians in order to co-found the network. Focus points for the future are: Scalability - enlarge stakeholder groups (e. g. health insurance funds, more physicians or pharma studies, etc.), Connectivity - add new functionality for smart devices (e. g. automated letters of physicians, apps to document pain of patients like rheumabuddy.com, integration of activity and movement trackers, etc.), Interoparability - use and license the platform to other medical disciplines (e. g. urogoly) in order to enhance a business model for RhePort.de.

References

Bates, D., Bitton, A. (2010). *The Future Of Health Information Technology In The Patient-Centered Medical Home*. Health Affairs, 29, (2010) 4, 614 – 621.

Davoody, N., Koch, S., Krakau, I., & Hägglund, M. (2014). *Collaborative interaction points in post-discharge stroke care*. International journal of integrated care 14 (2014), 32.

Fraser, H., Gordon, D., & Piccone, J. (2013). Analytics across the ecosystem – A prescription for optimizing healthcare outcomes. IBM Institute for Business

Value. Somers (NY). https://www-01.ibm.com/marketing/iwm/iwm/web/ signup.do?source=ind-enurture_short_form&S_PKG=ov18071, accessed on November 24, 2015.

Görlitz, R. A. (2015). *Patient-centered Coordination in Healthcare Service Networks. Measuring and Improving Inter-organizational Information Flow.* 1. Auflage. Südwestdeutscher Verlag für Hochschulschriften, Saarbrücken 2015.

Kaplan, G. S.: *Health Care Scheduling and Access – A Report from the IOM*. In: JAMA 314 (2015)14, 1449 – 1450.

Kagermann, H., Riemensperger, F., Hoke, D., Schuh, G., Scheer, A.-W., Spath, D., Leukert, B., Wahlster, W., Rohleder, B., & Schweer, D. (2015). *Smart Service Welt – Recommendations for the Strategic Initiative Web-Based Services for Businesses*. Berlin, March 2015. http://www.acatech.de/fileadmin/user_upload/ Baumstruktur_nach_Website/Acatech/root/de/Projekte/Laufende_Projekte/Smart_ Serice_Welt/Smart_Service_Welt_2015/BerichtSmartService2015_ LANGVERSION_en.pdf, accessed on November 24, 2015.

Mau, W. (2004). Bereiche und Kosten der Fehl-, Unter- und Überversorgung von Patientinnen am Beispiel der rheumatoiden Arthritis. Wissenschaftliches Gutachten für die Enquetekommission "Zukunft einer frauengerechten Gesundheitsversorgung in NRW" des Landtags von Nordrhein-Westfalen. Martin-Luther-Universität Halle-Wittenberg, 2004 https://www.landtag.nrw.de/portal/WWW/GB_I/I.1/EK/EKALT/13_EK2/RA-Gutachten-Mau.pdf, accessed on November 24, 2015.

Puolakka, K., Kautiainen, H., Möttönen, T., Hannonen, P., Korpela, M., Julkunen, H., Luukkainen, R., Vuori, K., Paimela, L., Blåfield, H., Hakala, M., & Leirisalo-Repo, M. (2004). *Impact of initial aggressive drug treatment with a combination of disease modifying antirheumatic drugs on the development of work disability in early rheumatoid arthritis: a five year randomized follow up trial.* Arthritis rheum 50 (2004)1, 55 – 62.
Scheibe, M., Imboden, J., Schmajuk, G., Margaretten, M., Graf, J., Chen, A., Yelin, E., & Yazdany, J. (2015). *Efficiency Gains for Rheumatology Consultation Using a Novel Electronic Referral System in a Safety Net Health Setting*. Arthritis Care & Research 67 (2015) 8, 1158 – 1163.

Schneider, M., & Krüger, K. (2013). *Rheumatoide Arthritis – Frühdiagnose und Krankheitskontrolle*. Deutsches Ärzteblatt Jg. 110, 27/28, 477 – 485.

ter Wee, M. M., Lems, W. F., Usan, H., Gulpen, A., & Boonen, A. (2012). *The effect of biological agents on work participation in rheumatoid arthritis patients: a systematic review*. Annals of the rheumatic diseases 71 (2012) 2, 161–171.

Westhoff, G., Edelmann, E., & Zink, A. (2009). Das Zuweiser-Projekt. Symptomdauer bis zur Erstvorstellung beim internistischen Rheumatologen. Rheuma-Management (2009) 1, 13 – 15.

German data sets for comparing ambulance location models

Melanie Reuter-Oppermann^a, Christiane Bernath^a

^aKarlsruhe Service Research Institute (KSRI), Karlsruhe Institute of Technology, Germany

Abstract

Ambulance planning includes the problems of locating ambulances and bases as well as relocating ambulances throughout the day. Especially for determining (optimal) ambulance locations many different models and approaches exist. Most of them are presented for a special country or region. It would be interesting to study how they perform for other regions, especially for Germany. For doing so, a set of instances is needed that includes different characteristics. We therefore discuss accessible data and present a set of instances derived for Germany.

Keywords: Health Services, Ambulance Planning, Data Sets

1. Introduction

For each Emergency Medical Service (EMS) system, the location of ambulances and bases is crucial for the main task of helping patients as soon as possible in case of an emergency. Operations Research can help finding good (optimal) locations with regard to an objective. Often, the (main) objective is to maximize the coverage. A demand location is usually called covered by a base location if it can be reached within a maximum time. Other objectives minimize the costs or maximize the survival probabilities.

Email addresses: melanie.reuter@kit.edu (Melanie Reuter-Oppermann), christiane.bernath@outlook.de (Christiane Bernath)

The first model to locate ambulance bases was introduced by Toregas et al. (1971). The Location Set Covering Model (LSCM) determine the minimum required number of bases as well as their locations to cover the entire region within a fixed time threshold. Church and ReVelle (1974) presented the Maximum Coverage Location Problem (MCLP) to maximize the coverage assuming a limited number of bases. Another important model is the Maximum Expected Coverage Location Problem (MEXCLP) by Daskin (1983) that explicitly takes the coverage depending on the expected busyness of every ambulance into account.

Relocation approaches are applied at the operational level of EMS planning. Gendreau et al. (2001) proposed one of the first real-time ambulance location models. Depending on the current state of the system good relocations are determined by solving a location approach that uses two coverage standards. Gendreau et al. (2006) published a similar approach that bases on the MEXCLP instead.

Many models assume an underlying graph with nodes representing demand and possible base locations. Edges are weighted by the driving times between the nodes. Other approaches assume a grid structure for the underlying city/region. It means that the city or region is divided into equally sized squares, e.g. of $1 \ km^2$. Each square presents a demand location and a subset contains the potential base/ambulance locations. Often, Euclidean distances are used for these approaches and distances are measured between the centers of the squares. For example, Chanta et al. (2014) presented a bi-objective coverage location model that is solved for a data set with grid structure. Also, several relocation approaches base on a grid structure, as for example the multiperiod set covering location model for dynamic redeployment of ambulances by Rajagopalan et al. (2008).

To the best of our knowledge, only Ingolfsson has published EMS data, in this case for the EMS system in Edmonton that he used for his research. It is one (large) instance consisting of 180 demand nodes and 16 base location. The data set includes the following information: (1) the average busy time for ambulances (in seconds), (2) the average number of calls for each demand node, for each station-demand node pair (3) the average response times (in seconds), (4) the standard deviation of response times (in seconds), (5) and the deterministic coverage for an 8-minute threshold (as 0 or 1), (6) the survival probability for deterministic response times, (7) the expected coverage for probabilistic response times for an 8-minute threshold, (8) the survival probability for probabilistic response times, and (9) the capacities for each station (as the maximum number of ambulances).

Often, models are fitted to the concrete problem they were developed for which means also for the considered EMS system (country). This also involves the underlying structure, i.e. network or grid. It is unclear if a model that performs well for a grid-based instance is also good for a network instance and vice versa.

To study this instances must be available in both structures. To the best of our knowledge, these "double-structure instances" have not been presented so far.

One problem is that if the grid structure is not given, but must be defined first, this can be very challenging. This is especially true fur rural areas with small villages while for a city the grid structure seems more suitable. Figure 1 shows three possible arrangements of a demand location (e.g. a village) in a grid. Cases a) and b) show what often happened when we tried to put a grid over a rural area and case c) represents the ideal situation that we would want. In case a) the center of the square is near the center of the demand location, but small parts of demand location are situated in the adjacent squares. This means the distance calculation is acceptable but the demand is not well represented in the grid. In case b) the demand location is distributed on several squares evenly, but the center of the squares are not representing the actual position of the demand location. This not satisfactory for the distance calculation. In case c) the demand location is perfectly centered in only one of the squares, therefore we get an optimal representation of the demand location with the center of the demand location being used for the distance calculations. Note that also the size of the squares could vary. Often, $1 \ km^2$ is chosen as this makes computations easy. But in some cases, this might be too small (e.g. for very large regions this would lead to too many squares) whilst in others it might be to large (e.g. when cities have a very fine structure or when rural areas consist of only very small villages).

One last aspect that we want to take into account for building the instances is that different internal city structures exist. Figure 2 presents three types of internal city structures. The concentric zone model is basically a generalization for cities. It was the first model to be published by Burgess (1967). Chicago is a well-known example. The sector model was published by Hoyt



Figure 2: Generalization of internal structure of cities [Harris and Ullman (1945)]

(1939). With this model the arrangement of the sectors varies from city to city. The multiple nuclei model by Harris and Ullman (1945) represents many cities quite nicely. Figure 2 shows only one possible pattern among innumerable variations.

Examples for the three models in Germany are (1) Düsseldorf, (2) Hamburg and (3) Berlin.

2. German EMS Instances

The data set we developed contains instances with the network and the grid structure for cities as well as rural ares. The demand for the nodes/ squares is first expressed as the number of inhabitants. For the network structure, the inhabitants per district were used. For the grid structure, the inhabitants had to be divided between the squares first. We assume a linear relation between the number of inhabitants and the expected demand and can therefore also assign single values for the demand.

We built instances with a grid structure for cities of Stuttgart, Karlsruhe,

Freiburg, Düsseldorf, Hamburg and Berlin. Distances between squares were calculated with the l2-metric and each square was indicated by its center.

Instances with a network structure were developed for: the city of Stuttgart, the city and county of Karlsruhe, the city of Freiburg and the county of Breisgau-Hochschwarzwald, the cities of Heidelberg, Mannheim and the county of Rhein-Neckar and the county of Schwarzwald-Baar as representative of a rural region. For these instances the position of buildings and residential areas indicated by OpenStreetMap were utilized to pinpoint a suitable location of the demand node in the network. We needed exact coordinates for the representatives of the districts/nodes to calculate distances using the Google Distance Matrix API.



Figure 3: Stuttgart - network instance

Figures 3 and 4 show both structures for the city of Stuttgart. First, we have the city map showing the 148 districts and the chosen representation points. These points then form the network. Note that for determining the arcs several possibilities exist: (1) all nodes are connected which makes the network often quite large, (2) only those nodes are connected that can directly be reached from one another or (3) an edge is only drawn if a node can be reached from the other within the given response time. Figure 3 b) shows only a subset of the 3225 edges for case (3) (when assuming a maximum driving time of 15 minutes) to make the general structure of the network



Figure 4: Stuttgart - grid-based instance

visible. For the grid structure we first coloured the districts depending on the population density and then fixed the grid structure. The demand was then set according to the population density in each square.

Other parameters that describe the instances include: (1) the possible locations for bases; either all demand locations are feasible, e.g. for a completely new analysis of the considered region or only a subset of nodes/squares is available. As far as we got the information we incorporated already built bases and reasonable new locations, e.g. large parking lots or empty spaces. (2) The number of emergency medical vehicles, in total and for each possible base location separately. (3) The time threshold(s) for the response time. (4) Further parameters that are only needed for a subset of models as busy fraction(s), service level(s) and reliability factors.

3. Conclusion and Outlook

In this paper we have explained the need for data sets in order to compare approaches for ambulance planning. We have discussed accessible data and presented a set of instances for several German cities and regions. They cover both the network and the grid structure. As some instances are developed for both structures, it is possible to compare approaches that use either one of the structures.

An obvious next step is now to use the instances to test and compare different approaches for the location and relocation of ambulances. Additionally, we want to send the instances to the coordination centers in charge to hopefully get some feedback on how good we modeled practice with our instances.

It would be nice to also include the information on emergency doctors (their locations and numbers) and build models and/or simulations that explicitly take both, ambulances and emergency doctors, into account.

Once we successfully used the instances to compare approaches and studied their applicability for Germany, we plan to make the instances accessible.

References

- Burgess, E. W. (1967). The growth of the city: an introduction to a research project. Ardent Media.
- Chanta, S., Mayorga, M. E., and McLay, L. A. (2014). Improving emergency service in rural areas: a bi-objective covering location model for ems systems. *Annals of Operations Research*, 221(1):133–159.
- Church, R. and ReVelle, C. (1974). The maximal covering location problem. Papers in Regional Science, 32(1):101–118.
- Daskin, M. S. (1983). A maximum expected covering location model: Formulation, properties and heuristic solution. *Transportation Science*, 17(1):48– 70.
- Gendreau, M., Laporte, G., and Semet, F. (2001). A dynamic model and parallel tabu search heuristic for real-time ambulance relocation. *Parallel Computing*, 27(12):1641–1653.
- Gendreau, M., Laporte, G., and Semet, F. (2006). The maximal expected coverage relocation problem for emergency vehicles. *Journal of the Operational Research Society*, 57(1):22–28.
- Harris, C. D. and Ullman, E. L. (1945). The nature of cities. The Annals of the American Academy of Political and Social Science, pages 7–17.

- Hoyt, H. (1939). The structure and growth of residential neighborhoods in american cities.
- Ingolfsson, A. Data from the edmonton ems system. https://www.ualberta.ca/ aingolfs/Data.htm. Accessed: 2015-11-24.
- Rajagopalan, H. K., Saydam, C., and Xiao, J. (2008). A multiperiod set covering location model for dynamic redeployment of ambulances. *Computers* & Operations Research, 35(3):814–826.
- Toregas, C., Swain, R., ReVelle, C., and Bergman, L. (1971). The location of emergency service facilities. *Operations Research*, 19(6):1363–1373.

Modeling Indirect Waiting Times with an M/D/1/K/NQueue

Anne Zander^a

^aInstitute of Operations Research, Karlsruhe Service Research Institute, Karlsruhe Institute of Technology, Karlsruhe, Germany

Abstract

Indirect waiting times or access times of patients are an important indicator for the quality of care of a physician. Indirect waiting times are influenced by the panel size, i.e., the number of patients regularly visiting the physician. To study the nature of this influence we develop an M/D/1/K/N queueing model where we include no-shows and rescheduling. In contrast to previous work, we assume that panel patients do not make new appointments if they are already waiting. For a given panel size we calculate the steady state probabilities for the indirect queue length and further aspects such as the effective arrival rate of patients. We compare those results to the outcomes of a simulation and show that the simplifications we used in the analytical model are verified. The queueing model can help physicians to decide on a panel size threshold in order to maintain a predefined service level with respect to indirect waiting times.

Keywords: Health Services, Panel Size, Traditional Appointment Policy, Access Time, No-shows, Queueing Model

1. Introduction

Appointment planning matches patient demand and health care provider supply. Good reviews of this research area can be found in (Cayirli and Veral,

Email address: anne.zander@kit.edu (Anne Zander)

2009) and (Gupta and Denton, 2008). A more recent review of online appointment planning can be found in Chapter 2 of the PhD thesis (Braaksma, 2015).

Patients can stay informed about health care providers for example through evaluation portals. Hence, there is an incentive for doctors to pay more attention to service aspects such as waiting times. In this paper, we focus on the indirect waiting time or access time, defined as the elapsed time between the moment the appointment is made and the actual appointment time. Long indirect waiting times can lead to a deterioration in patients' health. Some studies also show that they may increase the probability of a patient being a no-show (Gallucci et al., 2005). Consequently, doctors should reduce their indirect waiting times in order to deliver better service to patients and avoid idle time.

For our investigation, we assume that each doctor has a panel, i.e., a group of patients who visit on a regular basis. We also assume that all the demand comes from that panel. The doctor could fix an indirect waiting time service level; e.g., on average, patients should not wait more than two weeks for treatment. Then, the doctor must manage the size of the panel in order to achieve this service level.

Our aim is to model the scheduled appointment queue in order to relate panel sizes to indirect waiting times.

2. Literature

The model presented in this paper is based on one of the models of (Green and Savin, 2008). They present two queuing models (M/D/1/K and M/M/1/K) in order to link the panel size with the average indirect queue length. They assume that appointment requests are only coming from the panel and that they come with a constant rate which is independent of the indirect queue length. Their aim is to find panel sizes which allow the doctor to implement an open access policy where patients can only make appointments for the same day. They presume that an open access system can be installed if the expected probability of getting a same day appointment for a patient is above a certain threshold, e.g., 80%. This means that 80% of the time the indirect queue length is shorter than a day. Given the threshold, an upper bound for the panel size can then be determined.

In (Liu and Ziya, 2014) they decide about the panel size and the offered

capacity in order to maximize profit. There is a fixed reward for treating a patient and they assume costs for overtime.

In (Zacharias and Armony, 2013) both direct and indirect waiting times are considered. Again decisions on panel sizes and capacities offered are made in order to maximize profit.

Further, we mention (Balasubramanian et al., 2010) and (Ozen and Balasubramanian, 2013) where patients are divided into groups representing different demands, e.g., average number of appointment requests per year. In a multi-provider clinic patients can then be relocated from one doctor panel to another in order to achieve a workload balance between the doctors such that a minimum number of patients have to change their doctor.

In contrast to (Green and Savin, 2008), we also want to investigate indirect queues of doctors that operate under a traditional appointment policy, i.e., every patient has to make an appointment in a given planning horizon. In general, the panel sizes under consideration can be bigger than those suitable for open access as waiting times greater than one day are allowed. But then a substantial part of the panel might be waiting in the indirect queue. Assuming that patients waiting do not make new appointments makes it necessary to make the demand rate dependent on the indirect queue length. Hence, our contribution is to extend the model of (Green and Savin, 2008) in order to include the analysis of traditional appointment systems.

3. Model

We present a queueing model and a simulation model which extend the M/D/1/K queueing model and the simulation model presented in (Green and Savin, 2008). We assume a single server queue modeling the appointment schedule and therefore the indirect waiting time. Here, we assume that appointment requests are only coming from the panel and that patients always accept the next available appointment. The difference to (Green and Savin, 2008) is that we assume that patients waiting in the queue will not make new appointments whereas in (Green and Savin, 2008) the rate of appointment requests is constant independent of the queue length. We will use the same notation as in (Green and Savin, 2008). We assume that the doctor can treat a fixed number of patients every day and therefore we assume deterministic service times of length T. By λ we denote the individual patient appointment request rate. We approximate the arrival process for every ser-

vice period as a Poisson process with a parameter dependent on the number of panel patients not waiting or getting treatment. Therefore, the panel size being N, we define $\alpha_i(k) = \frac{(\lambda(N-i)T)^k}{k!}e^{-\lambda(N-i)T}$ as the (approximate) probability that k patients arrive during a service period given that i patients are in the system (waiting or getting treatment). Further, we assume a finite queue capacity of K (corresponding to a finite booking horizon). Following the notation of (Osaki, 1992, p. 233) we denote our model as an M/D/1/K/N queue.

As in (Green and Savin, 2008) we will use a no-show function γ which gives the now-show probability of patients dependent on their indirect waiting time. For tractability reasons we calculate the no-show probability based on the queue length at the time of a patient's treatment rather than on his or her time of arrival. In addition, no-shows will schedule a new appointment with probability r.

With a similar argumentation as in (Green and Savin, 2008), we derive analytical expressions for the stationary distribution of the number of patients in the system, $\pi(k)$ being the probability that $k = 0, \ldots, K$ are in the system. We use $\rho = \lambda NT$.

Proposition 1. The stationary distribution of the number of patients in the system is given by

$$\begin{aligned} \pi(0) &= \frac{1 - r\gamma(K)}{1 - r\gamma(K) + \rho(\sum_{i=0}^{K-1} f(i)) - r\sum_{i=1}^{K-1} (\gamma(K) - \gamma(i))f(i)} \\ \pi(k) &= \frac{(1 - r\gamma(K))f(k)\frac{N}{N-k}}{1 - r\gamma(K) + \rho(\sum_{i=0}^{K-1} f(i)) - r\sum_{i=1}^{K-1} (\gamma(K) - \gamma(i))f(i)}, \\ k &= 1, \dots, K-1 \\ \pi(K) &= 1 - \frac{(1 - r\gamma(K))(\sum_{i=0}^{K-1} f(i)\frac{N}{N-k})}{1 - r\gamma(K) + \rho(\sum_{i=0}^{K-1} f(i)) - r\sum_{i=1}^{K-1} (\gamma(K) - \gamma(i))f(i)} \end{aligned}$$

where f(k) is a recursion with

$$f(0) = 1$$

$$f(1) = \frac{1}{(1 - r\gamma(0))\alpha_0(0)} - 1 = \frac{e^{\rho}}{1 - r\gamma(0)} - 1$$

$$f(k+1) = \frac{1}{(1-r\gamma(k))\alpha_{k+1}(0)} (f(k) - (1-r\gamma(k))\alpha_0(k) - r\gamma(k-1)\alpha_0(k-1)) - \frac{1}{(1-r\gamma(k))\alpha_{k+1}(0)} (\sum_{i=1}^k ((1-r\gamma(k))\alpha_i(k+1-i) + r\gamma(k-1)\alpha_i(k-i))f(i)), k = 1, \dots, K-2$$

We also build a simulation model again following (Green and Savin, 2008) in order to avoid the approximation we used employing the no-show function. Further, the arrival process can be approximated by a binomially distributed random number for every service period. This way we do not make an approximation error for cases when almost the whole population is waiting in the queue. Moreover, as in (Green and Savin, 2008) the assumption that every patient accepts the next free appointment can be relaxed.

4. Numerical Experiments

We use the same parameter settings (see Table 1) as in (Green and Savin, 2008). We assume 20 appointment slots per day.

Parameter	Definition	Value
K	Queue capacity	400
λ	Individual arrival rate	$\frac{0.008}{day}$
T	Service time	0.05days
r	Rescheduling probability	1
γ_0	Min no-show probability	0.01
γ_{max}	Max no-show probability	0.31
C	Sensitivity parameter	50days

Table 1: Parameter settings

We also use the same no-show function: $\gamma(k) = \gamma_{max} - (\gamma_{max} - \gamma_0)e^{-\lfloor kT \rfloor/C}$ where k is the queue length and $\gamma(k)$ the probability of being a no-show. In Figure 1 the average queue length dependent on the panel size is depicted for different models.



Figure 1: Expected queue length for different panel sizes for the two models and the corresponding simulations

The models M/D/1/K and Sim correspond to the models from (Green and Savin, 2008) whereas the models M/D/1/K/N and Sim/N correspond to the models presented in this paper. Both simulations started with an empty queue and were simulated for 40000 warm-up periods (corresponding to 7 years) and 10000 more periods to collect data. The implementation is based on (Koza, 2014). First, our results for the M/D/1/K model differ slightly from the results presented in (Green and Savin, 2008). The fundamental behavior of the curve is the same but the transition from an almost empty to an almost full schedule happens for bigger panel sizes. Comparing the different model approaches, the increase of the M/D/1/K curve is much steeper and happens for smaller panel sizes than the increase of the M/D/1/K/N curve. Further, we see that the difference between the results of the analytical model and the simulation are much smaller in our case.

It is also interesting to note that the queue length distributions are fundamentally different between M/D/1/K and M/D/1/K/N. In Figure 2 queue

length distributions with an expected queue length of circa 200 for the two models are depicted. For the two models this expected queue length is attained for different panel sizes.



Figure 2: Queue length distributions in comparison

In our model the queue length will most likely be found around the expected value whereas for the M/D/1/K model the queue length oscillates between empty and full which is of course an unattractive behavior. It can be shown with the simulation that the initial queue length has a great influence on the queue length even after a lot of simulation periods because the queue either tends to a fully booked schedule or to an empty schedule and then stays there for a long time.

By rate we denote the request rate only generated by the patients not waiting or rescheduling. We assume that patients in the indirect queue do not make new appointments. That means that for long indirect queues patients in the queue do not make appointments but they would if they were not already waiting. We call this the hidden demand. Hence, the demand seems smaller than it should actually be. Conversely, due to the effect of rescheduling (also more prominent for long indirect queues) there is an extra demand in addition to the rate leading to a higher effective demand rate. Moreover, it is important to note that patients get rejected when the indirect queue is very long. In Table 2 we quantify those effects for different panel sizes. The calculations of the effects are based on the analytical model.

Effect/Panel size	2500	2600	2700	2800
Average rate	19.21	18.16	18.52	19.26
Average hidden demand rate	0.79	2.64	3.08	3.14
Average effective rate	19.97	20.04	20.63	21.41
Proportion of rejected patients	0.00	0.00	0.03	0.07
Proportion of no-shows	0.04	0.09	0.11	0.11

Table 2: Effects for different panel sizes, rates are measured per day

As you can see in Table 2, the average rate does not change much for large panel sizes but the effective rate increases due to the increasing proportion of no-shows that reschedule. In addition, the hidden demand rate increases substantially and the proportion of rejected patients is significant starting from a panel size of around 2600. This shows that a doctor should not only consider the average indirect waiting time but also the proportion of rejected patients and the hidden demand rate as those are indicators for a possible lack of care.

5. Conclusion and Outlook

We present a queueing model and a simulation model in order to connect panel sizes with the distribution of indirect waiting times. The model can help doctors operating under the traditional appointment policy to decide about a maximal panel size in order to achieve a service level with respect to their indirect waiting times and other effects such as the proportion of rejected patients and the hidden demand rate. Mathematically, the contribution of this paper is the analytical distribution of an M/D/1/K/N queue where the arrival rate is dependent on the queue length.

Possible future work on the model include a sensitivity analysis for the model parameters and numerical experiments considering measures such as seeing a given share of the patients in a fixed time period. Then, other patient behaviors such as balking, rescheduling directly (even if not being a no-show) if the queue is very long or leaving the panel because of long indirect waiting times could be integrated. Moreover, patients could book several appointments at a time. They may not always book the next available appointment. In general, physicians do not operate under a purely traditional appointment system (only patients with appointments are treated) but also allow for walk-ins, e.g., urgent cases. This option should be included in the model considering that the longer the indirect queue the more likely patients will just walk-in. Furthermore, the idea of (Balasubramanian et al., 2010) and (Ozen and Balasubramanian, 2013) that patients belong to different demand groups could be integrated. Then, not only the panel size but also the case mix is relevant. In addition, the model could be extended to a vacation queueing system as in (Creemers and Lambrecht, 2009a) and (Creemers and Lambrecht, 2009b).

References

- Balasubramanian, H., Banerjee, R., Denton, B., Naessens, J., and Stahl, J. (2010). Improving clinical access and continuity through physician panel redesign. *Journal of general internal medicine*, 25(10):1109–15.
- Braaksma, A. (2015). Timely and Efficient planning of TReatments through Intelligent Scheduling. PhD thesis, University of Twente.
- Cayirli, T. and Veral, E. (2009). Outpatient Scheduling in Health Care: a Review of Literature. *Production and Operations Management*, 12(4):519– 549.
- Creemers, S. and Lambrecht, M. (2009a). An advanced queueing model to analyze appointment-driven service systems. *Computers & Operations Research*, 36(10):2773–2785.
- Creemers, S. and Lambrecht, M. (2009b). Queueing models for appointmentdriven systems. *Annals of Operations Research*, 178(1):155–172.
- Gallucci, G., Swartz, W., and Hackerman, F. (2005). Impact of the wait for an initial appointment on the rate of kept appointments at a mental health center. *Psychiatric services (Washington, D.C.)*, 56(3):344–6.
- Green, L. V. and Savin, S. (2008). Reducing Delays for Medical Appointments: A Queueing Approach. Operations Research, 56(6):1526–1538.
- Gupta, D. and Denton, B. (2008). Appointment scheduling in health care: Challenges and opportunities. *IIE Transactions*, 40(9):800–819.
- Koza, D. F. (2014). Appointment Scheduling for Medical Practices. Master's thesis, Karlsruhe Institute of Technology.

- Liu, N. and Ziya, S. (2014). Panel size and overbooking decisions for appointment-based services under patient no-shows. *Production and Operations Management*, 23(12):2209–2223.
- Osaki, S. (1992). Applied stochastic system modeling. Springer, Berlin.
- Ozen, A. and Balasubramanian, H. (2013). The impact of case mix on timely access to appointments in a primary care group practice. *IIE Transactions*, 16(2):101–18.
- Zacharias, C. and Armony, M. (2013). Joint Panel Sizing and Appointment Scheduling in Outpatient Care. Working paper 5.6. 1.

Performance evaluation of closed-loop logistics systems with generally distributed service times

Martin Epp^a, Paolo Pagani^a, Judith Stoll^a, Sebastian Scherer^a, Carsten Rohlehr^a, Kai Furmans^a

^aKarlsruhe Institute of Technology Institute for Material Handling and Logistics

Abstract

The performance evaluation of hospital logistics is becoming more and more important to guarantee efficient services in health establishments. Therefore, we propose a new discrete-time approach for the steady-state analysis of closed-loop queueing systems with arbitrary topology and generally distributed service times. Based on a finite Markov chain, it is possible to compute the complete cycle time distribution of service systems with a population constraint. In addition, the distribution of the number of customers at each service station can be obtained. The method is applied to the analysis of a sterilization process of medical devices. To verify the method, we compare the results of our discrete-time approach to the results that are obtained by a simulation model.

Keywords: Performance evaluation, Queueing networks, Closed-loop, General service process, Cycle time distribution, Hospital logistics

1. Introduction

As health establishments are faced with growing health expenses, more and more research is done in order to make service processes more efficient. Therefore, some authors started with the performance analysis of support services

Email address: martin.epp@kit.edu (Martin Epp)

in health establishments, e.g., the sterilization of medical devices. Starting with a simulation model of a generic sterilization process (see Di Mascolo et al. (2009)), analytical methods which were previously used to analyze the material flow in production systems, were applied to analyze the sterilization service in health establishments (see Matzka (2011), Stoll and Di Mascolo (2013)). Discrete-time queueing models have been used as a method to achieve a fast and quite accurate way of determining performance figures of service systems. While with classical general queueing models in continuous-time domain, characteristic values are calculated only on the basis of means and variances (for a detailed overview of methods for closed queueing networks see Lagershausen (2012)), in discrete-time modeling all input and output variables are described with discrete probability distributions. This enables the derivation of quantiles of performance measures, which are often needed for the design of logistics systems.



Figure 1: Representation of a sterilization process (see Matzka $\left(2011\right)$) as a closed queueing system

In the previous works, the sterilization process was modeled as an open discrete-time queueing network, as the according discrete-time queueing models were only applicable to open networks (see Matzka (2011), Stoll and Di Mascolo (2013)). As the sterilization process becomes a loop when the use-step is integrated (see figure 1), a more realistic model is achieved, when the sterilization of medical devices is modeled as a closed queueing network. In this paper, we present a method for the performance evaluation of closedloop queueing systems in discrete-time domain with generally distributed service times that can be used to analyze the sterilization process of health establishments.

2. System description

The system under investigation is a closed queueing system in discrete-time domain with arbitrary topology. It consists of V stations with one server and one waiting room each, as well as K customers that circulate in the system. The routing of the customers to the subsequent stations depends on the routing matrix D. Its generic element $d_{h,i}$ defines the probability to be routed from station h to station i. The system is observed at equally spaced time periods with a length of t_{inc} . It is assumed that the beginning and the end of service as well as the routing to the subsequent stations take place immediately prior to the periods. The customers that cannot be processed immediately stay in the waiting room, which has infinite queueing capacities, and are served based on a first come first serve discipline. The service time at station i is assumed to be independent and identically distributed (i.i.d.) according to the random variable B_i , where $b_{i,j}$ denotes the probability that B_i takes value j. Furthermore, the service time distributions have finite upper supports $b_{i,max}$. The performance measures of interest are the distribution of the number of customers K_i in the stations at random periods and the total cycle time distribution S through the system starting from station i, i.e., that for each customer the entry in that station determines the end of the current cycle time and the beginning of a new one. A closed queueing system, which will be used in the following section to clarify the algorithm to determine the performance measures, is depicted in figure 2.

3. Computation of the performance measures

3.1. Steady-state probability computation

To obtain the performance measures, a finite Markov chain which governs the behavior of the system by $2 \cdot V$ parameters is created. V parameters k_i are needed to define the number of customers at each station and V more r_i to define the residual time of their currently served customer ($r_i = 0$ if there are no customers in the i^{th} station). As a result, a system state can be represented as follows:

$$z = (r_1 r_2 \dots r_V \quad k_1 k_2 \dots k_V)$$

with $r_i \in \{0, 1, \dots, b_{i,max}\}, k_i \in \{0, 1, \dots, \hat{K}\}, i \in \{1, \dots, V\}$ (1)

For example, the system state of the queueing network depicted in figure 2, is defined by z = (1 1 1 1 1).



Figure 2: Example of a closed queueing system

The possible system states are determined iteratively by starting from one initial possible state and by computing all the possible states for the next time period. In particular, the beginning of a new time period reduces the residual time of each customer in service by 1 and the end of the service (r_i) from 1 to 0) leads to a customer transition to a subsequent station. If a new service starts, the residual time can assume any value of the service time distribution B_i . The routing of the leaving customers is dependent on the routing matrix D, whereas the residual time at the beginning of a service is dependent on the service time distribution B_i . The combination of the possible customer transitions and new residual times determines the possible number of new states, while the routing probabilities and probability distribution of the service times are used to determine the transition probabilities to the correspondent subsequent states. If new states are found, the same reasoning is applied to them to find new states, otherwise the iteration stops. At the end of the iterations, all N possible states are found and denoted as z_n and their set \mathcal{Z} is created. The state transition matrix U can be then computed, i.e., a matrix which contains the probabilities $u_{m,n}$ to go from the state z_m to z_n in the next time period. Once the matrix U is defined, the steady-state probabilities p_n can be computed using standard techniques like the Power Method (Bolch et al., 1998) or the ones explained in Stewart (2009).

3.2. Distribution of the number of customers K_i

The distribution of the number of customers K_i in station *i* at random periods can directly be obtained from the steady-state probabilities. Hereby, $k_{i,j}$ Martin Epp, Paolo Pagani, Judith Stoll, Sebastian Scherer, Carsten Rohlehr and Kai Furmans

denotes the probability that K_i takes value j.

$$k_{i,j} = \sum_{\forall z_n \mid k_i = j} p_n \tag{2}$$

3.3. Calculation of the total cycle time distribution S through a chosen station \hat{i}

To obtain the total cycle time distribution S, the computation of the contribution S_n to the cycle time for each state z_n is carried out. The method uses a similar strategy as Colledani et al. (2015), where the computation of time distributions starts when a new customer enters the considered subsystem and ends when it leaves the subsystem. In our case, the computation starts when a new customer enters station \hat{i} and ends when he comes back to station \hat{i} . In particular, for each z_n the set of the following states \mathcal{Z}_n^0 (referring to the period t = 0 of the cycle time computation) is computed along with their probability $p_{n,m}^0$ (with $m \in \{1, ..., M_n^0\}$ and M_n^0 the state number contained in \mathcal{Z}_n^0).

In order to track the customers through the system, a new state vector a_n^t , which contains also the station number i_s and the position i_p in the station, must be used. The position i_p takes value 1 if the customer is in service and value 2, ..., \hat{K} when he waits for service. The vector represents a generic state after t periods which has been originated from the n^{th} state of the system. As a result, a system state can be represented as follows:

$$a_n^t = (r_1 r_2 \dots r_V \quad k_1 k_2 \dots k_V \quad i_s i_p)$$

with $r_i \in \{0, 1, \dots, b_{i,max}\}, k_i \in \{0, 1, \dots, \hat{K}\},$
 $i_s \in \{1, \dots, V\}, i_p \in \{1, \dots, \hat{K}\}, i \in \{1, \dots, V\}$ (3)

A new set \mathcal{A}_n^0 is created. It contains all the states at t=0 originated from z_n , which are identified with the index $q \in \{1, ..., Q_n^0\}$, where Q_n^0 is the number of states in \mathcal{A}_n^0 . They are filled according to the following procedure:

• The transitions from the state z_n to all states $z_{n,m}^0$, i.e., the ones included in \mathcal{Z}_n^0 , are considered.

- For each transition, if no customer enters the station \hat{i} , no states are added to \mathcal{A}_n^0 .
- If c customers have just entered the station *î*, c state vectors a_n⁰ are added to A_n⁰. Those vectors are created in the following way: the first 2 · V parameters coincide with the correspondent vector in Z_n⁰, the station number i_s equals *î* and the corresponding probability p_{n,q}⁰ coincides with the probability p_{n,m}⁰ of the correspondent state in Z_n⁰. They only differ for i_p, since the customer of interest may enter the station as the 1st, ..., cth customer.

For the previously depicted queueing system (see figure 2), a numerical example of the computation of the set \mathcal{A}_1^0 is provided in figure 3, i.e., for set $\mathcal{A}_{n=1}^0$ that comes out from the first system state. For the sake of simplicity, the probabilities at each step are computed as if $p_1 = 1$, but in general $p_n < 1$.



Figure 3: Numerical example of the computation of the set A_n^0

At this point, the cycle time distribution $S_{n,q}$ for each state of \mathcal{A}_n^0 , namely the probability that the tracked customer returns to the station i at each time period, must be computed as follows:

- 1. Initialize t=0 and create the set $\mathcal{A}_{n,q}^0$.
- 2. Add a copy of $a_{n,q}^0$ to the new set and assign a correspondent unitary probability to it. That new state is denoted as $\hat{a}_{n,q,1}^0$
- 3. Increment to $t = t + t_{inc}$.
- 4. Considering all the states of $\hat{\mathcal{A}}_{n,q}^{t-t_{inc}}$, determine the states for the current time step. It must be considered that if the tracked customer leaves a station, the i_s and i_p indexes must be recomputed accordingly. Add the

new states to the set $\hat{\mathcal{A}}_{n,q}^t$. The index $w \in \{1, ..., W_{n,q}^t\}$ denotes each state $\hat{a}_{n,q,w}^t$, whereas $W_{n,q}^t$ corresponds to the total number of states included in $\hat{\mathcal{A}}_{n,q}^t$.

- 5. Determine the correspondent probabilities $p_{n,q,w}^t$ of the new states by considering the routing probabilities and service time probability distribution of all stations which serve a new customer.
- 6. If the tracked customer arrives at a station simultaneously with n other customers, all n + 1 possible positions i_p must be considered and, as a result, n + 1 different states must be added to $\hat{\mathcal{A}}_{n,q}^t$. Furthermore, the correspondent probability must be equally split and shared among those n + 1 states.
- 7. If the tracked customer has just returned to station \hat{i} , add its probability $p_{n,q,w}^t$ to $S_{n,q}$ in the t^{th} position and delete the state from $\hat{\mathcal{A}}_{n,q}^t$.
- 8. Repeat the algorithm from step (3) until the set $\hat{\mathcal{A}}_{n,q}^t$ is empty or the total probability of its states is smaller than a given ϵ (in case of a possible infinite cycle time).

For the previously depicted queueing system (see figure 2), a numerical example of the computation of $S_{1,1}$ is provided in figure 4.



Figure 4: Numerical example of the computation of the cycle time distribution $S_{n,q}$

Once all the cycle time distributions of the tracked customers $S_{n,q}$ are computed, the cycle time distribution S_n of the n^{th} state is computed as follows:

$$S_n = \frac{\sum_{q=1}^{Q_n^0} p_{n,q}^0 S_{n,q}}{\sum_{q=1}^{Q_n^0} p_{n,q}^0}$$
(4)

The numerator results in a weighted sum of the cycle time distributions $S_{n,q}$, while the denominator normalizes the sum in such a way that the sum of the vector elements is equal to 1. In order to exactly compute the overall cycle time distribution S through the station \hat{i} , the cycle time contributions of all states are combined with the following formula:

$$S = \frac{\sum_{n=1}^{N} p_n S_n}{\sum_{n=1}^{N} p_n}$$
(5)

4. Numerical evaluation

In the following section, we apply the presented calculation method to the analysis of a sterilization process of medical devices. In a sterilization process, reusable medical devices are re-injected in the process after their use in the operation room. When we integrate the use step, the sterilization process becomes a sterilization loop as seen in figure 1.

	Process Steps							
t_{inc}	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	
1	0	0.5	1.0	0	0.9	0.1	0	
2	0.1	0.5	0	0	0.1	0.9	0	
3	0.3	0	0	0	0	0	1.0	
4	0.1	0	0	1.0	0	0	0	
5	0.2	0	0	0	0	0	0	
6	0.3	0	0	0	0	0	0	

Table 1: Discrete probability distributions of the single process steps

The pre-disinfection step is done directly after the use in the operation room. The medical devices are placed in a disinfectant liquid to decrease the population of micro-organisms present on the soiled equipment, in order to protect the staff during the manipulation and to facilitate the later washing. During the pre-disinfection step, the used medical devices (MDs) are transferred from the operation rooms down to the sterilization area. At the sterilization area, the MDs are rinsed. Furthermore, the MDs are washed in machines to eliminate stains to obtain a clean medical device. After washing, the MDs are packed into containers or bags to constitute a barrier against microorganisms. In the sterilization step, the MDs are placed in an autoclave where they are treated with saturated steam. After the sterilization, the MDs are stored close to the operating rooms.



Figure 5: Comparison of analytical and simulation results of a closed network with 6 customers

In table 1, exemplary service time distributions of the single process steps are given $(t_{inc} = 10min)$. We used this input data in order to compare the results of the discrete-time model with the ensemble averages of 10 independent replications of a discrete-event simulation that models the same assumptions as the analytical model. Each replication contains 10,000,000 customer cycles. We analyzed the closed queuing network with 2 to 6 MDs in the system. Figure 5 shows the probability distributions of the cycle time and the number of customers in queueing system 1 when the network contains 6 customers. Table 2 gives the results for the mean cycle time E(S), the 95 % quantile of the cycle time $S_{0.95}$, the average number of MDs $E(K_1)$ in queueing system 1, and the probability $k_{1,0}$ that at station 1 zero MDs are present. For each parameter, we can see that the analytical results are equal to the simulation results, as our method is exact. We can see, that for 6 MDs, queueing system 1 is only empty in 0.34% of the cases and MDs are ready for use. Besides, we provide the total computation time for the analytical model and the simulation. We can see, that for 6 customers in the network, the analytical computation time for all parameters is already half of the simulation length. But note, that the computation of the system states only needs 1.4% of the total computing time. Therefore, our method provides performance figures in an acceptable time.

	$E(S)[t_{inc}]$		$S_{0.95}[t_{inc}]$		$E(K_1)[cust.]$		$k_{1,0}[\%]$		Comp. time [s]	
\hat{K}	Ana.	Sim.	Ana.	Sim.	Ana.	Sim.	Ana.	Sim.	Ana.	Sim.
2	15.59	15.59	18	18	0.57	0.57	44.83	44.83	0.43	434.92
3	16.24	16.24	19	19	0.90	0.90	20.58	20.58	4.44	408.58
4	18.21	18.21	22	22	1.39	1.39	5.56	5.56	9.00	450.75
5	21.78	21.77	26	26	2.08	2.08	1.26	1.26	54.32	396.04
6	25.89	25.89	31	31	2.92	2.92	0.34	0.34	224.36	401.20

Table 2: Performance parameters for networks with 2 to 6 customers

5. Conclusion

In this paper, we propose a new approach for the steady-state analysis of closed-loop queueing systems with arbitrary topology and generally distributed service times. Based on a discrete-time Markov chain, the method provides an exact computation of the cycle time distribution and the distribution of the number of customers at each service station. The method is applied to the analysis of a sterilization process of medical devices. Moreover, we verify the results of our model by comparison to a discrete-event simulation. Future work will be dedicated to the extension of the approach to systems with finite queueing capacities and the application of this approach to case studies in health establishments.

References

- Bolch, G., Greiner, S., de Meer, H., and Trivedi, K. S. (1998). Queueing Networks and Markov Chains: Modeling and Performance Evaluation with Computer Science Applications. John Wiley & Sons, Inc.
- Colledani, M., Angius, A., Horvath, A., and Gershwin, S. B. (2015). Lead time dependent product deterioration in manufacturing systems with serial, assembly and closed-loop layout. In 10th conference on stochastic models of manufacturing and service operations, Volos, Greece.
- Di Mascolo, M., Gouin, A., and Ngo Cong, K. (2009). A generic model for the performance evaluation of centralized sterilization services. In 7th conference on stochastic models of manufacturing and service operations, Ostuni, Italy.

- Lagershausen, S. (2012). Performance Analysis of Closed Queueing Networks. Lecture Notes in Economics and Mathematical Systems (663). Springer.
- Matzka, J. (2011). Discrete Time Analysis of Multi-Server Queueing Systems in Material Handling and Service. PhD thesis, Karlsruhe Institute of Technology.
- Stewart, W. J. (2009). Probability, Markov chains, queues, and simulation : the mathematical basis of performance modeling. Princeton Univ. Press.
- Stoll, J. and Di Mascolo, M. (2013). Queueing analysis of the production of sterile medical devices by means of discrete-time queueing models. In 9th conference on stochastic models of manufacturing and service operations, Seeon, Germany.

Towards a Process Meta-Model

Tobias Weller^a, Maria Maleshkova^a

^aInstitute AIFB, Karlsruhe Institute of Technology (KIT)

Abstract

Process modelling has a long and established research tradition, in the context of formally capturing sequences of activities, as well as the involved parties and the exchanged data. It will, without a doubt, continue to play a major role in the context of supporting the development of added-value services industry 4.0. In the medical domain, clinical pathways are a specific form of process modelling. They are an evidence-based response to particular problems and care needs in clinics. Current developers and latest technologies, improve and refine, among others, also the expressivity of clinical pathways. As a result, advanced pathways modelling optimises the treatment procedures in clinics (i.e. by reducing the stay of a patient or the mortality rates). However, as a side-effect of this trend, clinical pathways become increasingly complex and it becomes harder to keep up to date with the latest published processes. In oder to address the challenge of analysing clinical pathways, we provide an approach to capture information about activities and annotate the modelled pathways with references to external data sources. We demonstrate the practical applicability of our approach by using our system to model an actual clinical pathway, and enrich it with metainformation and references to external data sources, such as PubMed. We show the use and expressivity of our data model by querying the captured data.

Keywords: Medical Services, Process Modeling, Business Process Model and Notation, Clinical Pathways, Semantic Media Wiki

Preprint submitted to Elsevier

January 20, 2016

Email addresses: tobias.weller@kit.edu (Tobias Weller), maria.maleshkova@kit.edu (Maria Maleshkova)

1. Introduction

Clinical Pathways are guidelines used in clinics to support physicians by providing recommendations of the sequence and timing of actions necessary to achieve an efficient treatment of patients Panella et al. (2003); Kinsman et al. (2010). They are evidence-based and use insights of former treatments of patients. However, due to the increasing volumes of data and developments in the medical domain, the clinical pathways become more complex. Each clinic has its own pathway based on its evidence and experience. Therefore, there are multiple pathways available that target different problems and care needs Zand (2002); Kris Vanhaecht et al. (2006); Hindle and Yazbeck (2005). They can be distinguished in their degree of complexity, in execution, and can be grouped according to the specific problems and care needs that they target. In order to capture meta-information about clinical pathways and activities, to compare, analyse and group them, we present a system that allows to capture meta-information about the activities. This information can be used to provide healthcare services i.e. planning resources and improve the outcome of clinical pathways.

We demonstrate the applicability of our solution by modelling a concrete perioperative pathway. The used methods and an overview of the system are described in Section 2. Overall, we address the following research questions: 1. How can we capture meta-information in clinical pathways?

2. How can we implement the infrastructure necessary for storing, accessing, and processing the meta-information?

We show that our approach is easy to use and extensible to capture further meta-information (Section 2). Furthermore, we show that our approach is sufficient to query and process the captured information (Section 3). A short discussion and lessons learned are given in Section 5.

2. Material and Methods

Our approach to capture meta-information is hierarchical (Figure 1 illustrates our hierarchical model). The hierarchy has at least two levels. The highest level (Level 1) represents an abstract element of a modelling language. The elements in the following levels inherit from elements located in the previous level. Therefore, each attribute modelled in the superclass, is available in the subclass. The relationship between the superclass and its subclasses is 1: n. Hence, a subclass does not inherit from multiple superclasses, but a superclass can be used as a generalisation for multiple subclasses.



Figure 1: Hierarchical model to capture meta-information.

The elements in the second level (Level 2) inherit from the abstract element. Therefore, each attribute modelled in the superclass is available in the subclass. Usually modelling languages consists of nodes (Flow Elements) and edges (Connecting Element) between the nodes. These two kind of elements are arranged in the second level (Level 2) of our meta-model. Some modelling languages (i.e. BPMN) distinguish between more elements than Flow Objects and Connecting Objects. These additional objects can be arranged in Level 2. Following, more levels can be append and enriched with elements that inherit from elements located in the previous level. The specific inheritance depends on the chosen modelling language. I.e. BPMN distinguish between three flow elements: events, activities, and gateways. These elements are arranged in a following layer (Level 3) in the hierarchical meta-model. However, a Petri net distinguish only between places and transitions.

The last level (Context Level) is an optional level that allows to create use case-specific distinctions of each element from the last layer. For instance tasks in clinics can be divided into preoperative and surgical tasks.

3. Evaluation

For validation of our approach, we applied the hierarchical model to capture meta-information about a perioperative pathway. Figure 2 shows the perioperative process modelled in BPMN.



Figure 2: Perioperative process, modelled in BPMN.

We use a Semantic Media Wiki¹ to capture the activities, workflow and the meta-information. SMW is an open-source collaborative knowledge management system to store and query data. We used Semantic Forms² to provide forms in order to facilitate the input of meta-information.



Figure 3: Extract of the implemented hierarchical meta-model.

Figure 3 illustrates the links and inheritances of the semantic forms. Forms from successive levels inherit from their superclass and consist of the form of the superclass enriched with attributes, captured on this hierarchical level.

¹https://semantic-mediawiki.org

²https://www.mediawiki.org/wiki/Extension:Semantic_Forms

On the top level (Element) we introduced the attributes *Label*, *Comment* and *Reference*. Forms in the lower level inherit from this form and enrich it with further attributes. Thus in the form Flow Objects we introduced the attributes *Responsible Person*, *Goal*, *Condition* and *Guideline*. Some attributes can be mandatory, allow only specific values or have multiple manifestations. For instance we choose *Responsible Person* as a mandatory attribute. Thereby, each flow object is connected to a responsible person, so that in case of doubt one has a contact person.

On the lowest level there are twelve attributes. We use an existing classification Braun et al. (2014) to classify different medical tasks in more detail on the context level. They slightly differ in their attributes. Thus, the Therapy Task has an attribute *Planned Therapy*, and the Diagnosis Task has an attribute *Supposed Disease*.

We enrich the BPMN elements with meta-information according to the provided forms. As a results, we can query for the following information:

1) Total runtime of the complete process; 2) Number of Elements contained in the process; 3) Responsible person, for specific tasks and processes; 4) Number of decisions within a process. The structured data in the SMW is stored in Resource Description Framework (RDF). Elements in RDF are represented by HTTP URIS We can use SPARQL³ in order to retrieve queries on the data. SPARQL is a semantic query language for RDF. A concrete SPARQL query to request the total runtime of the perioperative process is given in the following.

PREFIX aifb: <http://aifb-ls3-vm2.aifb.kit.edu>

SELECT sum(?runtime) WHERE {
aifb:BPMNProcess_Perioperative
aifb:Property-3AHas_element ?Element .
?Element aifb:Property-3AHas_Runtime ?runtime .}

4. Related Work

The Dublin Core Schema⁴ consists of a set of metadata terms that can be used to describe resources. However, it does not stipulate the model that must be used.

³http://www.w3.org/TR/rdf-sparql-query/ ⁴http://dublincore.org

The Learning Object Metadata (LOM) is an open standard, published by the Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers (IEEE), to describe learning objects. Learning objects are the smallest contents in which learning sources can be resolved. The LOM stipulates the attributes and their connection. The structure of LOM consists of nine categories but they are not arranged in a hierarchy.

The Computational Independent Metamodel (CIM) Yang et al. (2009); Kutsche et al. (2008) describes scenario requirements. It abstracts from the business process and data flow model. Platform specific metamodels (PSMM) describe technical aspects of systems including the structure, behaviour and communication of the interfaces. PSMM supports information like interface semantics, remote addresses, signatures and communication properties Yang et al. (2009); Kutsche et al. (2008). In contrast, Platform Independent Metamodels (PIMM) Yang et al. (2009); Kutsche et al. (2008) abstract from platform-specific properties and interface descriptions.

A semantic meta-model by Yang et al. (2009) represents the information in a graph, similar to RDF. Subjects and objects are modelled as classes and linked via predicates. The meta-model contains predefined predicates, but can be extended with specific predicates.

5. Conclusions

The long-term goal of our work is to develop a system that analyses processes, while making use of all available knowledge. To this end, we introduced a new concept for modelling, processing, and accessing meta-information. The used approach abstracts away from a specific modelling language. Moreover, it is adaptable to different use case scenarios.

We actively use the presented infrastructure for data collection and processing. SMW provides a suitable environment to model, store and access metainformation about processes and allows references to external data sources. In order to investigate the benefit of our approach, we will focus on capturing further processes in the medical domain, as well as in other domains.

Future work includes the analysis of processes with respect to uncertainty. Clinical pathways have already been analysed in previous works, i.e. Yang et al. (2012), however we will not focus on clinical pathways in particular but on processes in general.

In conclusion, we introduced a hierarchical meta-model to capture meta-information in processes.
References

- Braun, R., Schlieter, H., Burwitz, M., and Esswein, W. (2014). Bpmn4cp: Design and implementation of a bpmn extension for clinical pathways. In *Bioinformatics and Biomedicine (BIBM), 2014 IEEE International Conference on*, pages 9–16.
- Hindle, D. and Yazbeck, A. (2005). Clinical pathways in 17 european union countries: a purposive survey. *Australian Health Review*, 29(1):94–104.
- Kinsman, L., Rotter, T., James, E., Snow, P., and Willis, J. (2010). What is a clinical pathway? development of a definition to inform the debate. *BMC Medicine*, 8(31).
- Kris Vanhaecht, K., Bollmann, M., Bower, K., Gallagher, C., Gardini, A., Guezo, J., Jansen, U., Massoud, R., Moody, K., Sermeus, W., Zelm, R., Whittle, C., Yazbeck, A. M., Zander, K., and Panella, M. (2006). Prevalence and use of clinical pathways in 23 countries — an international survey by the european pathway association. *International Journal of Care Co*ordination, 10(1):28–34.
- Kutsche, R., Milanovic, N., Bauhoff, G., Baum, T., Cartsburg, M., Kumpe, D., and Widiker, J. (2008). Bizycle: Model-based interoperability platform for software and data integration. In *Proceedings of the MDTPI at ECMDA*.
- Panella, M., Marchisio, S., and Di Stanislao, F. (2003). Reducing clinical variations with clinical pathways: do pathways work? *International Jour*nal for Quality in Health Care, 15(6):509–521.
- Yang, J., Ginige, A., Mayr, H., and Kutsche, R.-D., editors (2009). Metamodeling Foundation for Software and Data Integration, volume 20 of Lecture Notes in Business Information Processing. Springer Berlin Heidelberg.
- Yang, X., Han, R., Guo, Y., Bradley, J., Cox, B., Dickinson, R., and Kitney, R. (2012). Modelling and performance analysis of clinical pathways using the stochastic process algebra pepa. *BMC Bioinformatics*, 13(14):S4–S4.
- Zand, e. K. (2002). Integrated care pathways: eleven international trends. International Journal of Care Coordination, 6(3):101–107.

Participation & Crowd Services

Shouldn't Collaboration be social? - Proposal of a social Real Time Delphi

Simon Kloker^a, Tobias Kranz^a, Tim Straub^a, Christof Weinhardt^a

 $^{a}Karlsruhe \ Institute \ of \ Technology$

Abstract

Real Time Delphi (RTD) is an advanced online implementation of the Delphi Method (DM), designed to speed up the period of time needed to conduct a survey using nowadays internet technology. However its overall design is still very restricted and does not leverage the full potential for collaboration of this new Information and Communications Technology (ICT) channel. In this paper we propose two design elements that introduce social interaction in RTD to leverage positive effects, while not harming anonymity as a key feature of the DM. The contribution of this work is to enhance the RTD Method in a way that allows anonymous but social interaction amongst participants, addressing weaknesses of the current method regarding drop-outs of participants and the organizing and control of content.

Keywords: Participation and Crowd Services, Real Time Delphi, Anonymity, Forecasting, Survey Design

1. Introduction

Since the introduction of the internet the ways we collaborate changed enormously. The DM is a special survey design, developed in the 1950s, aiming to synthesize the expert judgments and create a group consensus (Turoff,

Email addresses: simon.kloker@kit.edu (Simon Kloker), kranz@kit.edu (Tobias Kranz), tim.straub@kit.edu (Tim Straub), weinhardt@kit.edu (Christof Weinhardt)

1970). In the beginnings this collaboration took place with paper and pencil. Remote experts had to be included postal. Due to the internet and its new possibilities the DM became "online" (Linstone and Turoff, 2011), but the process itself did not change and therefore all weaknesses of the old process were adopted. One shortcoming in the method is the long time period that is needed to carry out a Delphi Study, which sometimes may take several months (Landeta et al., 2008). This issue was addressed by Gordon and Pease (2006) with the Real Time Delphi (RTD) Approach. However, we argue that the full potential of online collaboration for the DM is not yet harnessed and propose to improve the method with two social elements, without harming anonymity, one of its key characteristics. The first proposed element is the possibility to label arguments by a fixed set of labels. Second, we propose to enrich the arguments with a generated user name which is only valid within one question. We argue that this two elements help self organizing of the content as well as create a higher sense of social presence which raise quality of discussion and lower drop-out rates. Therefore we form following hypotheses:

- H1: Introducing labeling and generated user names in RTD increases perceived social presence.
- H2: Social presence in RTD lowers the drop-out rate.
- H3: Introducing labeling helps structuring the discussion and improves usability.

The paper is structured as follows: In section 2 a brief theoretical background on DM, RTD and online collaboration in general is given. Section 3 examines how social presence can positively affect RTD. Section 4 explains the proposed design of a social RTD (sRTD). Finally, the paper will finish with a conclusion and outlook.

2. Background

2.1. Delphi Method and Real Time Delphi

According to Dalkey et al. (1969) three main features are characterizing the DM: i) *anonymity*, ii) *controlled feedback*, and iii) *statistical group response*. The first feature reduces the effect of dominant individuals in the group, so



Figure 1: Controlled Feedback Loop of Delphi Method

that pressure to conformity or reputation do not affect the truthful revelation of opinions. Controlled feedback as the second feature aims to reduce noise. The third characteristic, the statistical group response lowers group pressure on conformity and reassures that the opinion of every member is represented in the final response. Statistical group response is usually provided as the mean, the number and the variance of all estimations or another suitable visualization of the distribution of the estimations. Landeta et al. (2008) and Rowe and Wright (1999) add a fourth characteristic, the "iterative process". The basic idea is that the controlled feedback loop creates consensus between the experts in the Delphi study as a result of that the experts can adapt their opinion in each loop and react to the arguments and summarized judgments of the group. The process is illustrated in figure 1.

In contrast to the pure implementation of the DM as an online process, the RTD approach changes the feedback loop, so that a participant can see the responses of the group members immediately after he has given his first opinion (and optionally an additional argument). There is no explicit second round, but the participant has the option to return at any point of time and change his submitted judgement. By then others may have contributed or adapted their opinions so averages or medians have changed (Gordon, 2008). As the online channel completely hides the identity of the participants it is also possible to conduct RTD synchronously in conference rooms or the like. Additionally the RTD technique is a way to open the DM for larger panel sizes as distribution and collection of the questionnaires is not necessary and there are no additional cost of more participants (especially in remote locations) (Linstone and Turoff, 2011). According to Gnatzy et al. (2011) the DM and RTD produce similar results. To our knowledge in none of the existing implementations of RTD or accompanying research and publications the enhancement of the method in terms of social elements is considered or discussed. Major other contributions to RTD where made by Gordon (2008) and Gnatzy et al. (2011). In Gordon (2008) the focus is laid to argue that all key features of the DM are completely implemented. Gnatzy et al. (2011) introduced visual feedback as well as a *consensus portal* that is basically an overview on the questionnaire, that signalizes where ones opinion is in line with the group or where there is strong disagreement.

2.2. Online Collaboration

"Collaboration begins with interaction" (Murphy, 2004, p. 422). The awareness of social presence in online settings makes people to interact as a group which enriches interaction and the sense of community. In a collaborative community members do not only share perspectives, but are starting to challenge other opinions, reshape their own, and restructure their thinking. This process leads finally to a *shared meaning* (which is also characteristic to the DM). However, social presence in online collaboration has the ability to start some more processes: New perspectives and meanings as well as shared goals can evolve (Roschelle and Teasley, 1995). Especially second is interesting, as it leads to the production of shared artifacts and the intention to "add value" (Kaye, 1992). It is not yet discussed, if these processes lead ultimately to better results in every case, but intuitively one would say, that it may improve the result in some dimension. Leveraging this improvement for RTD has not yet happened and Linstone and Turoff (2011) say "/...] [T]he future of Delphi will be in collaborative organizational and community planning systems that are continuous, dispersed, and asynchronous."

3. Social Presence and possible Effects on Real Time Delphi

Usually the DM as well as RTD build on absolute anonymity (or quasianonymity as in Kochtanek and Hein (1999)). Gordon (2008) states the concern about spurious factors, such as reputation, status or other social behavior that intrude in face-to-face interactions among experts lead once to the feature of anonymity in the beginning of the DM. Since then anonymity is a key feature of the DM and it was adopted in RTD. We argue that anonymity is not an end in itself, but that the goals it wanted to achieve can be, using nowadays technology, achieved while leveraging the positive effects of social interaction and collaboration.

One problem with the traditional DM is the drop-out rate of the participants and the corresponding low response rate during the rounds, which should be at least 70% (Mullen, 2003; Walker and Selfe, 1996). Reid (1988) notes, that the panel size has a strong influence on the drop-out rate. Large panels tend to have higher drop-out rates than small panels with 20 members. Okoli and Pawlowski (2004) argue that the researcher has the possibility to contact the drop-outs and ask them to participate, but this can be – depending on the budget – related to a disproportionate effort (Ishikawa et al., 1993). However, the technological concept of RTD and it's asynchronous character would allow distinctly larger panels. To draw this potential it is necessary to bind users stronger to the platform and the questionnaire, which can be supported by social presence and therefore social reputation, that can be built. Bolger and Wright (2011) found, that in "traditional" Delphi studies the promise of gaining social reputation raise motivation to commit to the study and decreases the drop-out rate.

To tag content in "social question answering" (e.g. Yahoo! Answers or Live QnA), can open opportunities for richer user interaction (Rodrigues et al., 2008) and is not a new idea at all. According to Ames and Naaman (2007) there are mainly two reason to tag social content¹: i) Providing ones opinion on something (social interaction) and ii) help others/oneself to find something (self/organization). Additionally Rainie (2007) puts that tagging allows groups to form around points of view and similarities of interest. If persons use the same tags, they may get the impression that they probably share some deep commonalities. Tagging can therefore contribute to RTD in multiple ways: First it enables users to express their opinion about arguments and gain reputation. Second it enables users to express "common sense". Both leads to higher social presence and therefore raise user binding to the platform. Third tagging is a strong instrument of (self)organizing content. Especially for larger panels, online discussion can quickly become confused if there are no means to structure and distinguish important from the unimportant or interesting from the uninteresting. Lots of large online platforms as Twitter, Facebook or GitHub use tagging or labeling as a mean to allow structuring and organizing the content. Turoff et al. (2004) already used labels to organize content in a study which he attested a "Delphi-structure".

 $^{^1\}mathrm{In}$ case of Ames and Naaman (2007) photos.

However, his implementation did not fit the anonymity criteria, as names of argument's authors were visible.

4. Design of a social Real Time Delphi

Key to our design proposal is keeping anonymity where needed in sRTD while introducing social elements to leverage the afore effects mentioned. Therefore we propose two design elements: i) Randomly generated user names only valid within a question and ii) a fixed set of labels in the discussion.

The idea behind i) is to enable the participants to argue with and relate to each other. The effect is that each participant can be addressed directly². This leads to the impression of social presence and can nudge the processes mentioned in section 3. As the user names are randomly generated for each question anonymity is completely given and social reputation or status can not be transferred between questions and questionnaires. In addition no linkage to the real person is possible, hence we can argue that anonymity as a key feature of the DM is not violated. In contrast to standard RTDs the generated user names are displayed to every given argument as well as in the argument-creation form as "You are posting as [generated user name]"³.

The second design element uses the idea that participants get a social reward if good content is provided. Arguments can be labeled by a fixed set of tags as for example "helpful", "strong" or a simple "like" (or "vote" as used in Turoff et al. (2004)). Contributions to the "shared goal" are rewarded on this way, which satisfies the author as his demand for social reputation is fed. As the author wants to maintain his social reputation we expect him to participate on a more regular basis (Linstone and Turoff, 2011). Goluchowicz and Blind (2011) found that participants, who felt as experts had a lower probability to drop out in Delphi studies. The social reward that participants get may make them feel as experts somehow. In addition *labeling* has the potential to make the argumentation more efficient and to introduce some kind of self-control and therefore raise the argumentation quality (Linstone

²Publicly in the group but only within this question.

 $^{^{3}}$ We are aware that the referenceability of persons within the context of a single questions may lead to a group discussion. However, it is not investigated yet (to the best of our knowledge), if this affects RTD, respectively the forecasting task in a positive or negative way.

and Turoff, 2011). In contrast to tagging (unrestricted labeling), the fixed set allows a certain degree of control to ensure that very personal tags that may be only used by one person do not allow linkage of this person throughout the questionnaire, as they are reported in (Rodrigues et al., 2008). In contrast to standard RTDs where arguments allow no interaction, sRTD shows the users a list of labels which can be added. Every label can be added only once per user and argument. It is not displayed, which user added the label. To test hypothesis H1 we plan to conduct an online experiment with A-B testing (with and without i) and ii)). Afterwards a questionnaire is conducted to measure perceived social presence in both groups. To evaluate H2 we compare the actual drop-out rate to the results of the questionnaire. To evaluate H3 the questionnaire will contain items about usability and informativeness of the platform.

5. Conclusion and Outlook

The future of RTD is to leverage the possibilities, that come with its technology. In this paper we draw a picture of the potential of making RTD more social by proposing to add the two elements of randomly generated user names per question and labeling in the design. Both elements arouse the impression of social presence in the sRTD and allow building sense of community and social reputation by not harming the key feature of the DM: "anonymity". In our design it is not possible to link participants to real persons nor to build a social reputation in a way that may affect unbiased⁴ forming of opinions. We expect introducing this social elements to raise the binding of the users to the platform. Additionally labeling can contribute to the efficiency of the argumentation and helping to organize it, which we expect to increase discussion quality. The contribution of this work is to enhance the RTD Method in a way that allows anonymous social interaction amongst participants, addressing weaknesses of the current method regarding drop-outs of participants and organizing and control of content. Next steps contain the implementation of a sRTD platform including these proposals and verify that anonymity is not violated. Future work will test our three hypotheses and further improve sRTD by trying to decrease drop-out rate, improve discussion, and raise overall result quality of the prediction.

⁴By means of social reputation or status.

References

- Ames, M. and Naaman, M. (2007). Why we tag: Motivations for annotation in mobile and online media. In *Proceedings of the SIGCHI Conference* on Human Factors in Computing Systems, CHI '07, pages 971–980, New York, NY, USA. ACM.
- Bolger, F. and Wright, G. (2011). Improving the delphi process: Lessons from social psychological research. *Technological Forecasting and Social Change*, 78(9):1500 1513. The Delphi technique: Past, present, and future prospects.
- Dalkey, N. C., Brown, B. B., and Cochran, S. (1969). The Delphi method: An experimental study of group opinion, volume 3. Rand Corporation Santa Monica, CA.
- Gnatzy, T., Warth, J., von der Gracht, H., and Darkow, I.-L. (2011). Validating an innovative real-time delphi approach - a methodological comparison between real-time and conventional delphi studies. *Technological Forecasting and Social Change*, 78(9):1681 – 1694. The Delphi technique: Past, present, and future prospects.
- Goluchowicz, K. and Blind, K. (2011). Identification of future fields of standardisation: An explorative application of the delphi methodology. *Technological Forecasting and Social Change*, 78(9):1526 – 1541. The Delphi technique: Past, present, and future prospects.
- Gordon, T. and Pease, A. (2006). RT Delphi: An efficient, "round-less" almost real time delphi method. *Technological Forecasting and Social Change*, 73(4):321 333.
- Gordon, T. J. (2008). The real-time delphi mehtod. Technical report, The Millennium Project.
- Ishikawa, A., Amagasa, M., Shiga, T., Tomizawa, G., Tatsuta, R., and Mieno, H. (1993). The max-min delphi method and fuzzy delphi method via fuzzy integration. *Fuzzy Sets and Systems*, 55(3):241 – 253.
- Kaye, A. (1992). Collaborative learning through computer conferencing, volume 90, chapter Learning together apart, pages 1–24. Springer.

- Kochtanek, T. R. and Hein, K. K. (1999). Delphi study of digital libraries. Information Processing & Management, 35(3):245 – 254.
- Landeta, J., Matey, J., Ruíz, V., and Galter, J. (2008). Results of a delphi survey in drawing up the input-output tables for catalonia. *Technological Forecasting and Social Change*, 75(1):32 56.
- Linstone, H. A. and Turoff, M. (2011). Delphi: A brief look backward and forward. *Technological Forecasting and Social Change*, 78(9):1712 1719. The Delphi technique: Past, present, and future prospects.
- Mullen, P. M. (2003). Delphi: myths and reality. *Journal of Health Organization and Management*, 17(1):37–52. PMID: 12800279.
- Murphy, E. (2004). Recognising and promoting collaboration in an online asynchronous discussion. British Journal of Educational Technology, 35(4):421 – 431.
- Okoli, C. and Pawlowski, S. D. (2004). The delphi method as a research tool: an example, design considerations and applications. Information & Management, 42(1):15 29.
- Rainie, L. (2007). 28% of online americans have used the internet to tag content. *Pew Internet and American Life Project.*
- Reid, N. (1988). Professional Competence and Quality Assurance in the Caring Professions, chapter The Delphi technique: its contribution to the evaluation of professional practice, pages 230 – 254. Chapman & Hall, London.
- Rodrigues, E. M., Milic-Frayling, N., and Fortuna, B. (2008). Social tagging behaviour in community-driven question answering. In *Proceedings of the* 2008 IEEE/WIC/ACM International Conference on Web Intelligence and Intelligent Agent Technology - Volume 01, WI-IAT '08, pages 112–119, Washington, DC, USA. IEEE Computer Society.
- Roschelle, J. and Teasley, S. D. (1995). Computer Supported Collaborative Learning, volume 128 of NATO ASI Series, chapter The Construction of Shared Knowledge in Collaborative Problem Solving, pages 69 – 97. Springer Berlin Heidelberg.

- Rowe, G. and Wright, G. (1999). The delphi technique as a forecasting tool: issues and analysis. *International Journal of Forecasting*, 15(4):353 375.
- Turoff, M. (1970). The design of a policy delphi. *Technological forecasting* and social change, 2(2):149 – 171.
- Turoff, M., Hiltz, S. R., Yao, X., Li, Z., Wang, Y., and Cho, H. (2004). Online collaborative learning enhancement through the delphi method. In Proceedings of the OZCHI 2004 Conference, University of Wollongong, Australia, November 22-24, 2004.
- Walker, A. M. and Selfe, J. (1996). The delphi method: a useful tool for the allied health researcher. *British Journal of Therapy and Rehabilitation*, 3(12):677 681.

Emotional Arousal Effects in Participatory Budgeting Decisions^{*}

Claudia Niemeyer, claudia.niemeyer@kit.edu, Karlsruhe Institute of Technology Thomas Wagenknecht, wagenknecht@fzi.de, FZI Research Center for Information Technology

Christof Weinhardt, weinhardt@kit.edu, Karlsruhe Institute of Technology

Abstract

Participatory budgeting is applied by an increasing number of municipalities and organizations. Citizens can decide over an institutional budget. The allocation mechanism can affect emotional arousal, which influences the choice evaluation in the decicion-making process. Building on the endowment effect, we conduct an experiment testing a novel participatory budgeting approach that includes an element of crowdfunding. We measure participants' heart rate to determine emotional arousal. This is one of the first studies to investigate the arousal of participants in participatory budgeting procedures. Our findings suggest that institutions can engage their citizens in such a process without having to expect an endowment effect.

1 Introduction

Participatory budgeting is ever increasing in popularity and a powerful instrument to increase participation of citizens. Participatory budgeting uses an institutional budget that is allocated by citizens. Questions that often arise are: Do citizens take that responsibility seriously? Do they feel engaged with the decision? In this work we want to address the research question: *Does investing one's own budget instead of an institutional budget correlate with a higher emotional arousal*? Thus, we seek to establish a link between different mechanisms and endowments with emotional

^{*} The authors thank Ewa Lux, Anuja Hariharan and three anonymous reviewers for their valuable comments.

arousal as well as how arousal affects decision-making processes.We address this question in a laboratory experiment that is based on suggestions by Niemeyer et al. (2015). First results on investment behaviour were already analysed (Niemeyer et al., 2016).

2 Literature

The research question addresses two fields of research: On one hand, investment decision-making behaviour in the context of participatory budgeting and, on the other hand, emotions.

2.1 Participatory Budgeting

Participatory budgeting constitutes processes in which governments (or other public agencies) involve their citizens and relevant stakeholders in an iterative and deliberative participation process over budget decision-making (cf. Sintomer et al., 2010). There are several municipalities which adopted the approach in practise. For instance, 53 German municipalities implemented participatory budgeting in 2014 (Ermert et al., 2015). Niemeyer and colleagues (2015) extended the idea of participatory budgeting with the element of crowdfunding. They proposed a mechanism whereby institutions allocate financial resources to the participants of a crowdfunding platform. Just as in participatory budgeting, citizens and stakeholders can then decide to invest money into certain projects. In such settings, the design of the investment mechanism is crucial (cf. Wash and Solomon, 2014).

2.2 Emotions and Investments

Research suggests that when people take investment decisions, they do not always act as rational agents. People are often framed within perceived domains of gains or losses (Wilkinson, 2008; Chang, Yen & Duh, 2002). These framing effects shape people's responses in terms of values, attitudes and, most notably, preferences (Slovic & Lichtenstein, 1983; Tversky et al., 1990). For instance, through the endowment effect people attach more value to things simply because they own them

2

(Kahneman et al., 1990). This leads them to perceive gains and losses differently, in effect changing the decision-making process. In a review of nine studies examining the endowment effect, Shu and Peck (2011) find that the concept of emotional attachment explains many of the findings, particularly psychological ownership and affective reaction. Hence, emotional attachment might influence investment decision making.

In this work we experimentally investigate emotions in an economic context of investment decision-making. Adam et al. (2011) introduce this extension of the methodology of experimental economics by "physiological measurements of participants as proxies for their individual emotional processing" as *Physioeconomics*, which is now commonly referred to as NeuroIS. Since decision-making is a cognitive as well as an affective process and not only the homo economicus' maximisation of utility, the measurement of physiological data can help to better understand decision behaviour (Thaler, 2000; Adam et al. 2011). Arousal is mainly measured in two ways: Skin conductance is used to measure general arousal and short sympathetic activities; Electrocardiogram (ECG) measures the electric activity of the heart. For the latter, the time between successive R-waves in the ECG is necessary for the analysis of arousal (Jennings et al., 1981).

In neuro science and NeuroIS, there is initial evidence that supports the notion of emotional influences and the endowment effect in the decision-making process. Adam and colleagues (2015) were also able to show that people were emotionally aroused in auctions. They increased social competition and demonstrated that so-called auction fever leads to higher bids. Moreover, emotional arousal also depends on whether participants face human or computer agents in a competition (Teubner et al., 2015).

3 Experiment and Results

3.1 Hypothesis

Our study seeks to investigate whether different forms of endowment in a participatory budgeting setting affect emotional arousals. With regards to the endowment effect, we assume that participants will react differently when they own (parts of) the budget as opposed to when they can only invest the money provided by an institution into projects in a participatory budgeting setting. Emotional engagement/ arousal is measured by ECG in heart rate. Therefore, we propose

H1: Participants are more emotionally engaged with a decision if they invest their own budget than if they decide on an institutional budget.

3.2 Experimental Design

The hypothesis was tested in a novel approach by Niemeyer et al. (2015) combining crowdfunding with participatory budgeting. In a threshold public goods game with four goods and groups of six, participants faced the decision of allocating a budget of 150 MU (monetary units) to four projects with heterogeneous costs (100, 200, 300 and 400 MU respectively). This is based on the experimental design of Wash and Solomon (2014). If the threshold of a project was met, each participant profited with a certain (heterogeneous) utility, independent of what the participant had invested. In the experiment we distinguish between two treatments. In the *S100 treatment*, participants can keep the budget if they do not want to invest in the projects. This corresponds to a private budget. In the *S0 treatment*, they can only invest the budget. Not invested money will go back to the institution. This corresponds to an institutional budget.

In each session, 12 participants were connected to an electrocardiogram device that recorded the heart rate over the course of the experiment. Instructions were then handed out and read out aloud to all participants. After participants had answered 10 control questions and a three minute period of rest, 24 periods of project funding were played, followed by a final questionnaire. In each of the 24 periods, two new groups of six participants were formed, each of them investing in four different projects. The pilot study experiment was conducted in June 2015 with 24 students of a large German university. Participants were invited via ORSEE (Greiner, 2004) and were on average 21 years old. Each student participated only in one treatment. The sessions took 70-80 minutes and participants earned on average 13.87 EUR. The experiment was implemented using Brownie (Müller et al., 2014).

3.3 *Results*

Heart rates (HR) were derived from the ECG data and normalised by taking the ratio of the individual HR during three minutes in the middle of the period of rest. Physiological data of 5 of 24 participants could not be used due to technical problems during the recording.



Figure 1: Average normalized HR by treatment.

The average normalised HR in the *S0 treatment*, where participants invest institutional budget is 0.994, in the *S100 treatment*, where participants can also keep the money, 0.966 (se Figure 1). A paired sample t-test reveals that there was no significant difference in arousal between the treatments (p = 0.203). Also we do not find a correlation between the average normalised HR and investments.

However, a closer look reveals additional interesting results. Over the course of the experiment, participants' HR (and therefore average normalised HR) decreased in both treatments as can be seen in Figure 2.

In a linear regression we controlled for participants and used the average normalised HR as dependent variable, a treatment dummy (which is 1 if the participant was in treatment S100) as independent variable and a period variable (1-24). The regression ($R^2 = 0.043$) shows no significant treatment effect (coef. = -0.0246, *p* = 0.461). However we can observe a significant period effect (coef. = -0.0018, *p* = 0.014),





Figure 2: Average normalized HR by treatment per period.

4 Conclusion

With our work we presented to first attempt to investigate emotions in participatory budgeting in a controlled experimental setting. There is no measurable evidence for an endowment effect in terms of emotion when investing money that could or could not be kept as an outside option. This implies that institutions who offer participatory budgeting as budget allocation, without giving citizens the opportunity to keep the money, do not have to worry that citizens are less engaged. There even is an insignificant tendency that they are more aroused without the possibility to keep the money. As our sample size of 24 participants was quiet small and the data set did not allow for a period-related decision phase analysis, an upcoming conduction of more sessions with more than 200 participants will further investigate our conjectures.

References

- Adam, M. T., Krämer, J., & Müller, M. B. (2015). Auction Fever! How Time Pressure and Social Competition Affect Bidders' Arousal and Bids in Retail Auctions. *Journal of Retailing*, 91(3), 468-485.
- Adam, M., Gamer, M., Krämer, J., & Weinhardt, C. (2011). Measuring Emotions in Electronic Markets. In Proceedings of *International Conference on Information Systems 2011*.
- Bradley, M. M., Lang, P. J., & Cuthbert, B. N. (1993), "Emotion, Novelty, and the Startle Reflex: Habituation in Humans," *BehavioralNeuroscience*, 107 (6), 970–80.
- Chang, C. J., Yen, S. H., & Duh, R. R. (2002). An empirical Examination of competing Theories to explain the Framing Effect in accounting-related Decisions. *Behavioral Research in Accounting*, 14(1), 35-64.
- Emert, J., Pützer, H., & Ruesch, M. (2015). 8. Statusbericht des Portals Buergerhaushalt.org. Available at http://www.buergerhaushalt.org/sites/default/files/downloads/8._Statusberi cht_Buergerhaushalte_in_Deutschland_Juni_2015.pdf
- Jennings, J. R., Bberg, W. K., Hutcheson, J., Obrist, P., Porges, S., & Turpin, G. (1981). Publication guidelines for heart rate studies in man. *Psychophysiology*, 18(3), 226-231.
- Kahneman, D., Knetsch, J. L., & Thaler, R. H. (1990). Experimental tests of the endowment effect and the Coase theorem. *Journal of Political Economy*, 98(6), 1325-1348.
- Kahneman, D., & Tversky, A. (1979). Prospect Theory: An Analysis of Decision Under Risk. *Econometrica: Journal of the Econometric Society*, 47(2), 263-291.
- Knutson, B., Adams, C. M., Fong, G. W., & Hommer, D. (2001). Anticipation Of Increasing Monetary Reward Selectively Recruits Nucleus Accumbens. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 21(16), 159-168.
- Lang, P. J., Greenwald, M. K., Bradley, M. M., & Hamm, A. O. (1993). Looking at pictures: Affective, facial, visceral, and behavioral reactions. *Psychophysiology*, 30, 261-261.
- Müller, M.B., Hariharan, A. & Adam, M.T.P. (2014). A NeuroIS Platform for Lab Experiments. In Proceedings *Gmunden Retreat on NeuroIS*, F. Davis, R. Riedl, J. vom Brocke, P.-M. Leger, and A. Randolph, Gmunden, Austria.
- Niemeyer, C., Hellmanns, A., Teubner, T., & Weinhardt, C. (2015). Combining Crowdfunding and Budget Allocation on Participation Platforms. In Proceedings of the First Karlsruhe Service Summit Research Workshop -Advances in Service Research. 105-112.
- Niemeyer, C., Wagenknecht, T., Teubner, T., & Weinhardt, C. (2016, in press). Participatory Crowdfunding: An approach towards engaging employees and

citizens in institutional budgeting decisions. In *Proceedings of the Forty-Ninth Annual Hawaii International Conference on System Sciences (HICSS).*

- Shu, S. B., & Peck, J. (2011). Psychological ownership and affective reaction: Emotional attachment process variables and the endowment effect. Journal of Consumer Psychology, 21(4), 439-452.Sintomer, Y., Herzberg, C., Röcke, A. (2010). *Der Bürgerhaushalt in Europa – Eine realistische Utopie?* VS Verlag für Sozialwissenschaften.
- Slovic, P., & Lichtenstein, S. (1983). Preference reversals: A broader perspective. *The American Economic Review*, 73(4), 596-605.
- Teubner, T., Adam, M., & Riordan, R. (2015). The Impact of Computerized Agents on Immediate Emotions, Overall Arousal and Bidding Behavior in Electronic Auctions. *Journal of the Association for Information Systems*, 16(10), 838-863.
- Thaler, R. H. (2000). From homo economicus to homo sapiens. *The Journal of Economic Perspectives*, 133-141.
- Tversky, A., Slovic, P., & Kahneman, D. (1990). The causes of preference reversal. *The American Economic Review*, 80(1) 204-217.
- Wilkinson, N. (2008). An Introduction to Behavioral Economics. New York: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Wilson, Glenn F. (1992), "Applied Use of Cardiac and Respiration Measures: Practical Considerations and Precautions," *Biological Psychology*, 34 (2–3), 163–78.

Towards a Guideline for Conducting Economic Experiments on Amazon's Mechanical Turk

Tim Straub^a, Florian Hawlitschek^a, Christof Weinhardt^a

^aKarlsruhe Institute of Technology

Abstract

During the last decade Amazon Mechanical Turk has evolved to an established platform for conducting behavioral research. However, designing and conducting economic experiments on online labor markets remains a complex and ambitious task. In comparison to laboratory environments, a set of specific challenges (such as synchronization and control) has to be thoroughly addressed. In order to support researchers in fulfilling this task, we provide a framework of a continuously updating guideline for conducting economic experiments on Amazon's Mechanical Turk. Our main contributions are the proposition of (i) a challenge-oriented view based on common experimental economics practices, and (ii) a collaborative continuous guideline approach.

Keywords: Crowd Services, Crowd Work, Crowdsourcing, Guideline, Online Experiments, Behavioral Experiments, Experimental Economics

1. Introduction

In recent years, researchers from various fields have recognized and started to harness the potential of conducting experiments on crowd work platforms such as Amazon Mechanical Turk (MTurk). The validity of such experiments

Email addresses: tim.straub@kit.edu (Tim Straub),

florian.hawlitschek@kit.edu (Florian Hawlitschek), weinhardt@kit.edu (Christof Weinhardt)

in comparison to economic laboratory experiments was comprehensively discussed in the literature (Paolacci et al., 2010; Chilton et al., 2010). In recent years a variety of experiments was conducted on MTurk and in fact the number is still growing fast. Reasons for that are inter alia the large subject pool and low cost labor (Mason and Suri, 2012; Paolacci et al., 2010). However, compared to classical laboratory experiments, researchers are facing several challenges while conducting experiments in the crowd, e.g. synchronization and control. To overcome such issues on crowd work platforms, guidelines leading through the process of conducting experiments are needed.

A set of comprehensive guidelines for behavioral research on crowd work platforms has already been published (Mason and Suri, 2012; Horton et al., 2011; Paolacci et al., 2010). However, these guidelines often do not focus on economic experiments but on behavioral research in general. Furthermore, against the background of the fast growing number of experiments, especially on MTurk, workers start to get used to certain experiment types (Chandler et al., 2014). As a consequence, guideline-based experimental design approaches become outdated rapidly. Solutions to overcome this issue need to be developed steadily since researchers have to address the new insights of crowd workers. This stresses the need for a continuously updating guideline with a specific focus on economic experiments.

This paper proposes the outline of a state-of-the-art guideline for crowd experiments including common challenges and best practices from the experimental economics literature. We use the work of Friedman and Sunder (1994), depicted in figure 1 as a starting point and transfer it to a conceptual framework. To this end, the experimental design stage is used to exemplify our concept. Furthermore we propose an architecture of an open platform facilitating continuous updates of the guideline. Therefore, section 2 introduces the conceptual framework of a new guideline structure based on state-of-the-art literature on experiments in crowdsourcing environments. Section 3, includes a proposal for an architecture that enables researchers to collaboratively build a continuously updating guideline. Section 4 summa-



Figure 1: Process of conducting experiments based on Friedman and Sunder (1994).

rizes this work and outlines the next steps for future research.

2. Guideline for Designing a Crowd Work Experiment

We base our guideline concept on an established process from the experimental economics literature (Friedman and Sunder, 1994) as depicted in figure 1. The process can be divided in (i) the experimental design stage focusing on which experimental setup suits the research question best, (ii) the sampling or recruitment of subjects, conducting the experiment, and (iii) the analysis of the results. When transferring these steps to crowd experiments, researchers have to address certain challenges to secure result quality. In our guideline approach we highlight these challenges and suggest possible solutions retrieved from literature. In the following we present an example of our approach for (i) the experimental design stage.

2.1. Outline of a Guideline for the Experimental Design Stage

One of the first steps in experimental research is to decide which experimental design suits the research question best. Common design decisions comprise whether an experiment requires (a) asynchronous or synchronized decision-making and if it should be conducted as (b) a field or a laboratory study (Friedman and Sunder, 1994).

(a) In asynchronous as opposed to synchronous experiments subjects do not compete simultaneously against each other. Since in laboratory studies subjects usually are in the same room during the observation, it is easy to implement both setups. On MTurk however, the implementation of synchronous experiments is challenging. Usually tasks on MTurk are designed as open calls (Howe, 2006). It is unclear if or when a worker starts completing the task. This makes it difficult to realize experiments where two or more participants have to compete simultaneously against each other due to unknown arrival times of workers (Mason and Suri, 2012; Mao et al., 2012).

Challenge 1: Synchronization and arrival times.

First, it should be checked, whether the underlying research question can be addressed with an asynchronous experiment design as well. If possible, the experiment can be redesigned in an asynchronous setup. Second, if subjects do not have to compete live against each other, playing against historical data from an earlier observation is possible (Amir et al., 2012; Suri and Watts, 2011; Straub et al., 2015). Third, if the live interaction and reaction between subjects is indispensable a waiting room can be implemented (Mao et al., 2012; Mason and Suri, 2012; Paolacci et al., 2010). However, a shortcoming of this approach is that it is unclear how long a subject has to wait, since arrival times vary. Paying a fixed fee after a certain amount of waiting time or using bots in case that waiting times are too long are possible approaches to address this (Horton et al., 2011).

(b) In a field experiment subjects usually do not know that they are being observed and the experimental setup is camouflaged. This leads to a high external validity but lower internal validity. In Laboratory studies the actions of a subject are observed in a controlled environment - the laboratory. Isolated cabins prevent unregulated contact and ensure that subjects are not influenced by uncontrolled stimuli. Variance in noise, light, and technical factors like input devices, monitors, etc. can be prevented. Therefore external confounding factors are minimized and internal validity is higher (Friedman and Sunder, 1994). In theory both, field and laboratory setups, can be realized on MTurk. However, the internal validity of experiments on MTurk compared to laboratory settings might be lower due to less possible control. To be more specific, workers might not pay attention during the observation (Paolacci et al., 2010; Horton et al., 2011; Mason and Suri, 2012). Since subjects on MTurk usually work from their own computer it is impossible to control their environment during the observation (Chandler et al., 2014; Crump et al., 2013; Rand, 2012). Chandler et al. (2014) find that subjects are watching TV or listening to music while working on MTurk. Another problem with crowd work is that some of the workers try to maximize their payout by finishing as many tasks as possible, often just clicking through them. So called malicious workers or "spammers" are not paying attention and jeopardize the overall data quality of results.

Challenge 2: Control and attention.

First, the overall task design can be aligned to incite workers to take the task seriously. Tasks that are fun, interesting, and meaningful incite subjects to pay attention (Kittur et al., 2013; Crump et al., 2013). Layman and Sigurdsson (2013) show that tasks designed as a game are more satisfying for a subject and thereby motivate to pay attention. Furthermore, researchers

could state the expected result quality and give context about the overarching goal in the instructions to give the task a meaning (Oh and Wang, 2012; Oppenheimer et al., 2009). Stating that the task is an experiment and participation helps research can as well give the task a meaning, if experimenter bias is not a problem (Orne, 1962). Second, besides redesigning the overall experimental task, experimenters can try to exclude subjects who do not pay attention before the actual observation. Many researchers test if a subject is paying attention during the instructions and exclude those who fail the respective test from the sample (Paolacci et al., 2010; Peer et al., 2013; Oppenheimer et al., 2009; Paolacci and Chandler, 2014). Oppenheimer et al. (2009) introduced the instruction manipulation check, which was recently applied by many researchers (Straub et al., 2015; Hall and Caton, 2014). The fundamental idea of the instruction manipulation check is to trick inattentive subjects with a question or free text field which is easy and at best straightforward to answer, e.g. "What is your age?". The instructions state at one point that this particular question should be ignored. Consequently subjects who do not read the instructions carefully, e.g. stating their age, can be excluded from the task (Goodman et al., 2012).

3. Framework for a Collaborative and Continuous Guideline

A continuously updating guideline can be successfully put into practice within a collaborative process. We propose that researchers should work together to integrate their (new) insights to an online platform. The proposed framework is structured as follows: First, if researchers decide to conduct a crowd experiment they can retrieve the most recent version of the guideline from the platform (as depicted in figure 2 of the appendix). Second, challenges that apply to the experimental setup can be identified and solutions can be found in the registered insights from other researchers. Third, researchers can either incorporate these solutions to their experimental setup or develop new solutions based on the challenges and hints from the platform. Fourth, after the researchers conducted their experiment they can update the platform based on their findings, e.g. if and how good the applied solutions worked. Through this process continuous updates to the guideline are facilitated based on collaborative input from researchers and the community. However, certain requirements (req.) should be implemented. Malicious workers might try to trick the system by accessing the platform in order to get defective insights. Therefore access should be restricted to researchers. Login systems only giving access to "edu" domains or account confirmation must be implemented.

Req. 1: Access should only be given to researchers.

Overall the most important factor for a continuously updating guideline is the integration of new insights and results. Therefore researchers must be incited or enforced to incorporate their knowledge to the platform. Social rankings raising reputation and chances for citations might incite participation. Another conceivable way would be to enforce participation by restricting access with a fee, which a researcher gets back once he updates the platform.

Req. 2: Incentives or enforcements to update the platform are needed.

To secure an overall style of the guideline design principles must be set. Overarching categories with examples should be derived to make the platform easy to use and accessible for researchers.

Req. 3: Design principles should be derived for updating the platform.

4. Summary and Outlook

In this paper we proposed a guideline structure with a challenge and solution oriented view on conducting behavioral experiments on crowd work platforms. Such a guideline gives behavioral economists an easy introduction to crowd experiments with a clear and familiar structure. Furthermore we proposed a framework for an online platform where researchers could collaboratively and continuously update such a guideline. Both guideline and platform are currently in a conceptual stage. Following the notion of collaborative work, crowd work, and open innovation we plan to develop a demonstration version to incorporate practitioners and community feedback in future iterations. Hence, the next steps of future work comprise elaborating and finalizing the guideline concept and integrating it in a platform to facilitate a live deployment. Future work should analyze how researchers could be motivated to participate and how the platform could be extended. Possible extensions include experimental databases to look up which experiments other researchers already conducted and worker databases to block users who already participated in similar experiments as proposed by Chandler et al. (2014).

Acknowledgements

We would like to thank Sarah Kexel for her active support and contributions to the development of this guideline concept.

Appendix



Figure 2: Framework of an online platform for a collaborative and continuous guideline.

References

- Amir, O., Rand, D. G., and Gal, Y. K. (2012). Economic games on the internet: The effect of \$1 stakes. *PLoS ONE*, 7(1):31461.
- Chandler, J., Mueller, P., and Paolacci, G. (2014). Nonnaïveté among amazon mechanical turk workers: Consequences and solutions for behavioral researchers. *Behavioral Research Methods*, 46(1):112–130.
- Chilton, L. B., Horton, J. J., Miller, R. C., and Azenkot, S. (2010). Task search in a human computation market. In *Proceedings of the ACM* SIGKDD workshop on human computation. ACM, pages 1–9.
- Crump, M. J. C., McDonnell, J. V., and Gureckis, T. M. (2013). Evaluating amazon's mechanical turk as a tool for experimental behavioral research. *PLoS ONE*, 8(3):e57410.

- Friedman, D. and Sunder, S. (1994). Experimental Methods: A Primer for Economists. Cambridge University Press.
- Goodman, J. K., Cryder, C. E., and Cheema, A. (2012). Data collection in a flat world: The strenghts and weaknesses of mechanical turk samples. *Journal of Behavioral Decision Making*, 26(3):213–224.
- Hall, M. and Caton, S. (2014). A crowdsourcing approach to identify common method bias and self-representation. In *IPP2014: Crowdsourcing for Politics and Policy.*
- Horton, J. J., Rand, D. G., and Zeckhauser, R. J. (2011). The online laboratory: Conducting experiments in a real labor market. *Experimental Economics*, 14(3):399–425.
- Howe, J. (2006). The rise of crowdsourcing. Wired Magazine, 14(6):1–4.
- Kittur, A., Nickerson, J. V., Bernstein, M. S., Gerber, E. M., Shaw, A., Zimmerman, J., Lease, M., and Horton, J. J. (2013). The future of crowd work. In Proceedings of the 2013 conference on Computer supported cooperative work. ACM, pages 1301–1318.
- Layman, L. and Sigurdsson, G. (2013). Using amazon's mechanical turk for user studies: Eight things you need to know. In *Empirical Software Engineering and Measurement*, 2013 ACM/IEEE International Symposium on. IEEE, pages 275–278.
- Mao, A., Chen, Y., Gajos, K. Z., Parkes, D., and Procaccia, A. D. (2012). Turkserver: Enabling synchronous and longitudinal online experiments. In *Proceedings of the Fourth Workshop on Human Computation* (HCOMP'12). AAAI Press.
- Mason, W. and Suri, S. (2012). Conducting behavioral research on amazon's mechanical turk. *Behavioral Research Methods*, 44(1):1–23.
- Oh, J. and Wang, G. (2012). Evaluating crowdsourcing through amazon mechanical turk as a technique for conducting music perception experiments. In Proceedings of the 12th International Conference on Music Perception and Cognition, pages 1–6.

- Oppenheimer, D. M., Meyvis, T., and Davidenko, N. (2009). Instructional manipulation checks: Detecting satisficing to increase statistical power. *Journal of Experimental Social Psychology*, 45(4):867–872.
- Orne, M. T. (1962). On the social psychology experiment: With particular reference to demand characteristics and their impications. *American psychologist*, 17(11):776.
- Paolacci, G. and Chandler, J. (2014). Inside the turk: Understanding mechanical turk as a participant pool. *Curent Directions in Psychological Science*, 23(3):184–188.
- Paolacci, G., Chandler, J., and Ipeirotis, P. G. (2010). Running experiments on amazon mechanical turk. Judgement and Decision Making, 5(5):411– 419.
- Peer, E., Vosgrau, J., and Acquisti, A. (2013). Reputation as a sufficient condition for data quality on amazon mechanical turk. *Behavioral Research Methods*, 46(4):1023–1031.
- Rand, D. G. (2012). The promise of mechanical turk: How online labor markets can help theorists run behavioral experiments. *Journal of Theoretical Biology*, 299:172–179.
- Straub, T., Gimpel, H., Teschner, F., and Weinhardt, C. (2015). How (not) to incent crowd workers. Business Information Systems Engineering, 57(3):167–179.
- Suri, S. and Watts, D. J. (2011). Cooperation and contagion in web-based, networked public goods experiments. *PLoS ONE*, 6(3):e16836.

Towards a Requirement Framework for Online Participation Platforms

Astrid Hellmanns, hellmanns@fzi.de, FZI Research Center for Information Technology

Claudia Niemeyer, claudia.niemeyer@kit.edu, Karlsruhe Institute of Technology Margeret Hall, Margeret.hall@kit.edu, Karlsruhe Institute of Technology Tom Zentek, zentek@fzi.de, FZI Research Center for Information Technology Christof Weinhardt, weinhardt@kit.edu, Karlsruhe Institute of Technology

Abstract

Online participation platforms (OPPs) are frequently used by public institutions to involve citizens in political opinion forming and decision making. A literature review reveals different approaches to evaluate these OPPs. These approaches focus only on partial requirements of participation processes. In this research in progress, we develop and pretest an interdisciplinary literature-based requirement framework. It includes the categories usability, security, information, transparency, integration, and mobilisation. Our aim is to close the research gap of a context-specific analysis and evaluation of OPPs.

1 Introduction

Modern parliamentary democracies can be described as interdependent systems of conventional and non-conventional, direct and indirect, constituted and non-constituted instruments and processes of political participation (Nanz & Fritsche, 2012). Information and communication technologies (ICTs) are thereby often used to support, complement or even replace common offline participation instruments. The possibilities for public institutions to include citizens in decision making are as diverse as developed technologies and software available (Kubicek et al., 2011).

However, the success of such technologies is evaluated differently by different researchers, suppliers and users (Escher, 2013), since it can be measured from a number of perspectives (Kubicek et al., 2011). It males sence to question which requirements are fulfilled when talking about successful online participation and how can success be assured. Therefore, the aim of this work is to develop and design an interdisciplinary requirement framework that facilitates a holistic evaluation of OPPs. In our investigation we focus on platforms implemented for civic participation processes of public institutions.

For the development of the requirement framework we first review existing evaluation criteria and models in Chapter 2. In Chapter 3, existing criteria are extended and combined with a focus on context-specific characteristics of political OPPs. In Chapter 4, technical and context-related requirements as well as interactivity requirements are developed. Furthermore, subcategories for their evaluation are suggested. We conclude and give an outlook in Chapter 5.

2 Literature Review

Published works on the impact, correlation and success of OPPs usually have a social or humanistic background and focus on individual cases (i.e., Große et al. 2012 for enquetebeteiligung.de). More comprehensive studies that allow for comparative statements rarely focus on the technical concept and realisation of OPPs. For example, The Alexander von Humboldt Institute for Internet and Society (HIIG, 2014) investigates user expectations and behaviour of 13 political and enterprise OPPs in the German-speaking area. Kubicek et al. (2011) compare twelve political OPPs worldwide and identify criteria for success (solution-relevant information, range, inclusivity, increase of acceptance of measures, democracy support, influence on result, efficiency) as well as factors for success (well-defined purpose, activity of decision makers in the process, mobilisation of participants, transparency, connectivity, resources and urgency of the topic). The authors do not focus on any technical aspects. However, the application of ICT offers additional requirements due to the OPPs' characteristics as websites. A number of research works suggests evaluation procedures and criteria for websites (Madan & Dubey 2012). Signore

(2005) for example differentiates between five dimensions of requirement: correctness, presentation, layout, navigation, and interaction. Furthermore, there are special approaches for the usability of websites. While Levi and Conrad (2001) suggest five categories for evaluation (attractiveness, controllability, efficiency, helpfulness, and learnability), Kirakowski and Corbett (1993) focus on user perception of software usability. In our requirement framework we include the suggested and validated dimensions by Signore (2005) and Levi and Conrad (2001) and adapt them to our civic approach.

3 Methodology

In our requirement framework of OPPs we combine requirements of civic participation procedures and websites. For this purpose, we used different theoretical approaches to integrate six main requirement criteria of which each criterion contains different subcategories. Since this research focusses on political online participation we used theoretical models referring to the interaction between citizens, public institutions, and ICTs, to identify necessary criteria.

3.1 Citizens & ICT

For the description of citizens' behaviour on websites we refer to the validated Technology Acceptance Model (TAM, Davis et al., 1989) that deals with humancomputer-interaction and describes user behaviour as perceived usefulness and perceived ease-of-use. TAM was been reviewed and extended several times. The advanced models, including TAM2 (Venkatesh & Davis, 2000), the Unified Theory of Acceptance and Use of Technology (UTAUT, Venkatesh et al., 2003) as well as UTAUT2 (Venkatesh et al., 2012), add aspects of social influence (job relevance, image, subjective norms, experience, and voluntariness), four constructs of behaviour acceptance (performance expectancy, effort expectancy, social influence, and facilitating conditions), and individual differences (gender, age, and experience). Aladwani (2006) and Aladwani & Prashant (2002) specify UTAUT for websites by integrating dimensions of website quality (Aladwani, 2006, Aladwani & Prashant, 2002). Website quality is defined as targeted content, content quality, image, and technical adequacy. In our framework we integrate the presented categories in the criteria regarding technical and content-related requirements.

3.2 Citizens & Institutions

To describe the relationship between citizens and political institutions (in parliamentary democracies) we use the principal agent approach (Gilardi & Braun, 2002), that identifies delegation chains within representative systems between the citizens as the sovereign (principal) delegating tasks and responsibilities (e.g. the provision of public goods) to political institutions (agents). Due to a relation-dependent moral hazard and information monopoly there is a need for incentives and control mechanisms to combine interests of agents and principals. OPPs can hereby act as communication tools to express and underline the citizens' preferences on political topics (Roleff, 2012). To change the relationship between principal and agents, OPPs have to actively provide the topic-relevant information to users (Kubicek et al., 2011). Furthermore, the impact of OPPs on decision making processes can only be assured by a binding (or even mandatory) integration of the OPPs in existing work and decision structures of the involved institutions (Kubicek et al., 2011). Finally, discussion or voting results of OPPs can only interpreted as a representative set of opinions, if sufficient citizens were mobilized (Große et al. 2012).

3.3 Institutions & ICT

For the interpretation of when, why, and under which circumstances political institutions use ICTs we use research approaches from the field of E-Government. Public authorities routinely have been using ICT systems in order to improve the access and more efficiently provide government information and public services (Yildiz, 2007, Mulgan, 2014). Analysing different implementation concepts of E-Government initiatives, a change in the perception of e-government towards a particularly security-oriented usage of ICT can be stated (Yildiz 2007). As a result, principles of e-government such as an improved information access, Open Government and a higher degree of responsiveness, are complemented by security aspects. That is why we also consider security as a necessary requirement criterion.

3.4 First Evaluation

We pretested all six identified criteria in a survey on civic online participation (to be published in 2016). A partly standardized questionnaire was developed and evaluated via experts reviewing wording, structure and order of the questions. We then sent the questionnaire to public officials and platform providers of 20 OPPs and received positive feedback from political officials and providers of 14 OPPs. We additionally conducted five guided interviews by telephone, which were strongly bound to the questionnaire, to clarify misunderstandings. A qualitative analysis of replies from 14 OPPs (nine national and five international ones) led to a revision of our requirement criteria.

4 Requirement framework

In the following chapter, the six literature-based and pretested criteria (usability, security, information, transparency, integration, and mobilisation) are presented including suggested subcategories. They are grouped in technical, content-related and interactivity requirements.

4.1 Technical Requirements

The entire participation process is based on technical functionalities of an OPP. Technical requirements can be divided into two subcategories (usability and security): *usability* (Levi & Conrad, 2001, Signore, 2005, Davis, 1989) includes (1) navigation (menu/ page structure, links), (2) design (text, picture/ page layout, presentation on mobile devices), (3) multimedia (videos, sounds), (4) efficiency (effort to find information; effort to actively participate at a voting or discussion, etc.), and (5) help system.

Security includes security of information (integrity, authenticity, commitment, availability, and confidentiality), as well as privacy aspects (pseudonymisation and anonymisation) (Yildiz, 2007, Mulgan, 2014).

4.2 Content-related Requirements

Content-related requirements refer to content provided on the OPP. They are divided into two subcategories (information and ransparency/tracebility): *information* includes (1) correctness (of the information), (2) completeness, (3) actuality, and target-group orientation/ inclusivity (i.e., multilinguism, accessibility, gender neutrality) of the decision relevant information. *Transparency/ traceability* (Kubicek et al., 2011; Venkatesh und Davis, 2000, Signore, 2005) refers to (1) participation processes as such (disclosure of different user groups, FAQs, conditions of use) and (2) the provision of information and data (readability, information set-up) and information structure (number of headings and subheadings, paragraph length, etc.).

4.3 Interactivity Requirements

Interactivity requirements include all requirements that relate to the interaction of institution, citizens, and website during the process. Two subcategories are defined (integration and mobilisation): *integration* (Venkatesh et al., 2003, Kubicek et al., 2011) involves (1) institutionalisation/automatisation of the OPP to assure the possibility of a continuation, as well as (2) commitment in dealing with results. *Mobilisation* (Große et al., 2014, Venkatesh et al., 2003, Kubicek et al., 2011) can be divided into (1) marketing / PR (online and offline), (2) media impact, (3) integration of online and offline steps and (4) topic relevance.

5 Conclusion & Limitations

The proposed requirement framework includes evaluation approaches for website quality and interaction of citizens and institution to enhance a context-specific and practical evaluation of OPPs. Technical requirements are prerequisites for the acceptance of OPPs by participating citizens. Context-related requirements necessitate the political functionality. Interactivity criteria are ultimately responsible for the success of the process. To the best of our knowledge there is no other requirement framework that focuses on such instruments and comprises such a broad evaluation. All suggested criteria were pretested by experts from research
as well as public officials and providers of OPPs. The integration of different theoretical perspectives aims to enable a systematic and objective analysis of OPPs in the future. Furthermore, the comparability will be faciliated.

Our current research focusses on the concretisation of the requirement criteria. The questionnaire is modified to also include users in the evaluation process of the framework. As a next step we aim to find reliable instruments and tools to empirically test platforms referring the six requirement criteria.

In future research, we plan to expand the requirement framework by other nonpolitical domains, e.g. in the context of enterprise participation. But also include more specific requirements such as the choice of mechanisms in participatory budgetings (Niemeyer et al. 2015). The main goal, however, is to create a utilisable and demand-oriented requirement framework for the evaluation of existing OPPs.

References

Aladwani, A.M. (2006). An empirical test of the link between web site quality and forward enterprise integration with web consumers. *Business Process Management Journal 12(2)*, 178-190.

Aladwani, A.M., & Prashant, C.P. (2002). Developing and validating an instrument for measuring user-perceived web quality. *Information & Management 39*, 467-476.

Davis, F., Bagozzi, P., & Warshaw, P. (1989). User acceptance of computer technology - a comparison of two theoretical models. *Management Science 35(8)*, 982–1003.

Escher, T. (2013). Mobilisierung zu politischer Partizipation durch das Internet: Erwartungen, Erkenntnisse und Herausforderungen der Forschung. *Analyse und Kritik 02*, 449-476.

Gilardi, F., & Braun, D. (2002). Delegation aus der Sicht der Prinzipal-Agent-Theorie. *Politische Vierteljahresschrift 43(1)*, 147-161.

Große, K. et al. (2012). Der Erfolg von enquetebeteiligung.de. Friedrichshafen.

Heller, K., Price, R.H., Reinharz, S., Riger, S., & Wandersman, A. (1984). *Psychology and Community Change: Challenges of the Future*. Dorsey: Homewood.

HIIG (2014). Online Mitmachen und Entscheiden: Partizipationsstudie 2014. Berlin.

Kirakowski, J., & Corbett, M. (1993). SUMI: the Software Usability Measurement Inventory. *British Journal of Educational Technology 24(3)*, :210-212.

Kubicek, H., Lippa, B., & Koop, A. (2011). Erfolgreich beteiligt? Nutzen und Erfolgsfaktoren internetgestützer Bürgerbeteiligung. Eine empirische Analyse von 12 Fallbeispielen. Gütersloh.

Levi, M.D., & Conrad, F.G. (2001). Usability Testing of World Wide Web Sites.

Madan, A., & Dubey, S.K. (2012). Usability Evaluation Methods: A Literature Review. *International Journal of Engineering Science and Technology (IJEST)* 4(2), 590-599.

Mulgan, R. (2014). *Making Open Government Work*. Hampshire: Palgrave Macmillan.

Niemeyer, C., Hellmanns, A., Teubner, T., & Weinhardt, C. (2015). Combining Crowdfunding and Budget Allocation on Participation Platforms. *Proceedings of the First Karlsruhe Service Summit Research Workshop - Advances in Service Research*, 105-112.

Roleff, D. (2012). Digitale Politik und Partizipation: Möglichkeiten und Grenzen. *Aus Politik und Zeitgeschichte: Digitale Demokratie* 7, 14-20.

Signore, O. (2005). A comprehensive model for Web sites quality. Budapest.

Venkatesh, V., & Davis, F. (2000). A Theoretical Extension of the Technology Acceptance Model: Four longitudinal field studies. *Management science 46(2)*, 186–204.

Venkatesh, V., Morris, M., Davis, F., & Davis, M. (2003). User Acceptance of Information Technology - toward a Unified View. *MIS Quarterly 27(3)*, 425–478.

Venkatesh, V., Thong, J.Y.L., & Xu, X. (2012). Consumer Acceptance and Use of Information Technology: Extending the Unified Theory of Acceptance and Use of Technology. *MIS Quarterly 36(1)*, 157-178.

Yildiz, M. (2007). E-government research: Reviewing the literature, limitations, and ways forward. *Government Information Quarterly 24(3)*, 646-665.

Smart Services and Internet of Things

Utilizing Ontological Classification Systems and Reasoning for Cyber-Physical Systems

Stefan Zander^a, Yingbing Hua^b

^aFZI Research Center for Information Technology ^bKarlsruhe Institute of Technology

Abstract

This work presents a novel ontology-based approach for the complementation of technical specifications of cyber-physical system components using ontological classification and reasoning. We build on the AutomationML standard and outline how data represented with it can be transformed into an RDF instance graph. We exemplarily show how complementary information about a component's functionality, its operation environment and purpose can be inferred through a combination of automatic classification with the linkage of different domain classification systems. The general applicability of the presented approach is demonstrated by a concrete use case from the ReApp project.

Keywords: Industry 4.0, Knowledge Representation, Cyber-Physical Systems, Semantic Web Technologies, AI Reasoning Methods

1. Introduction

In this work, we concisely present a novel ontology-based approach for complementing technical specifications of hardware components found in cyber-physical systems (CPS) using ontological classification and reasoning. The main feature that distinguishes this approach from most related ontology-based knowledge representation approaches in robotics and CPS is that we exclusively describe such information in the terminological part (*aka TBox*), i.e., the schema part of ontologies in order to fully exploit the formal, model-theoretic semantics of the underlying ontology language and the logical entailments that can be computed from it by a reasoner (Rudolph, 2011; Krötzsch et al., 2014; Zander and Awad, 2015). The deduced terminological knowledge can then be used to

 $[\]label{eq:mail_addresses: zander@fzi.de} \ensuremath{\mathsf{Email}} \ensuremath{\mathsf{Addresses:}} \ensuremath{\mathsf{zander}}\xspace), \verb"yingbing.hua@kit.edu" (Yingbing Hua)$

complement the description of CPS components with information that is not explicitly asserted in their original technical specifications. We specifically use Description Logics (DL) as knowledge representation framework since they provide well-understood reasoning complexity and tractability (Baader et al., 2003; Gil, 2005; Krötzsch et al., 2014). As a consequence, the semantics upon which complementary information is deduced can be shared, extended, or adopted by other CPSs in order to reason about component descriptions.

2. Expressing Technical Specifications using AutomationML

AutomationML¹ (AML) is a well-known and fast growing standard that already caught the attention of Industry 4.0 communities (RAM, 2015). It covers engineering aspects including topology, geometry, kinematics, logic and communication (Drath et al., 2008) that can be used for describing properties and functionalities of a CPS component. Data contained in the AML description of one component can be exposed to the communication network of a CPS system and consumed by other components (Schleipen et al., 2014). From a modelling perspective, AutomationML is based on the object-oriented paradigm and supports fundamental techniques like class-instance relationship and inheritance hierarchy. The architecture of AutomationML contains the following blocks:

- RoleClass library: Domain-specific concepts are modelled as RoleClasses and organized as taxonomy in the RoleClass library. AutomationML provides a predefined set of RoleClass libraries for the domain of automation and manufacturing that covers abstract concepts like product, process, and resource, and specific components like robot or conveyor. These can be extended to cover individual requirements of the application domain.
- InterfaceClass library: InterfaceClasses define relations between objects. AutomationML predefines some abstract interfaces for general automation systems, that can be further extended by user.
- SystemUnitClass library: Component models in the production system can be modelled as SystemUnitClasses. These are specific user-defined AML classes and typically manufacturer-dependent. A SystemUnitClass can reference multiple RoleClasses by means of SupportedRoleClass to demonstrate its semantics.
- InstanceHierarchy: Concret instances of component models can be stored in the InstanceHierarchy. These instances carry project data and represent the real plant setup in the digital world.

However, none of these elements exhibit an explicit machine-readable formalization of its semantics. To accurately interpret data, special software with

¹www.automationml.org



Figure 1: Overview of the presented approach showing uplifting, classification, and complementation phases for hardware component descriptions

hard-coded knowledge and application logic has to be implemented. Developers are assumed to have the correct understanding of the elements' semantics, which is often error-prone. Although AutomationML carries basic semantic information of a SystemUnitClass or its instance (in the InstanceHierarchy), the data exchange process is merely a serialization and deserialization of XML files that enables syntactic interoperability only (Biffl et al., 2014).

3. Approach

The presented approach presupposes the existence of an AML description of a hardware component. An AML description is analysed and transformed, i.e., *up-lifted* into a compliant RDF description using transformation rules and domain heuristics (Section 3.1). The attributes contained in the generated RDF instance graph are then processed by a DL reasoner for automatic classification according to types defined in domain ontologies (Section 3.3). This is important as it builds the basis for inferring additional terminological knowledge by linking classification systems of different domain ontologies (Section 3.2). The inferred knowledge can the be added to the uplifted RDF instance model to provide a more complete and expressive representation (see Figure 1 for an overview).

3.1. Transforming AML Descriptions into RDF Graphs

Some initiatives already aimed at complementing AML with ontological semantics: Persson et al. (2010) introduced the transformation of AML documents into RDF triple stores which can be queried with SPARQL. Kovalenko et al. (2015) tried to lift AML data into an ontology by directly converting the underlying XML schema of AML into the Web Ontology Language (OWL). A domain ontology was adopted in Björkelund et al. (2011) to extend semantic expressivity of AML for robotics. In contrast to these works, we use ontological reasoning in order to complement uplifted AML descriptions with additional semantics. We focus on SystemUnitClasses, because they represent reusable models of CPS components that contain richer information of functionalities. The following rules are applied to extract the implicit semantics of a SystemUnitClass into explicit form in RDF.

- 1. A SystemUnitClass will be transformed into one RDF graph.
- 2. Each SupportedRoleClass corresponds to a RDF TBox concept in the domain ontology. For each of them in the SystemUnitClass, we assign a TBox concept to the ABox instance.
- 3. We defined a direct mapping between all attributes and the properties defined in the ReApp domain ontologies.

Once all AML-specific notations are transformed, i.e., uplifted into an RDF graph that uses the terms defined in the domain ontologies to equivalently represent the AML classes, attributes, and values, it can be used for automated classification and the computation of implicitly contained knowledge.

3.2. Linking Classification Systems for Expressing Features of Components

In the ReApp-project² (Zander et al., 2015), we developed three different kinds of ontologies for encoding different types of domain knowledge. The *hardware* and *software ontologies* provide classification systems for technical components whereas the *capabilities ontology* defines a classification system for functionalities hard- and software components are able to perform. These different kinds of ontologies are linked together via a *base ontology* that defines the basic terms used to express the set of capabilities a certain hard- or software type exhibits per default.

As demonstrated in Zander and Awad (2015), capability information can be axiomatically linked to component classification systems via *role restriction axioms* to assert that a given capability (and all the capabilities it is subsumed by) is the default capability for a given classification type. Role restriction axioms in general interlink roles, concepts, and quantifiers³ (Rudolph, 2011; Krötzsch et al., 2014) by forming an anonymous super class that contains all the individuals that satisfy the given restriction (Horridge et al., 2004). The following axioms exemplarily demonstrate how a hardware classification for SafetyLaserScanner

²http://www.reapp-projekt.de

³More expressive DLs even allow for the specification of multiplicity constraints

can be linked to a capability classification SafeMonitoringOf2DFields that acts as its default via a role restriction along the property hasCapability (Axiom 1) and what additional capabilities can be inferred via subsumption reasoning (Axiom 2 and 3):

$SafetyLaserScanner \sqsubseteq \exists hasCapability.SafeMonitoringOf2DFields$	(1)
$SafetyLaserScanner \sqsubseteq LaserScanner$	(2)
$LaserScanner\sqsubseteq \exists hasCapability.MonitoringOf2DFields$	(3)
$MonitoringOf2DFields \sqsupseteq$ Safe $MonitoringOf2DFields$	(4)

With Axiom 2 the reasoner can deduce that a SafetyLaserScanner also has the default capability MonitoringOf2DFields and materialize this information for classified components. Once different domain classification systems are linked together, certain conditions can be defined that need to be satisfied by an individual component in order to be classified accordingly.

3.3. Defining Conditions for Automated Classification

By specifying *necessary* and *sufficient conditions* for class membership, a reasoner is capable to automatically classify random instances on the basis of the relationships they participate in (Horridge et al., 2004). This enables the automated classification of uplifted RDF component specifications according to the attributes extracted from its AML representation (see Figure 1). The formal interpretation of which is that the given conditions are not only necessary for determining class membership, they are also sufficient in a way that any random individual that satisfies these conditions becomes member of a class. The following axioms allow a reasoner to classify an uplifted component as 7AxisRobotArm, iff it is a RobotArm and participates in a numberOfAxis relationship, the value of which must be 7, i.e., iff it has exactly seven rotational axes:

(5)
(6)
(7)

```
7Ax is Robot Arm \sqsubseteq \exists has Capability. Flexible Configuration (8)
```

When a component is classified as 7AxisRobotArm, the reasoner can infer that it offers the two default capabilities ReachPose and FlexibleConfiguration. Formally, this means that the class 7AxisRobotArm is subsumed by the two complex class expressions \exists hasCapability.ReachPose and \exists hasCapability.FlexibleConfiguration.

These additional subsumption relations can then be used for complementing a component's specification by *materializing* (see Domingue et al. (2011)) all the implicit knowledge inferred by a reasoner and add it to the component's instance model. The materialization is important as it allows all the inferred knowledge

about a component to be indexed by a triple store and retrieved through RDF query languages such as SPARQL (SPARQL, 2013). For the materialization of capability information, we employ the concept of *DL nominals* (cf. Baader et al. (2003); Rudolph (2011); Krötzsch et al. (2014)) to use them both in ABox and TBox axioms and ensure their *singularity*.

In the last part, we demonstrate how this axiomatic knowledge can be used for complementing the technical AML specification of a Sick S30B laser scanner. The following code excerpt shows the uplifted RDF representation⁴:

```
1
2
3
4
5
6
```

By employing automatic classification in combination with reasoning on the terminological part of domain ontologies, the RDF representation can be complemented by the following inferred and materialized information:

```
1
2
3
4
5
```

<urn:uuid:f81d4fae-7dec-11d0-a765-00a0c91e6bf6>
rdf:type :2DSaftyLaserSensor , :LaserSensor , :Hardware Component ;
:hasCapability :{SafeMonitoringOf2DFields} , :{MonitoringOf2DFields} , :{Monitoring} ;
:hasPurpose :{HazardousAreaProtection} , :{AccessProtection} , :{PersonnelSafety} ;
:hasOperationEvironment :iIndoor, iOutdoor .

The annotation model now contains information about its concrete type, capabilities, purposes and the operation environments in which it can be used.

4. Conclusion

In this work, we presented an approach for complementing the technical specifications of CPS' components by utilizing the formal, model-theoretic semantics encoded in DL ontologies using reasoning. We introduced AML as an XMLbased technical specification language that facilitates data exchange between CPSs but has only limited semantic expressivity. We outlined how different classification systems can be linked together to express features and other relevant characteristics, how conditions can be defined to enable an automated classification of uplifted RDF component descriptions, and how implicitly inferred information can be used to complement component descriptions. In use cases from the ReApp project, we could demonstrate that the technical AML specifications can be complemented in useful ways to enable a formal verification and validation of component orchestrations, to foster reusability, and to compute advanced capabilities for compound components.

 $^{^{4}}$ We omitted namespaces for reasons of readability and comprehensibility.

References

- Sebastian Rudolph. Foundations of description logics. In Reasoning Web. Semantic Technologies for the Web of Data – 7th International Summer School 2011, volume 6848 of LNCS, pages 76–136. Springer, 2011.
- Markus Krötzsch, František Simančík, and Ian Horrocks. Description logics. *IEEE Intelligent Systems*, 29:12–19, 2014.
- Stefan Zander and Ramez Awad. Expressing and reasoning on features of robotcentric workplaces using ontological semantics. In *IEEE/RSJ Intl. Conf. on Intelligent Robots and Systems.* to be published, 2015.
- Franz Baader, Diego Calvanese, Deborah McGuinness, Daniele Nardi, and Peter Patel-Schneider. The Description Logic Handbook: Theory, Implementation and Applications. Cambridge University Press, 2003. ISBN 0521781760.
- Yolanda Gil. Description logics and planning. *AI Magazine*, 26(2):73-84, 2005. URL http://dblp.uni-trier.de/db/journals/aim/aim26.html#Gil05.
- Reference architecture model industrie 4.0. Technical report, ZVEI, 2015. URL http://www.zvei.org/en/subjects/Industry-40/Pages/ The-Reference-Architectural-Model-RAMI-40-and-the-Industrie-40-Component. aspx.
- R. Drath, A. Luder, J. Peschke, and L. Hundt. Automationml the glue for seamless automation engineering. In *Emerging Technologies and Factory Au*tomation, 2008. ETFA 2008. IEEE International Conference on, pages 616– 623, Sept 2008. doi: 10.1109/ETFA.2008.4638461.
- M. Schleipen, J. Pfrommer, K. Aleksandrov, D. Stogl, S. Escaida, J. Beyerer, and B. Hein. Automationml to describe skills of production plants based on the ppr concept. In *3rd AutomationML user conference*, 2014.
- S. Biffl, O. Kovalenko, A. Luder, N. Schmidt, and R. Rosendahl. Semantic mapping support in automationml. In *Emerging Technology and Factory Automation (ETFA), 2014 IEEE*, pages 1–4, Sept 2014. doi: 10.1109/ETFA. 2014.7005276.
- Jacob Persson, Axel Gallois, Anders Bjoerkelund, Love Hafdell, Mathias Haage, Jacek Malec, Klas Nilsson, and Pierre Nugues. A knowledge integration framework for robotics. In *Robotics (ISR), 2010 41st International Symposium on and 2010 6th German Conference on Robotics (ROBOTIK)*, pages 1–8, June 2010.
- O. Kovalenko, M. Wimmer, M. Sabou, A. Luder, F.J. Ekaputra, and S. Biffl. Modeling automationml: Semantic web technologies vs. model-driven engineering. In *Emerging Technologies Factory Automation (ETFA)*, 2015 IEEE 20th Conference on, pages 1–4, Sept 2015. doi: 10.1109/ETFA.2015.7301643.

- Anders Björkelund, Jacek Malec, Klas Nilsson, and Pierre Nugues. Knowledge and skill representations for robotized production. In *Proceedings of the 18th IFAC World Congress*, August 28–September 2 2011.
- Stefan Zander, Georg Heppner, Georg Neugschwandtner, Ramez Awad, Marc Essinger, and Nadia Ahmed. A model-driven engineering approach for ros using ontological semantics. In Proceedings of the 6th International Workshop on Domain-Specific Languages and models for ROBotic systems (DSLRob-15) co-located with the IEEE/RSJ International Conference on Intelligent Robots and Systems (IROS), 2015.
- Matthew Horridge, H. Knublauch, A. Rector, R. Stevens, and C. Wroe. A *Practical Guide To Building OWL Ontologies With The Protege-OWL Plugin.* University of Manchester, 1 edition, 2004. URL http://home.skku.edu/~samoh/class/sw/ProtegeOWLTutorial.pdf.
- John Domingue, Dieter Fensel, and James A. Hendler, editors. Handbook of Semantic Web Technologies. Springer, Berlin, 2011. ISBN 978-3-540-92912-3. doi: 10.1007/978-3-540-92913-0.
- SPARQL. SPARQL 1.1 Query Language. Technical report, W3C, 2013. URL http://www.w3.org/TR/sparql11-query.

Enabling companies to make use of industrial clouds - Foundations for Evidence-Based Engineering of Service Systems (Dissertation Proposal)

Benedikt Höckmayr, benedikt.hoeckmayr@fau.de, FAU Erlangen-Nürnberg

Abstract

Cyber-physical systems (CPS) and their underlying technological manifestations have a deep impact on various industry sectors, e.g. manufacturing or logistics. The conjunction of machine intelligence with human intelligence together with the ubiquitous availability of data and vast opportunities for automation allow for new forms of service provision. To date, however, the lack of design knowledge on such architectures limits the opportunities for taking advantage of recent technological developments to engineer innovative service. Gaining this designknowledge represents a challenge since value creation in the field of services strongly relies on their conceptualization as being contextual and collaborative. The complex socio-technical context of service systems and the central role of interactions among the participating actors are limiting the opportunities for meaningful research in laboratory settings. Hence, in order to generate design knowledge with strong validity, research has to be embedded within existing service systems or within the engineering of respective novel socio-technical entities. By this, evidence-based knowledge can be aggregated and instrumentalized for the design, implementation and evaluation of real-world service systems in the course of service systems engineering (SSE).

1 Introduction

Service engineering with its tools and methods primarily addresses the service economy. Over time, this economic sector is facing a set of changes in terms of content and structure (Hartmann, 2002). Services in the context of B2B or B2C relationships are in a state of flux and new forms of service provision are arising. A phenomenon contributing to these changing market environment deals with the rise of cyber-physical systems. Their technical architecture can be identified as one of the biggest factors influencing the service ecosystem (Zolnowski, Schmitt, & Böhmann, 2011). This specifically applies to their impact on industrial product manufacturers. By equipping industrial products with sensors and connectivity, manufacturers might still collect data from the equipment that is already sold which enables them to provide additional service (Herterich, Uebernickel, & Brenner, 2015b). In this sense, remote services, teleservices, or remote maintenance services facilitate monitoring and maintenance of industrial machines and whole plants by utilizing ICT (Holtbrügge, Holzmüller, & von Wangenheim, 2007). Moreover, the substitution of reactive services by proactive or even predictive approaches is fostered by data pooling and data analysis methods in order to calculate maintenance intervals and failure probability in the forefront of a potential breakdown (Muller, Crespo Marquez, & Iung, 2008). In the context of recent developments, open cloud platforms, so called industrial clouds, are utilized which provide smart data tools for data analytics, data visualization or business intelligence to multiple stakeholders. By contextualizing big data, which is per se non-descriptive, with additional domain information, smart data is generated (Siemens, 2014, 2015). These data sets bear high potential for innovating new services since they are based on evidence from real-world settings. Arising from this perspective, industrial clouds enable the aggregation of evidence for engineering new service systems.

Concomitant with these technologically connoted developments, also a shift regarding the underlying mechanisms of value creation becomes apparent. Due to increased interdisciplinary and complexity, more players are involved in product and service offerings, and the market and the ecosystem are getting more complex (Zolnowski et al., 2011). Service provision is increasingly manifested by cooperative service networks (Klostermann, 2008) where value is not only created in a dichotomy of provider and customer. In fact, in a multi-sided value logic, value creation takes place in the course of collaboration among multiple stakeholders (Benkler, 2006). This increased complexity in service provision constitutes a need

Benedikt Höckmayr

for expanding its conceptual understanding. Thus, not merely concrete services, but rather complex service systems are the object of observation (K. Meyer & Böttcher, 2011).

The incorporation of industrial clouds in conjunction with the thereby precipitated increased complexity in service systems and networks requires input from disciplines and expertise outside the traditional service research arena. Here, the potential of theories from design science and engineering can be leveraged. An example in this context is systems engineering, which can be regarded as a promising approach for integrating IS expertise with other aspects of service design (Ostrom, Parasuraman, Bowen, Patricio, & Voss, 2015). Arising from this perspective, service systems engineering seeks to advance knowledge on models, methods, and artifacts that enable or support the engineering of service systems (Böhmann, Leimeister, & Möslein, 2014).

There is already a solid knowledge base on traditional service engineering which provides simple and easy to handle models, methods and tools (Bullinger, Fähnrich, & Meiren, 2003; Bullinger & Scheer, 2006; Fähnrich, Meiren, & Barth, 1999; Luczak, 2004) for engineering new services in a systematic way. However, these approaches do not take full advantage of the opportunities for systemic, interactive, and collaborative service innovation arising from the advances in ICT (Böhmann et al., 2014). Novel approaches face this challenge by setting up complex toolkits for engineering new services systems (Hermann, Ganz, & Westner, 2013; L.-P. Meyer & Meyer, 2013; Westner & Hermann, 2015). These approaches address industrial application contexts where services are developed professionally. Large firms can manage these processes by creating structurally separate business units whereas SMEs and traditionally oriented companies that want to make a shift towards providing services commonly suffer from limited slack resources so that only limited competence in this field can be maintained (McDermott & Prajogo, 2012). Therefore, companies with limited design knowledge in the field of service engineering are mostly not capable of making use of the value creation potential (Herterich, Uebernickel, & Brenner, 2015a) fostered by the rise of CPS, i.e. open cloud platforms.

Against this backdrop, novel work should seek to strike a balance between the two manifestations described above. Thus, there is a need for new models, methods and tools in the field of service systems engineering which are simple and easy to handle on the hand, but also make use of the recent developments in connection with CPS, i.e. industrial clouds. Guided by this, the following research question can be identified: Which models, methods and tools are suitable for making use of the incorporation of industrial clouds among companies with limited design knowledge in the field of evidence-based engineering of service systems?

2 Theoretical framework

In the course of contributions from Vargo and Lusch, a rethinking in service research is postulated and the idea of a systemic approach is propagated (Vargo & Lusch, 2004; Vargo, 2009). From a systems perspective (Kast & Rosenzweig, 1972), service systems enable value co-creation through the configuration of actors and resources (Vargo & Lusch, 2004).

In the context of industrial clouds, the underlying technological system predetermines the role of actors and resources. Based on that, a distinction in between data providers, cloud provider, and data receiver can be made. The roles of actors and resources, respectively the roles of service provider and user are changing according to the different value creation constellations. Based on this assumption, potential service providers shall be identified and enabled for engineering their service systems as a subsystem of the whole system. A framework will be developed as an initial foundation for further research and will be adjusted accordingly by applying the research methods mentioned in the further course.

3 Research Design

By applying action design research as a research method, design knowledge for engineering new services systems on the fundament of industrial data clouds will be aggregated. In order to aggregate this knowledge, three studies with respective focuses will be conducted.

The first study will consist of setting the stage for the use of industrial data clouds among various companies from various industry sectors and various degrees of knowledge in service engineering. Therefore, a state of the art review of industrial Benedikt Höckmayr

data clouds will be conducted with the aim of identifying various value creation constellations and according requirements concerning the use of the cloud infrastructure on behalf of the respective service provider. In a first step, a framework is created which incorporates all actors and relevant resources in the service ecosystem constituted by the cloud infrastructure. This framework is applied to various use cases of the industrial data cloud among companies which could potentially engineer new services in this environment. In the course of action design research, interviews with corresponding companies and workshops will be held. By this, a holistic and widely applicable model representing the whole service system shall be created iteratively. Furtheron, the framework will be used to determine emerging value creation potentials from the perspective of different actors in the whole service system. In order to ensure a broad transferability of the evidence generated, a widely applicable theoretical foundation, such as the work systems framework by (Alter, 2008, 2012) will be instrumentalized. By this, resulting partial service systems can be conceptualized as subsystems of the overall service systems derived from the cloud infrastructure and all of its incorporated actors and resources. Based, on that, inherent requirements for the use of industrial clouds will be aggregated from the respective value creation perspectives identified beforehand.

In the course of the second study, existing methods in service engineering will be identified, analyzed and evaluated in terms of their potential for engineering new service systems in the context of industrial clouds. Against this backdrop, a literature review will be conducted where methods are contrasted with the value creation constellations and according requirements identified beforehand. Based on that, a model for engineering service systems is set up. This model incorporates stages in which cloud-based tools can be applied in the course of evidence-based engineering. The approach determined in the course of action design research in the first study will be incorporated as an initial phase.

The core of the third study is to apply the service system engineering process developed beforehand in different value creation constellations. As mentioned above, the first study also depicts a phase in this process which determines the service system to be engineered by the respective service provider within the whole system constituted by the cloud infrastructure. Arising from various perspectives of value creation among the different companies involved, different requirements for the engineering process and according cloud-based tools are relevant. The resulting scenario-dependent service engineering processes are evaluated in a multiple case study setting in order to determine their applicability and to adjust them by means of action design research.

4 Research Contribution & Managerial Implications

The dissertation to be conducted will provide valuable contributions in this context. By applying a systemic perspective, services can be regarded as complex socio-technical systems, i.e. service systems. In the course of applying this perspective, crucial factors in terms of service provision, i.e. the integration of industrial clouds with the thereby induced increased complexity in the underpinning ecosystem, can be challenged. In this sense, besides generating evidence-based knowledge on real world service systems by recognizing the connectedness and complementarity of their elements, the aim of this work is to provide simple and lightweight models, methods, and tools for service systems engineering which are fully making use of recent developments in ICT, but also facing the challenges of multi-sided value co-creation. In the course of piloting service innovation within real-world environments, these models, methods, and tools can be created on the foundation of evidence-based design knowledge which promises a broad applicability. By formalizing the research findings, a valuable contribution to the approach of service systems engineering as a whole is accomplished. In a managerial context, a valuable contribution is made in terms of enabling companies with only limited knowledge in engineering services in complex environments to extend their business opportunities. By providing an end-to-end guideline which helps to sensitize respective companies for the potential of making use of industrial clouds on the one hand and providing an easy to handle and scenario-dependent service system engineering process on the other hand, especially SMEs, which can be regarded as the backbone of the German economy, are capable of getting their share out of recent technological developments.

References

- Alter, S. (2008). Service system fundamentals: Work system, value chain, and life cycle. *IBM Systems Journal*, 47(1), 71–85. doi:10.1147/sj.471.0071
- Alter, S. (2012). Metamodel for Service Analysis and Design Based on an Operational View of Service and Service Systems. *Service Science*, *4*, 218–235. doi:10.1287/serv.1120.0020
- Benkler, Y. (2006). *The wealth of networks: How social production transforms markets and freedom*. New Haven: Yale University Press.
- Böhmann, T., Leimeister, J. M., & Möslein, K. (2014). Service Systems Engineering. *Business & Information Systems Engineering*, 6(2), 73–79. doi:10.1007/s12599-014-0314-8
- Bullinger, H. J., Fähnrich, K. P., & Meiren, T. (2003). Service engineering -Methodical development of new service products. *International Journal of Production Economics*, 85, 275–287. doi:10.1016/S0925-5273(03)00116-6
- Bullinger, H. J., & Scheer, A. (Edt. . (2006). *Service Engineering Entwicklung und Gestaltung innovativer Dienstleistungen*. Berlin: Springer.
- Fähnrich, K., Meiren, T., & Barth, T. (1999). *Service Engineering*. Retrieved from http://bilder.buecher.de/zusatz/20/20754/20754498_inha_1.pdf
- Hartmann, A. (2002). Dienstleistungen im wirtschaftlichen Wandel: Struktur, Wachstum und Beschäftigung. Dienstleistungen in Der Neuen Ökonomie. Struktur, Wachstum Und Beschäftigung. Gutachten Der Friedrich-Ebert-Stiftung. Berlin, 1–25.
- Hermann, S., Ganz, W., & Westner, P. (2013). The path to a computer-aided design system for services. (K. Meyer & M. Thieme, Eds.)Theory and Practice for System Services Providers in Complex Value Chains and Service Systems – Proceedings of the 5th International Symposium on Service Science Leipzig (Germany), September 24, 2013. Leipzig: InfAI.
- Herterich, M., Uebernickel, F., & Brenner, W. (2015a). Nutzenpotentiale cyberphysischer Systeme für industrielle Dienstleistungen 4.0. *HMD Praxis Der Wirtschaftsinformatik*. doi:10.1365/s40702-015-0164-y
- Herterich, M., Uebernickel, F., & Brenner, W. (2015b). The Impact of Cyberphysical Systems on Industrial Services in Manufacturing. *Procedia CIRP*, *30*, 323–328. doi:10.1016/j.procir.2015.02.110
- Holtbrügge, D., Holzmüller, H. H., & von Wangenheim, F. (Eds.). (2007). *Remote services*. Wiesbaden: Gabler.
- Kast, F. E., & Rosenzweig, J. E. (1972). General systems theory: applications for organization and management. *Academy of Management Journal*, 15(4),

447-465. doi:10.2307/255141

- Klostermann, T. (2008). *Optimierung kooperativer Dienstleistungen im Technischen Kundendienst des Maschinenbaus*. Wiesbaden: Gabler. doi:10.1007/978-3-8349-9701-2
- Luczak, H. (2004). Betriebliche Tertiarisierung: Der ganzheitliche Wandel vom Produktionsbetrieb zum dienstleistenden Problemlöser. Heidelberg: Gabler. doi:10.1007/978-3-322-81764-8
- McDermott, C. M., & Prajogo, D. I. (2012). Service innovation and performance in SMEs. *International Journal of Operations & Production Management*. doi:10.1108/01443571211208632
- Meyer, K., & Böttcher, M. (2011). Entwicklungspfad Service Engineering 2.0 -Neue Perspektiven für die Dienstleistungsentwicklung. Leibziger Beiträge zur Informatik: Band XXIX. doi:978-3-941608-16-0
- Meyer, L.-P., & Meyer, K. (2013). Round-Trip Engineering for System Services. In Theory and Practice for System Services Providers in Complex Value Chains and Service Systems Proceedings of the 5th International Symposium on Service Science Leipzig (Germany), September 24, 2013 (pp. 127–135). Retrieved from http://nbn-resolving.de/urn:nbn:de:bsz:15-qucosa-128474
- Muller, A., Crespo Marquez, A., & lung, B. (2008). On the concept of emaintenance: Review and current research. *Reliability Engineering and System Safety*, *93*(8), 1165–1187. doi:10.1016/j.ress.2007.08.006
- Ostrom, Parasuraman, A., Bowen, D. E., Patricio, L., & Voss, C. a. (2015). Service Research Priorities in a Rapidly Changing Context. *Journal of Service Research*, 18(2), 127–159. doi:10.1177/1094670515576315
- Siemens. (2014). Maximum plant performance using smart data. Retrieved September 5, 2015, from http://www.industry.siemens.com/services/global/en/portfolio/plant-dataservices/Documents/Flyer_PDS-EN.pdf
- Siemens. (2015). Siemens to build open cloud platform for industrial customers. Retrieved April 7, 2015, from http://www.siemens.com/press/pool/de/pressemitteilungen/2015/digitalfa ctory/PR2015030152DFEN.pdf
- Vargo, S. L. (2009). Alternative Logics for Service Science. In *ISSS2009 International Symposium on Service Science, Keynote speech*. Leipzig.
- Vargo, S. L., & Lusch, R. F. (2004). Evolving to a New Dominant Logic for Marketing. *Journal of Marketing*, *68*(1), 1–17. doi:10.1509/jmkg.68.1.1.24036
- Westner, P., & Hermann, S. (2015). VR | ServE : A Software Toolset for Service Engineering using Virtual Reality. In *ICSERV 2015*. San José.

Zolnowski, A., Schmitt, A. K., & Böhmann, T. (2011). TECHNOLOGY ON SERVICE BUSINESS MODELS IN MANUFACTURING: FROM IMPROVING AFTER-SALES SERVICES TO BUILDING SERVICE ECOSYSTEMS. In *European Conference on Information Systems (ECIS)* (pp. 1–14). Retrieved from http://aisel.aisnet.org/ecis2011/109/

Requirements on a Service Tool to Foster Demand-Side-Management Under Changing Climate Conditions

Charlotte Newiadomsky, M.Sc., charlotte.newiadomsky@hs-niederrhein.de, SWK-Energiezentrum E² der Hochschule Niederrhein

Prof. Dr. Ingela Tietze, ingela.tietze@hs-pforzheim.de, Institut für Industrial Ecology, Hochschule Pforzheim

Abstract

Several countries in Europe, e.g., Spain, Turkey or Poland and worldwide, are already struggling with the existing impacts of climate change, such as long lasting droughts leading to a higher water demand for agricultural as well as industrial cooling processes (IPCC, 2014). As a result of higher insolation and rising temperatures (as predicted for the future), a higher demand for cooling systems for private as well as public buildings arises. If there is not enough water available for cooling conventional power plants during droughts, power plants have to restrict their amount of electricity generation in order to prevent an overheating of the river water. Additionally, droughts affect hydroelectric power plants as well, as they need certain minimum water levels to run the turbines. In countries with a large share of electricity generation from conventional and nuclear power plants, electricity generation from renewable energies such as wind turbines and photovoltaics can ease this problem. Nevertheless, renewable energy can lead to high fluctuations within the electricity grid as it is not available at all times. In that case, energy supply can neither be secured by the conventional and nuclear power plants nor by renewable energies. Besides alternative cooling technologies, demand-side-management (DSM) is an option, as it can adjust the demand to the actual market situation of water and energy. DSM can help to secure electricity supply by stabilising the operation of the electricity grid: electricity demand can be decreased and/or shifted to times of, e.g., high electricity feed in from renewable energy sources.

Aim of this paper is to define and establish the requirements on a service tool for the distribution of water and electricity, in order to secure energy supply by fostering DSM under changing climate conditions.

1 Dependency of the Security of Electricity Supply on Water Availability

1.1 The Energy-Water-Nexus

The USAID Global Environment Center in Washington D.C. already recognised in 2001, that energy and water have much in common and that energy is necessary to be able to use water and vice versa (Hurdus, 2001). However, the World Economic Forum states, that the International Food Policy research Institute (IFRI) expects a 30 % increase in water demand by 2030 (World Economic Forum, 2011), while the International Energy Agency (IEA) forecasts an increasing energy demand of 25 % by 2040 (IEA, 2015).



Figure 1.1

Supply triangle water, energy and agriculture (Newiadomsky & Tietze, 2015)

As it can be seen in Figure 1.1, water is needed for several industrial processes (production, cooling etc.) as well as for irrigation for agriculture (Halstead, Kober, & van der Zwaan, 2014). Moreover, energy is necessary for water supply (treatment, purification, distribution etc.) while it is also crucial for the production of fertilizers, biofuels or transport for the agricultural industry (Thirlwell, Madramootoo, & Heathcote, 2007). Products of the agricultural industry are in turn indirectly important for water treatment, e.g., purification via percolation (OECD, 2014). Households as well as industry are located in the middle of the described supply triangle, as they are depending on all three sectors in order to secure their demand. Industry depends additionally on these sectors in order to secure their supply (Newiadomsky & Tietze, 2015). A vicious circle can be observed, when countries depending on hydroelectricity have to turn to other energy sources leading to higher emissions and thus, influence the climate change (Thirlwell, Madramootoo, & Heathcote, 2007; Halstead, Kober, & van der Zwaan, 2014).

Depending on the plant size and the power plant type, different amounts of water are needed for cooling purposes, e.g., a nuclear power plant with once-through cooling withdraws between 95 to 227 m³ of water per MWh electricity, while cooling with a wet tower would lead to only 3.0 - 4.2 m³/MWh and with a pond to 1.9 - 4.2 m³/MWh. Water is necessary for every conventional plant type producing electricity, which shows the dependency on this resource (Davies, Kyle, & Edmonds, 2013). Regarding the amounts of water needed, it is crucial to find a solution to maintain energy security.

Apparently, there are conflicting interests between the sectors agriculture, water and energy as well as between the stakeholders, e.g., electricity versus water suppliers. Each stakeholder has its own focus, not necessarily considering the focus of the other stakeholders.

1.2 Climate change and energy security

Several studies on the impact of climate change on the environment predict an increase of air temperature (IPCC, 2013; Christidis, Jones, & Stott, 2015). This leads to increased evaporation from the water surfaces and an augmented need for

water for, e.g., cooling in power plants (Colman, 2013) or for irrigation of agricultural areas. Simultaneously, water temperatures increase and industrial cooling is impeded (Zammit, 2012). Although rising temperatures lead to melting glaciers, which could increase the regional water supply again, the glaciers are melting faster than they can build up again during the winter months. Due to rising air temperatures, the clouds would rather start raining than snowing during the winter months. In the foreseeable future, the additional inflow from glacial waters would no longer be available and the regional water supply can be significantly reduced in the summer months (IPCC, 2013). An overview about possible climate change impacts on energy supply gives Schaeffer et al. (2012). Reports from summer 2003 deliver an example of the impeded industrial cooling, in which 15 coal-fired power plants in Germany (Strauch, 2011) and 30 nuclear power plants in Europe (IAEA, 2004) were affected by the unusually high temperatures. In Germany, seven of the 30 European nuclear power plants as well as the aforementioned 15 coal-fired power plants had to reduce their electricity generating capacity by up to 78 % in the months of May to October due to the high water temperatures and the legal maximum temperatures for returning cooling water (Strauch, 2011).

Higher global temperatures will increase the possibility of droughts or floods: Due to rising temperatures, polar caps and glaciers melt and in turn result in rising sea levels. Furthermore, the temperature increase reduces the quality, quantity and accessibility of water resources: They lead to higher evaporation in lakes as well as rivers, which could lead to drying and thus, restriction on aquatic habitat and lowered water quality due to increased pollutant concentrations and oxygen deficits (IPCC, 2013). Accordingly, higher temperatures will lead to higher energy use to treat low quality water or to pump water from greater depth (U.S. Department of Energy, 2007). In turn, increased energy use will cause an increase in greenhouse gas emissions, while lower water availability leads to trade-offs between water users, such as agricultural industry and electricity suppliers, e.g., conventional and nuclear power plants (cf. Figure 1.1).

1.3 Rising generation costs due to lack of water

Evidently, increasing temperatures followed by more evaporation and less water availability, will force conventional power plant operators to decrease the amount of electricity generation (van Vliet, Yearsley, Ludwig, Vögele, Lettenmaier, & Kabat, 2012; Hoffmann, Häfele, & Karl, 2013) until the power plant has to be shut down. According to Flörke et al. (2012), the average water availability during summer is decreasing until 2050, so the competition for water resources increases for conventional power plants. Consecutively, the generation costs of the conventional power plants are likely to increase, as it will get more and more difficult to run the power plants with enough water, while water treatment will exacerbate because of the lack of electricity for treatment and distribution (van Vliet, Yearsley, Ludwig, Vögele, Lettenmaier, & Kabat, 2012).

2 Methodology

A solution to the problems of a secure electricity supply is a service tool considering Demand Side Management (DSM), amongst others. The consideration of DSM assists in fulfilling electricity and water demand to the possible extend: efficient appliances reduce water and electricity demand in times of low electricity availability and intelligent appliances shift demand to times with high water and electricity availability. A service tool considering DSM will be assembled as computer model, which is fed with information on water and electricity demands by the stakeholders as well as the availability of central and decentral electricitygenerating systems. External web services and data sources, clouds or sensor data can additionally be included. Basis for the service tool is a matrix showing in detail the information needed. These data are rule-based processed to a decision support matrix for each stakeholder, highly depending on the prevailing or predicted weather. It provides detailed information for the distribution of water and electricity under different circumstances. Aim of the service tool is, to provide decision support for the water distribution and to secure electricity supply: The individual water demands are differentiated into initial demand and minimal demand accompanied by a priority scheme for the individual demands. In order to ensure energy security, the service tool has to find the point of electricity balance

by weighing the demands and possible supply as well as by weighing between smart grid systems and electricity from renewable energy power plants.

3 Requirements and Specifications on a Service Tool

3.1 *Approaches for a service tool for the distribution of water and electricity*

Hoffmann, Häfele & Karl (2013) conducted a first model approach with projections up to the year 2070, considering several climate data projections, selected thermal power plants as well as their respective cooling systems and the legal threshold values for returning cooling water into waterbodies. Main aim of Hoffmann, Häfele & Karl is to analyse the impact of climate change on the efficiency of electricity generation with thermal power plants under consideration of different cooling technologies. The efficient distribution of water and electricity were not included in the study.

Several approaches exist with regard to energy management in industry, e.g., DIN EN ISO 50.001. Schieferdecker, Fünfgeld & Bonneschky (2006) describe for example the necessary parametrisation of industrial appliances for efficient energy controlling and load management. In order to cover the part for water distribution, similar information should be provided for water management. Additionally, information about the interdepending relation between electricity and water management has to be analysed.

A universal service tool to connect models for water resources management, energy management and energy system analysis is missing.

3.2 Establishment of a service tool

In order for a service tool to be used as decision support for the stakeholders, it has to provide information concerning energy and water management. Depending on the current and forecasted weather as well as the stakeholders' demand, river basin managers get decision support concerning a beneficial distribution scheme for water. The same information is of interest for electricity and water suppliers: Water suppliers can plan when to treat water and how to distribute the available water to the subsequent stakeholders (e.g. households). Whereas electricity sup-

pliers (e.g. conventional power plants) can plan their amount of electricity generation according to available cooling water amounts and receive information for a beneficial electricity mix for feed-in into the grid. Households, industry and the agricultural sector receive decision support in terms of how to shift energy and/or water intensive processes (e.g. use of washing machines) into times of high water / electricity availability. Additionally, these three groups receive decision support concerning, e.g., the use of energy efficient equipment. Transmission system operators and distribution grid operators receive decision support in terms of a beneficial mix of electricity from conventional, renewable and smart-grid sources to secure electricity supply. Apparently, the service tool is a solution to increase the service level of each stakeholder by offering a decent distribution solution for all stakeholders concerning the conflicting interests. For this, the service tool is developed as computer model, containing near-realtime data of and from the stakeholders, climate predictions as well as recommendations for DSM and water distribution. At first, a stakeholder analysis is conducted in order to consider all affected parties. On the one hand, an input matrix is build, including each stakeholder and, e.g., its necessary amount of water and electricity to operate. On the other hand, the required information from the service tool for each stakeholder has to be determined, in order to offer the stakeholders an incentive to use the service tool for decision support. An obvious incentive may be driven by economic behaviour, but in case of negative effects, political or legal incentives become necessary.

Table 1 shows an exemplary requirements matrix for the service tool from the stakeholder's point of view. It shows the expected information from the service tool. In the example matrix are eight stakeholder groups, who are affected by electricity and/or water supply: Industry, households, the agricultural sector, river basin management, the distribution grid operator, the transmission system operator as well as water and electricity suppliers (e.g. power plants, public services). Obviously, there are stakeholders from different organisational levels (national, regional, local etc.). The number of stakeholder groups can increase when dividing into smaller subgroups. As an example, the "electricity supplier" can be ag-

gregated firstly by power plant type, e.g., nuclear, and secondly by cooling technology. Each stakeholder group focusses on different requirements for decisionmaking.

Stakeholders	Weather forecast (short-term)	DSM options electricity	Distribu- tion options water	Allotted amount of electricity in kW	Allotted amount of water in m ³ /h
Transmission system operator	To prevent power failure of the grid	To secure electricity grid	NR ¹	NR ¹	NR^1
Distribution Grid Operator	To prevent power failure of the grid	To secure electricity grid	NR ¹	NR ¹	NR ¹
Electricity Supplier	To estimate electricity feed-in to the grid	Increase efficiency on the user-side of the electricity meter	NR ¹	NR ¹	To plan amount of electricity generation
River basin manager (water)	To distribute water accord- ing to con- tracts	NR ¹	To distrib- ute water by demand	NR ¹	NR^1
Water Supplier	To estimate water supply to stakehold- ers	NR ¹	NR ¹	To plan water treatment	NR ¹
Agricultural Sector	NR ¹	NR ¹	NR ¹	e.g., for use of farm equipment	e.g., to plan irrigation
Households	NR ¹	e.g. use of energy efficient equipment	NR ¹	e.g., for cooking	e.g., for washing
Industry NR ¹		e.g. demand shift	NR ¹	e.g., for manu- facturing	e.g., for boiling processes

Table 1. Exemplary requirements matrix for a service tool (to be extended	T	`abl	e	1:	Exem	plary	require	ments	matrix	for a	service	tool	(to)	be e	extend	led)
---	---	------	---	----	------	-------	---------	-------	--------	-------	---------	------	-------	------	--------	-----	---

¹ Not Relevant

In the example matrix, several requirements of the stakeholders on the service tool are included: short-term weather forecasts, DSM options for electricity, distribution options for water as well as the allotted amounts of electricity and water. The matrix states, how each stakeholder group can use the given information. Not yet included are targets of each stakeholder to reduce their specific demand of electricity and water as well as the future climatic projections, which also have to be taken into account in order to let the service tool help the stakeholders in decision making for the distribution of water and electricity. To date, distribution decisions are mainly business-driven. Water distribution is depending on current contracts with stakeholders and the available water amounts. Electricity distribution is depending on the standard load profile of households or the individual load profiles of each company as well as on the current contracts with the stakeholders. Grid and system operators provide energy security with the merit order curve, implicitly taking into account the current feed-in from renewable energy sources and conventional power plants; they decide under consideration of the current energy acts, which power plants have to uncouple from the grid or have to couple to it, in order to secure electricity supply.

Depending on the prevailing or predicted weather, the results from the service tool change and it is defined, how the water distribution should look like. As soon as it is, e.g., not possible to distribute enough water to the power plants and they have to reduce their electricity outputs, the service tool has to determine, how much electricity is needed to stabilise the grid.

4 Conclusion & Outlook

In order to set up a functioning and reliable service tool for the distribution of water and electricity, every stakeholder and all influencing conditions have to be taken into account, e.g, future water and electricity demands and supplies, future climate projections, future political decisions as well as service tools already in use. Besides alternative cooling technologies for power plants and distribution systems already in use, DSM can additionally be taken into account for securing water and electricity supply, particularly when considering upcoming climate change impacts, i.e., droughts or increasing ambient air temperatures.

The presented approach of a reliable service tool tries to include all before mentioned information concerning supply and demand as well as the nexus approach, in order to be used as decision support for the distribution of water and electricity. With the aim of gathering all necessary data to establish the matrices for the service tool, it is crucial to work closely with the stakeholders. Based on this information, decision support with the service tool cannot yet be given to the stakeholders based on political, ecological, economical as well as social evidence.

Further research has to be done about the future technical improvements for energy saving measures, future political decisions, targets of each stakeholder to reduce their specific demand of electricity and water, possible incentives for the stakeholders to participate in the DSM service tool as well as the future climatic projections. Additionally, necessary correlations between water and electricity demand have to be deduced and reasonable distribution patterns developed. Furthermore, a literature review concerning available service tools, an analysis about the existing gaps, possible extensions or meaningful combination of several applications should be made, in order to include this information into the service tool in addition to the matrices.

The more detailed data can be fed in into the service tool, the better will be the results for decision support concerning water distribution and securing the electricity supply for all stakeholders. Additionally, the service tool should be easily operating, to assure the use by the stakeholders. Finally, one has to bear in mind that the integration of the service tool should not be underestimated: On the one hand, a solution based state of the art has to be developed as well as emerging technologies for the technical and semantical integration of the very heterogeneous data sources. On the other hand, it has to be investigated, how current solutions for sufficient water supply to the stakeholders, while securing electricity supply, look like, e.g., how energy markets are organized and how a potential DSM could be integrated.

References

- Christidis, N., Jones, G. S., & Stott, P. A. (2015). Dramatically increasing chance of extremely hot summers since the 2003 European heatwave. *Nature climate change*, *5*, pp. 46-50.
- Colman, J. (2013). *The Effect of Ambient Air and Water Temperature on Power Plant Efficiency*. Durham: Duke University Libraries.
- Davies, E. G., Kyle, P., & Edmonds, J. A. (2013). An integrated assessment of global and regional water demands for electricity generation to 2095. *Advances in Water Resources*(52), pp. 296-313.

Flörke, M., Bärlund, I., & Kynast, E. (2012). Will climate change affect the electricity

production sector? A European Study. *Journal of Water and Climate Change*, *3*(1), pp. 44-54.

- Halstead, M., Kober, T., & van der Zwaan, B. (2014). *Understanding the Energy-Water Nexus*. Petten, Netherlands: Energy research Centre of the Netherlands (ECN).
- Hoffmann, B., Häfele, S., & Karl, U. (2013). Analysis of performance losses of thermal power plants in Germany A System Dynamics model approach using data from regional climate modelling. *Energy*(49), pp. 193-203.
- Hurdus, A. (July 2001). *The Water-Energy Nexus: Opportunities for Integrated Environmental Management.* Abgerufen am 30. October 2015 von http://pdf.usaid.gov/pdf_docs/Pnacu301.pdf
- IAEA. (2004). Operating Experience with Nuclear Power Stations in Member States in 2003. Vienna, Austria: International Atomic Energy Agency.
- IEA. (2015). World Energy Outlook 2015. Paris, France: International Energy Agency.
- IPCC. (2013). Climate Change 2013: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA: Cambridge University Press.
- IPCC. (2014). Climate Change 2014: Impacts, Adaptation, and Vulnerability. Part B: Regional Aspects. Contribution of Working Group II to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA: Cambridge University Press.
- Newiadomsky, C., & Tietze, I. (2015). Climate Change and Its Impact on Cooling in Power Plants. *Dresden Nexus Conference 2015*. Dresden.
- OECD. (2014). Climate Change, Water and Agriculture: Towards Resilient Systems. http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/9789264209138-en: OECD Publishing.
- Schaeffer, R., Salem Szklo, A., Pereira de Lucena, A. F., Soares Moreira, B., Borba, C., Pinheiro Pupo Nogueira, L., et al. (2012). Energy sector vulnerability to climate change: A review. *Energy*(38), pp. 1-12.
- Schieferdecker, B., Fünfgeld, C., & Bonneschky, A. (2006). Energiemanagement-Tools -Anwendung im Industrieunternehmen. (B. Schieferdecker, Hrsg.) Berlin, Heidelberg, Bonn: Springer Verlag.
- Strauch, U. (2011). Wassertemperaturbedingte Leistungseinschränkungen konventioneller thermischer Kraftwerke in Deutschland und die Entwicklung rezenter und zukünftiger Flusswassertemperaturen im Kontext des Klimawandels. Würzburg: Selbstverlag des Institutes für Geographie der Julius- Maximilians-Universität Würzburg in Verbindung mit der Geographischen Gesellschaft Würzburg.
- Thirlwell, G. M., Madramootoo, C. A., & Heathcote, I. W. (2007). Energy-water Nexus: Energy Use in the Municipal, Industrial, and Agricultural Water Sectors.
 Developed for the Canada-U.S. Water Conference, Washington D.C. October 2, 2007, Guelph, Ontario, Canada: Graduate Studies, University of Guelph; Montreal: Brace Centre for Water Resources Management, McGill University; Montreal: Faculty of Agricultural and Environmental Sciences, McGill University.
- U.S. Department of Energy. (2007). Energy Demands on Water Resources. U.S.

Department of Energy.

van Vliet, M. T., Yearsley, J. R., Ludwig, F., Vögele, S., Lettenmaier, D. P., & Kabat, P. (2012). Vulnerability of US and European electricity supply to climate change. *Nature Climate Change*, 2, pp. 676-681.

World Economic Forum. (2011). Global Risks 2011. World Economic Forum.

Zammit, K. D. (2012). Water conservation options for power generation facilities. *Power*, pp. 54-58.

Sourcing Strategies for Virtualized Services: An Intuitionistic Fuzzy Risk-based Approach

Roland Schütze, roland.schuetze@unifr.ch, University of Fribourg, Switzerland

Abstract

An example for sourcing of virtualized services is "cloud bursting" as a deployment model in which applications run in a private cloud or data center and 'burst' into a non-private cloud when more computing capacity is needed [1],[2]. The availability of free burst capacity is not guaranteed, so 'burst' has a cheaper cost but comes with a higher risk that the Service Level Agreement (SLA) e.g. in terms of application response time are not met for peak-traffic events. To balance risk versus costs the impact of service levels (e.g. committed vs. burst capacity) of technical services on customers' business processes need to be understood. But there are rarely accepted engineering methods available to recommend on costvs.-risk efficient service levels. In a SLA-aware service composition problem for minimizing cost without compromising the service quality, there is a great research interest in integrated management tools that automatically control the quality of multi-tier sourcing applications and autonomously warn for arising problem on frontend impacts to end-users or other business process implications. The proposed concept is providing a bridge between business impacts to distributed infrastructure systems to recommend for capacity and quality of technical components by defining fuzzy dependency couplings in a practical and feasible manner in order to satisfy aspects of the distributed nature of SLA dependencies.

1 General Approach

When considering the trade-off between costs and benefits in the service design phase, a key challenge is the derivation of business-relevant performance metrics and associated cost-efficient target values. We propose as the efficient Service Level Objective (SLO) to select the minimum sum of business opportunity cost Roland Schütze

based on the associated customer business risks and the cost of delivery/capacity for the service provider. This implies that neither the service provider nor the customer can find the efficient service level objective by their own as this is the aggregation of both views and interests. In the following we address the risks based on negative consequences associated with a service incident (Cost-of-Failure). Thus, the negative impact on process performance with regard to a chosen service level is translated into its monetary equivalent. This can be called an adverse business impact in service offers [3]. Considering in addition the coupling for each service to possible adverse business impacts, quantitative assessments of service value and monetary consequence can be elaborated. Thus chaining the critical relationships between business impact and IT assets allow service provider to balance between cost of service delivery or capacity for a service level to the associated business risks. This coupling approach can also be leveraged to justify costs for improvements to the backend IT infrastructure that improve the Quality of Services (QoS) on the front-stage or end-user level, by demonstrating how the proposed improvements deliver monetary benefits to the business.

2 Defining Dependence Couplings by applying Fuzzy Set Theory

2.1 Estimating the Degree of Coupling

Dependence Coupling is a measure that we propose to capture how dependent the component or service is on other services or resources for its delivery. Loose coupling describes an approach where integration interfaces are developed with minimum assumptions between the sending/receiving parties, thus reducing the risk that failure in one module will affect others. Tight coupling on the other hand indicates that successful delivery of other services or availability of resources is a prerequisite for the completion of a service. In very most cases the relationship between technical performances attributes and dependent business services cannot be exactly mathematically described [4]. When the dependency is between a service and some resource it uses, coupling will essentially be a function of how often the resource is used. For instance, the dependence of a service on the net-

work layer might be measured by how often it is making a socket call, or how much data it is transferring [5]. For web-services we can examine environmental coupling which is caused by calling and being called. More advanced are coupling measures to evaluate the coupling level real-time by runtime monitoring, introduced as dynamic coupling metrics. Within an inductive approach to investigate for coupling dependencies between infrastructure components and their relying services, historical data is collected from the whole application environment network and the performance behavior of related components is analyzed.



Figure 1: Inductive Comparison of User Response Time to Application Server Load As opposite, using a deductive method dependencies are not calculated based on data the system produces, but rather the system itself [6],[7].

A key principle of realistic impact simulations is the idea of considering both, positive and negative aspects of dependency relations and simultaneous consideration by pulling these strengths together. The negative effects are the dependencies through transactional interactions (in case an incident happens), the controversy mitigation ability are the built-in systeme resilience capabilities. The simultaneous play of contrary forces, dependence and resilience together, considering direct and also indirect interactions, will define the overall system behaviour and expected impact to the end-user experience and business processes.

An initial gradual and bi-polar concept called IFSFIA (Intuitionistic Fuzzy Service Failure Impact Analysis) was first published in [8], which describes a seven step approach for assessing impacts by means of fuzzy-related components to a business service and has been developed at University Fribourg, Switzerland [9].

2.2 Mathematical Background on Intuitionistic Fuzzy Sets (IFS)

Let E be a fixed universe and A is a subset of E. The set $A^* = \{\langle x, \mu A(x), \nu A(x) \rangle | x \\ \blacksquare E\}$ where $0 \le \mu A(x) + \nu A(x) \le 1$ is called Intuitionistic Fuzzy Set (IFS) [10]. Every element has a degree of membership (validity) $\mu A(x)$: $E \rightarrow [0,1]$ and a degree of non-membership $\nu A(x)$: $E \rightarrow [0,1]$. Intuitionistic Fuzzy Sets (IFS) have only loosely related membership and non-membership values unlike classical [Zadeh] fuzzy sets. An IFS is a generalization of the classical fuzzy set [11] which defines another degree of freedom into the set description, the independent judgment of validity and non-validity. For each IFS A in E, $\pi A(x) = 1 - \mu A(x) - \nu A(x)$ is called the intuitionistic index of x in A which represents the third aspect, the degree of uncertainty or limited knowledge.

Let now *a* be the intuitionistic fuzzy logical statement of coupling with membership and non-membership $\langle \mu_a, v_a \rangle$. The coupling degree of truth is $\langle \mu_a \rangle$ and degree of falsity $\langle v_a \rangle$ with possible values between zero and one omitting that the sum of both degrees of truth is equal or less than one. Pulling the positive and negative coupling aspects together in one fuzzy index is further called the Intuitionistic Fuzzy Direct Coupling Index (IFDCI) between two components.

2.3 Calculation of Indirect Coupling Effects

A property graph is an attributed, labelled, multi-relational graph which contains connected entities and which can hold attributes in the form of key-value pair [12]. This graph is applied to model multi-level business service dependencies to component services. Any Configuration Item (CI) can be presented as a node of the property graph which has a directed association to one ore more other nodes.



Figure 2: Directed Dependency Property Graph Model with Indirect Couplings
The edge reflects the relationship between two nodes which always has a direction, a dependent and an antecedent. The edge can be named and like nodes can have properties such as weights, distances, costs, ratings etc.

After definition of the direct impacts, the indirect coupling between components or services can be automatically calculated considering the degrees for direct coupling as invented by [13] within a Fault Tree Analysis concept and extended by [14]. The partial impact between components or services can now be expressed by means of intuitionistic fuzzy values carrying probabilistic information. Depending on which operations are applied, classical or probabilistic, the results will be greater or smaller (interpreted as classical, moderate, worst and best case).

Worst case impact analysis	Best case impact analysis		
$V(p \land q) = \langle \min(\mu(p), \mu(q)), \max(\nu(p), \nu(q)) \rangle$ $V(a \lor b) = \langle \mu(a) + \mu(b) - \mu(a) \cdot \mu(b), \nu(a) \cdot \nu(b) \rangle$	$V(p \land q) = \langle \mu(p).\mu(q), \nu(p) + \nu(q) - \nu(p).\nu(q) \rangle$ $V(a \lor b) = \langle \max(\mu(a), \mu(b)), \min(\nu(a), \nu(b)) \rangle$		
Moderate impact analysis	Classical fuzzy impact analysis		

Figure 3: Calculation on Intuitionistic Fuzzy Indirect Couplings

The intuitionistic fuzzy dependencies may have different kinds of semantics (functional and probabilistic) depending on the type of information they represent. Example: Considering the best case impact scenario between component C2 and service B0, the coupling relation is calculated as $indcpl_{best}(C2,B0) = (0.36,0.51)$. Using probabilistic semantics it means that in case the component C2 fails, the expected probability that business service B0 breaches the SLA is 36% and 51% that the performance of B0 stays within the tolerated thresholds. An uncertainty of 13% is estimated which means this coupling relation is seen as quiet mature.

As an example for a functional semantical interpretation using best an ordinary measurable coupling relationship this statement would mean that the service B0 is expected to be functional degraded or partly available (e.g. response time goes down by 36%) in case the component C2 performance fails. This allows a notion of having the business service still usable with some kind of degradation.

3 Cost Models and Cost-of-Failure

Virtual Capacity Units (VCU), which may represent several technical elements in the IT system that are related to the virtualization services offered to the clients.



Figure 4: Baseline Model versus Consumption Based Model

Within Baseline Model the customer books a fixed capacity in VCU on a shared system. He is able to change this capacity by notifying a change request to the service provider. The customer pays the booked capacity independent of the actual usage. Despite in a Consumption Based Model (CBM), the consumer books an entitlement in VCU, the logical partition is allowed to burst over that entitlement and this burst is not guaranteed. At the end of the billing period Bursting is measured and charged. The catalog service products offer a different booked and committed capacity that the clients can choose depending of their needs. As closer the entitlement is to 100%, which is the case only for the Platinum Service Level, the better availability and performance conditions apply. But the higher the entitlement, also the higher the cost to pay for the service usage, here the consumed VCU units. Each Service Level has an associated negative Bussiness Impact or Cost-of-Failure based on the expected numbers of incidents (like too slow responses) which is contrary to the capacity entitlement of the chosen Service Level.



Figure 5: Service Levels with Capacity Entitlements and corresponding Discounts



The expected total Cost-of-Failure is related to the booked Service Level, we summarize this cost of lost business further as Business Opportunity Cost.

Figure 6: Business Opportunity Cost Curves: Real (Blue) and Ideal (Green)

4 Intuitionistic Fuzzy Service Failure Impact Analysis (IFSFIA)

A complete methodical assessment approach was developed, which is practically usable in datacentre environments, with several sequential steps to be processed. It starts from automated discovery of the details of the managed resources and backend components, the grouping of components to impacted frontend services and the enrichment in several tasks and calculation steps up to the gradual business impact assessments, including monetary cost-of-failure information and business objectives [14]. The overall frame for incorporating all data is a grid with service components on one axis and impacted business services on the other. This matrix can be freely extended with different kind of variables showing failure modes, reliability parameters, financial data or operational capabilities and extends the pure system view to include also the processes, tools and people that are necessary for functioning of a distributed information system.

The result of the IFSFIA method is a sorted intuitionistic fuzzy distribution of dependencies, providing an ordered set by the probability of incident root causes.

Extended IFCFIA Grid with indirect Couplings and Cost of Failure		Cost of Failure per Hour 10000 Euros RTO and RPO for 1 hour					
				Total Failure Cost Bor hour			
1			Bo Total Failure Cost Per		er nour		
			FCC Coupl	ing to Bo			-
Component	Failure Mode and Effect	Direct Impact (IFS)	Prob. Failure	Prob. Resilience	Failure	Uncertainty	Resilience
C1	Outage	(0.4,0.4)	0.47	0.47	4'700.00 €	600.00€	4'700.00 €
C2	Outage	(0.8,0.1)	0.39	0.54	3'900.0 <mark>0 €</mark>	700.00€	5'400.00 €
C3	Outage	(0.6,0.3)	0.63	0.33	6'300.00€	400.00 €	3'300.00€
C4	Limited Function	(0.5,0.5)	0.47	0.47	4'700.00 €	€00.00 €	4'700.00 €
C5	Slow Response	(0.4,0.5)	0.39	0.54	3'900.00 €	700.00 €	5'400.00 €
C6	Limited Function	(0.3,0.4)	0.63	0.33	6'300.00 €	400.00 €	3'300.00 €
C7	Slow Response	(0.5,0.3)	0.63	0.33	6'300.00€	400.00 €	3'300.00 €
C8	Slow Response	(0.4,0.4)	0.47	0.47	4'700.00 €	€ 600.00	4'700.00 €
Technical Support	Slow Repair	(0.8,0.1)	0.39	0.54	3'900.00 €	700.00€	5'400.00 €
User Experience	Quality Issue	(0.6,0.3)	0.63	0.33	6'300.00 €	400.00 €	3'300.00 €

Figure 7: IFSFIA Matrix with Couplings and Financial Impacts per Component Here Repair Time Objective (RTO) and Recovery Point Objective (RPO) are roughly speaking based on setting the time objective for "the amount of time the business can be without the service". This means in case the defined service level enables a full restoration within these time limits no severe effect on the business will be assumed and the Cost-of-Failure calculation starts after this grace period.

5 Recommendation on efficient Service Levels

Each service linked to the business impacts in terms of Business Opportunity- or Failure Costs and can be matched against the Cost of Capacity or Delivery Cost.



Figure 8: Efficient Service Level Targets Based on the Business Impacts

The expected business impact can be compared against the discounts indicating the cost benefits for chosing a lower SLO capacity target. The minimum point of a total cost (not be necessarily the intersection between the Business Opportunity Cost and Cost of Capacity) is below be determined as an approximation.



Figure 9: Efficient SLO targets with minimized overall total cost.

The cost-optimized Service Level Objective (SLO) has a total cost of $23813.06 \in$ as a value and the point is located on the Bronze Category. Thus the best product to select minimizing total costs and better overall business opportunity for client and service provider is the bronze category. The proposed method can be taylored to choose services depending on the individual customers' business model.

Conclusion: Combining well-grounded academic research for Service Level Engineering, as also contributed in related research work [5],[15],[16], with practice oriented scenarios provides high value to the service business. By expanding IT reliability engineering with fuzzy mathematical models the framework can transform performance data into knowledge that allows understanding the impact of incidents on the business and recommend on efficient service level objectives. Instead of tightening SLAs across the board, which is a costly approach, individual service levels should be directly driven by business needs where the organization benefits by projecting and paying for only what is required.

References

- [1] Guo T et al.:Seagull: Intelligent Cloud Bursting for Enterprise Applications: <u>https://www.usenix.org/system/files/conference/atc12/atc12-final57.pdf</u>
- [2] Mattes, M et al.: Cloud Bursting: Managing Peak Loads by Leasing Public Cloud Services <u>http://www.cloudbus.org/papers/CloudBurst-BC-2011.pdf</u>
- [3] Barroero et al.: Aligning IT service levels and business performance: *Proceedings of IEEE Computer Society, Miami, Florida (2010), pp. 570–577*
- [4] Hui Li (2009) Challenges in SLA Translation SLA@SOI European Commission Seventh Framework Programme SAP Research, Dec. 2009
- [5] Joshi, K. P., Joshi, A., & Yesha, Y. (2011) Managing the Quality of Virtualized Services, *Proceedings of the SRII Service Research Conference*.
- [6] Alghamdi, J. S. (2007). Measuring software coupling. *Proceedings of the* 6th WSEAS International Conference on Software Engineering.
- [7] Quynh, P. T. (2009) Dynamic Coupling Metrics for Service–Oriented Software, *International Journal of Electrical Engineering*, 3(5), p. 282.
- [8] Schütze, R. (2013) Intuitionistic Component Failure Impact Analysis, *Notes* on *Intuitionistic Fuzzy Sets*, 19(3), 62–72.
- [9] Andrade, J.A. M. Sourcing Strategies for Virtualized Services: A Fuzzy Risk-based Approach, *Seminar Paper Univ. Fribourg, Dept. Inf., Dec 14*
- [10] Atanassov, K. (1999) Intuitionistic Fuzzy Sets: (Studies in Fuzziness and Soft Computing), Springer, Heidelberg.
- [11] Zadeh, L. (1994) Soft Computing and Fuzzy Logic, *IEEE Software*, 11(6)
- [12] M. A. Rodriguez and P. Neubauer, "Constructions from dots and lines," Bulletin of the American Society for Information Science, vol. 36, 2010
- [13] Kolev, B., & Ivanov, I. (2009) Fault Tree Analysis in an Intuitionistic Fuzzy Configuration Database, *Notes on Intuitionistic Fuzzy Sets*, 15(2), 10–17.
- [14] Schütze, R.: IFCFIA, a gradual method for SLA dependency mapping. *Technical Report 07/13, Univ. of Fribourg, Switzerland, Dept. Informatics*
- [15] Kieninger, A., Berghoff, F., Fromm, H., & Satzger, G. (2013) Simulationbased Quantification of Business Impacts, Proc. of the 4th Int. Conf. on Exploring Service Science. (Portugal) 2013 LNBIP, No.143. Springer.
- [16] Schmitz, B., Kieninger, A., Satzger G., Fromm H. (2014) Towards the Consideration of Performance Risks for the Design of Service Offers, *IESS* 2014, LNBIP 169, pp. 108–123, 2014.

Towards a Meta-model for Context in the Web of Things

Mehdi Terdjimi^a, Lionel Médini^a, Michael Mrissa^a

^a CNRS - Université de Lyon LIRIS UMR 5205 - Université Claude Bernard Lyon 1

Abstract

The Web of Things (WoT) uses Web technologies to engage connected objects in applications. Building context-aware WoT applications requires modeling and reasoning about context. In this paper, we overview different context modeling approaches related to the WoT, before studying the architecture of WoT applications. We then propose a multi-level, multi-dimensional and domain-independent context meta-model to help WoT applications identify, organize and reason about context information.

Keywords: Web of Things, Context modeling

1. Introduction

The Web of Things (WoT) applies to various domains such as homes, enterprises, industry, healthcare, city or agriculture. It builds a Web-based uniform layer on top of the Internet of Things (IoT) to overcome the heterogeneity of protocols present in the IoT networks. Today's WoT applications (WoT apps) need relevant context models to exhibit context-adaptive behavior. Basically, a WoT app provides added value by combining access to connected objects and external data sources (i.e. Web services). It requires an accurate description and exploitation of WoT apps context, hence

Email addresses: mehdi.terdjimi@liris.cnrs.fr (Mehdi Terdjimi),

lionel.medini@liris.cnrs.fr (Lionel Médini), michael.mrissa@liris.cnrs.fr (Michael Mrissa)

justifying the need for context models. As a consequence of the diversity of use-cases and applications, numerous domain-specific models relying on different formalisms and reasoning mechanisms have been designed (Perera et al. (2014)). However, a single context modeling framework for WoT apps is still missing. In this paper, we propose a context meta-model as a first building block for a framework that allows reusing the same reasoning tools in the diversity of WoT use-cases. In Section 2, we study general definitions for context and the major existing context models. In Section 3, we draw conclusions on existing work and study the different parts of WoT apps to identify the elements that will contribute to build our meta-model. In Section 4, we discuss our solution according to a set of evaluation criteria. In Section 5, we summarize our results and give perspectives for future work.

2. Describing Context: Related Work

While Schilit and Theimer (1994) define context-aware computing as "the ability of applications to discover and react to changes in the environment". context can be seen as the information thats answers to the Where, Who, When and What questions as discussed in Abowd et al. (1999). Dey (2001) defines context as "any information that can be used to characterize the situation of an entity. An entity is a person, place, or object that is considered relevant to the interaction between a user and an application, including the user and applications themselves". Chaari et al. (2005) define a situation as an instance of a set of contextual attributes. Context information described in Schilit et al. (1993) include environmental and geospatial information, such as location, co-location (i.e. what is nearby), time, etc.. Most work Schmidt (2003); Zimmermann et al. (2007); Abowd et al. (1999) structure context as multi-dimensional views. Some work describe context with a specific focus, such as privacy in Dey et al. (1999), or computing resources (availability, remaining battery power) and network information (types of connection, services in reach, distances, disconnection rates) in Gold and Mascolo (2001); Mascolo et al. (2002); Musolesi and Mascolo (2009).

Network context is often combined with other context elements such as user profile or preferences in Wei et al. (2006); Raverdy et al. (2006); Yu et al. (2006). Users are of major importance in context-aware applications as shown in Cao et al. (2008, 2009); Xiang et al. (2010). In Brézillon and Pomerol

(1996); Brézillon (1999); Bucur et al. (2005) the user and its environment have a central place in the context model together with its interaction and domain-specific information. Brézillon and Pomerol (1999) use context for helping users with decision making, later with different knowledge sources as in Brézillon (2003) and with the notion of situation as in Bazire and Brézillon (2005). Context information may be domain-specific as mentioned in Munnelly et al. (2007), or related to the application architecture as discussed in Truong et al. (2007, 2008); Kirsch-Pinheiro et al. (2004). More recently Coppola et al. (2010) include meta-information about context (Probability, Importance, Description and Name).

3. Modeling Context for Web of Things applications

The related work presented above highlights the diversity and complexity of context. Each work propose a unique combination of device, user, network, and application context elements. The traditional semantic heterogeneities can be found between context models, i.e. polysemy, heteronymy, and so on. In the following, we discuss these approaches and then present our arguments for a context meta-model.

3.1. A Context Meta-model for the Web of Things

In our work as part of the ANR ASAWoO project¹, physical object functionalities and applications are exposed as RESTful services. Based on the context model and instances, the framework should be able to activate or deactivate functionalities or applications. The latter might not be available due to physical constraints, security, privacy, or other policies, which can vary according to the use-case.

Hence, we design a context meta-model for WoT apps to control the instantiation of domain-specific models and to reuse the same reasoning mechanisms. We rely on the different context information studied in the literature to justify our choices, and organize our meta-model into levels that characterize the different parts of a WoT app. As depicted in Fig. 1, mobile and distributed clients communicate with the WoT app, which itself communicate

¹http://liris.cnrs.fr/asawoo/

with physical objects and data sources. A client could be a user (via a smartphone or computer), or another software application to allow for composite applications.

According to Fig. 1, we organize context information in four levels. The *Physical* level (1) describes context information about physical objects, including their internal states and information coming from their sensors that describe the objects' environment. The *Application* (2) level describes the application architecture, its state, its configuration, as an application can rely on different architectural paradigms, such as components or services, and can be either locally stored or distributed. The *Communication* (3) level describes the context of links between the application and clients, physical objects and data sources. It includes information such as the state of the network, bandwidth, latency, or the type of connection, such as wired or wireless. The *Social* (4) level characterizes the client's environment. It includes cognitive aspects such as user roles withing an organization, user behavior, and types of users (human, software).



Figure 1: A typical WoT app architecture and its context dimensions

Fig. 2 shows an UML representation of our meta-model. The Model class aggregates the four levels presented above, which themselves compose the dimensions. For each level, the Dimension class contains a name URI that provides the ontological concept that describe the value object.



Figure 2: UML representation of our meta-model

Our meta-model presents the following advantages. First, it allows WoT app developers for high flexibility with an unrestricted numbers of dimensions to be created. Second, all the models will follow the same description language (DL) thus allowing the reasoning process to always be effective. Third, the level/dimension view can be reused differently according to a WoT app settings, or even between several WoT apps. We illustrate the latter advantage in the section below with two use cases that rely on different models, and one use case that uses different combinations of levels/dimensions from the same model.

3.2. Illustration with different use-cases

We illustrate our meta-model with two use-cases that use specific context models. The first one is temperature regulation that needs to adapt to the user presence and settings. Its context model involves four dimensions that contains geolocation and network information, as well as time, actuator states, and user home preferences as shown in Fig. 3. Depending on the user settings, the application can rely different combinations of levels and dimensions to enable context-awareness. Typical users would rely on a model that includes both home and enterprise settings (plain squares in Fig. 3); children and elderly people would require different levels and dimensions (dashed squares in Fig. 3).

	Location	Status	Time	Profile	
SOCIAL	Home	Awake	Evening	Cold sensitive	
APPLICATION	n/a	Availaible	n/a	Low performance High security	
COMMUNICATION	Local network	Not conjested	n/a	High bandwith usage	
PHYSICAL	Lat. 45.7 Lng 56.3	Raining	h:7, min:25	Homebody	
		1	T		

Figure 3: An example of Multi-level context model

The second use-case concerns agriculture. It involves drones that scatter bugs on plantations to protect them from threatening insects, an automatic watering system, and robots that pull off weeds from plantations. Each of them have their own context model, to provide the whole system with safe operation. According to the type of devices, level and dimension combinations to describe the context models can also differ. For example, drones robots only require a day/night granularity whereas the watering system requires hourly time slots. As well, the watering system do not use location information due to its immobility.

4. Evaluation

We build on the methodology proposed in Gómez-Pérez (1998) to evaluate our meta-model according to the following steps: (S1) Purpose and scope, (S2) Intended uses, (S3) Intended users, (S4) Requirements, (S5) Competency Questions (CQs), and (S6) Validation of CQs, as shown in Fig. 4. We refer to the metrics proposed in Hlomani and Stacey (2014) in (S6).

	The scope of our work includes smart home, smart farms Our purpose is to provide context-
(S1)	awareness with reusable and relevant models.
(S2)	Any WoT scenario (see Section 3.2).
(S3)	WoT apps developers.
(S4)	Context information coverage (Location, Time, User Preferences).
	(CQ1) Does the model cover required context information?
	(CQ2) Does the DL language allow for complete and sound results in a finite time?
(S5)	(CQ3) Does the DL language provide the logical constructs required by the reasoner?
	(CQ4) Are the number of levels sufficient to describe a WoT app context ?
	(CQ5) Are the levels redundant or overlapping?
	(CQ1) The meta-model allows any dimension to be created for complete coverage.
	(CQ2) The DL used (OWL) provides 3 profiles (EL, QL, RL) that are able to answer any reasoning
	problem (conjunctive query answering, class expression subsumption) in a finite time.
(00)	(CQ3) OWL provides expressive relationships (object, datatype properties) and concepts (classes,
(56)	individuals, data values) allowing the reasoner to correctly answer queries.
	(CQ4) Levels are based both on related work and a typical WoT app architecture, thus covering the
	needed context information.
	(CQ5) Our levels do not overlap by design.

Figure 4: Evaluation of our meta-model.

5. Conclusion and perspectives

In this paper, we build a meta-model that combines levels and dimensions to help WoT apps identify, organize and reason about context information. Our meta-model aims at enhancing the reusability of reasoning mechanisms across application domains while leaving flexibility for developers to design their application-specific context models.

As future work, we aim at optimizing the reasoning process for WoT apps to handle fast-paced data streams as context sources, as well as to provide dynamic reconfiguration and adaptation for their components.

Acknowledgement. This work is supported by the French ANR (Agence Nationale de la Recherche) under the grant number <ANR-13-INFR-012>.

References

- Abowd, G. D., Dey, A. K., Brown, P. J., Davies, N., Smith, M., and Steggles, P. (1999). Towards a better understanding of context and context-awareness. In *Handheld and ubiquitous computing*, pages 304–307. Springer.
- Bazire, M. and Brézillon, P. (2005). Understanding context before using it. *Modeling and using context.*
- Brézillon, P. (1999). Context in Artificial Intelligence: II. Key elements of contexts. Computers and artificial intelligence, pages 1–27.
- Brézillon, P. (2003). Representation of procedures and practices in contextual graphs. *The Knowledge Engineering Review*, pages 1–26.
- Brézillon, P. and Pomerol, J. (1996). Misuse and nonuse of knowledge-based systems: The past experiences revisited. Systems for Supporting Management Decisions.
- Brézillon, P. and Pomerol, J. (1999). Contextual knowledge sharing and cooperation in intelligent assistant systems. Le Travail Humain, pages 1–33.
- Bucur, O., Beaune, P., and Boissier, O. (2005). Representing context in an agent architecture for context-based decision making. In *Proceedings of* the Workshop on Context Representation and Reasoning (CRR'05), Paris, France, volume 5.
- Cao, H., Hu, D. H., Shen, D., Jiang, D., Sun, J.-T., Chen, E., and Yang, Q. (2009). Context-aware query classification. Acm Sigir, 106(3):3.
- Cao, H., Jiang, D., Pei, J., He, Q., Liao, Z., Chen, E., and Li, H. (2008). Context-aware query suggestion by mining click-through and session data. Proceeding of the 14th ACM SIGKDD international conference on Knowledge discovery and data mining - KDD '08, page 875.
- Chaari, T., Laforest, F., Flory, A., Einstein, A. A., and Cedex, V. (2005). Adaptation des applications au contexte en utilisant les services web. Proceedings of the 2nd French-speaking conference on Mobility and uibquity computing - UbiMob '05, pages 3–6.

- Coppola, P., Mea, V. D., Di Gaspero, L., Menegon, D., Mischis, D., Mizzaro, S., Scagnetto, I., and Vassena, L. (2010). The context-aware browser. *IEEE Intelligent Systems*, 25(1):38–47.
- Dey, A. K. (2001). Understanding and using context. Personal and ubiquitous computing, 5(1):4–7.
- Dey, A. K., Salber, D., Abowd, G. D., and Futakawa, M. (1999). The conference assistant: Combining context-awareness with wearable computing. In Wearable Computers, 1999. Digest of Papers. The Third International Symposium on, pages 21–28. IEEE.
- Gold, R. and Mascolo, C. (2001). Use of context-awareness in mobile peerto-peer networks. In Distributed Computing Systems, 2001. FTDCS 2001. Proceedings. The Eighth IEEE Workshop on Future Trends of, pages 142– 147. IEEE.
- Gómez-Pérez, A. (1998). Knowledge sharing and reuse. *Handbook of applied* expert systems, pages 10–11.
- Hlomani, H. and Stacey, D. (2014). Approaches, methods, metrics, measures, and subjectivity in ontology evaluation: A survey. Semantic Web Journal, na (na), pages 1–5.
- Kirsch-Pinheiro, M., Gensel, J., and Martin, H. (2004). Representing context for an adaptative awareness mechanism. In *Groupware: Design, Implementation, and Use*, pages 339–348. Springer.
- Mascolo, C., Capra, L., and Emmerich, W. (2002). Mobile computing middleware. In Advanced lectures on networking, pages 20–58. Springer.
- Munnelly, J., Fritsch, S., and Clarke, S. (2007). An aspect-oriented approach to the modularisation of context. In *Pervasive Computing and Commu*nications, 2007. PerCom'07. Fifth Annual IEEE International Conference on, pages 114–124. IEEE.
- Musolesi, M. and Mascolo, C. (2009). Car: context-aware adaptive routing for delay-tolerant mobile networks. *Mobile Computing, IEEE Transactions* on, 8(2):246–260.

- Perera, C., Zaslavsky, A., Christen, P., and Georgakopoulos, D. (2014). Context aware computing for the internet of things: A survey. *Communications Surveys & Tutorials, IEEE*, 16(1):414–454.
- Raverdy, P.-G., Riva, O., de La Chapelle, A., Chibout, R., and Issarny, V. (2006). Efficient context-aware service discovery in multi-protocol pervasive environments. In *Mobile Data Management, 2006. MDM 2006. 7th International Conference on*, pages 3–3. IEEE.
- Schilit, B. N., Adams, N., Gold, R., Tso, M. M., and Want, R. (1993). The parctab mobile computing system. In Workstation Operating Systems, 1993. Proceedings., Fourth Workshop on, pages 34–39. IEEE.
- Schilit, B. N. and Theimer, M. M. (1994). Disseminating active map information to mobile hosts. *Network*, *IEEE*, 8(5):22–32.
- Schmidt, A. (2003). Ubiquitous computing-computing in context. PhD thesis, Lancaster University.
- Truong, H.-L., Dustdar, S., Baggio, D., Corlosquet, S., Dorn, C., Giuliani, G., Gombotz, R., Hong, Y., Kendal, P., Melchiorre, C., et al. (2008). Incontext: A pervasive and collaborative working environment for emerging team forms. In Applications and the Internet, 2008. SAINT 2008. International Symposium on, pages 118–125. IEEE.
- Truong, H.-L., Juszczyk, L., Manzoor, A., and Dustdar, S. (2007). ESCAPEan adaptive framework for managing and providing context information in emergency situations. Springer.
- Wei, Q., Farkas, K., Prehofer, C., Mendes, P., and Plattner, B. (2006). Context-aware handover using active network technology. *Computer Networks*, 50(15):2855–2872.
- Xiang, B., Jiang, D., Pei, J., Sun, X., Chen, E., and Li, H. (2010). Contextaware ranking in web search. *Sigir 2010*, page 451.
- Yu, Z., Zhou, X., Zhang, D., Chin, C.-Y., Wang, X., et al. (2006). Supporting context-aware media recommendations for smart phones. *Pervasive Computing, IEEE*, 5(3):68–75.

Zimmermann, A., Lorenz, A., and Oppermann, R. (2007). An operational definition of context. In *Modeling and using context*, pages 558–571. Springer.

Towards Perceived Service Interaction Productivity: A Proposed Conceptual Model

Christofer F. Daiberl, Angela Roth & Kathrin M. Möslein <u>christofer.daiberl@fau.de</u>, <u>angela.roth@fau.de</u>, <u>kathrin.moeslein@fau.de</u> Friedrich-Alexander-Universität Erlangen-Nürnberg Lehrstuhl für Wirtschaftsinformatik, insb. Innovation und Wertschöpfung

Abstract

Understanding how to enhance service productivity is vital for advancing the service field and fostering economic growth. However, the concept of service productivity itself poses severe operational challenges as it is unclear how to operationalize inputs and outputs in a service setting. Despite this fuzziness, existing models often conceptualize service productivity based on formal productivity functions. Moreover, they neglect productivity related interactions within the overall service network as they either exclusively focus on the perspective of the service provider or just consider dyadic interactions (i.e. provider-customer). In order to overcome these limitations and provide operationally relevant insights for enhancing service productivity, this short paper proposes an early version of a conceptual model coined "perceived service interaction productivity". Inspired by practical challenges of managing a multi-sided service platform for e-mobility, this paper represents work in progress and shall provide a foundation for future research.

1 The Challenge of Enhancing Service Productivity

Recently, enhancing service productivity was identified as one of the top three research priorities in order to advance the service field (Ostrom, Parasuraman, Bowen, Patricio, & Voss, 2015). However, the concept of productivity itself, which is often understood as the ratio of output to the input required to produce it (Johnston & Jones, 2004; Tangen, 2005), poses severe challenges in a service context. Amongst others, it is unclear how to operationalize inputs and outputs

(Grönroos & Ojasalo, 2004; Yalley & Sekhon, 2014).¹ This study is inspired by the challenge to drive productivity in the context of the newly established, webbased platform eMobilisten.² Sponsored by the German Federal Ministry of Education and Research, the goal of eMobilisten is to foster long-term acceptance of e-mobility in society. For this purpose, eMobilisten offers distinct services for both organizations (e.g. online broadcasting of innovation challenges to benefit from external ideas) and the public (e.g. interactive community platform with online tutorials to learn about e-mobility). For effective and efficient service provision, the providers of eMobilisten are heavily dependent on the participation of various external actors (e.g. companies with innovation needs and community members as co-producers of knowledge and solutions). The goal of this study is to develop a first conceptual model, which shall inspire future empirical research and guide the design of scientifically sound and practice-oriented methods for enhancing the productivity in the context of multi-sided service settings such as eMobilisten. Next, a short overview of existing conceptual approaches for managing service productivity is presented. After this, based on identified challenges, a new conceptual model is introduced. Finally, a short discussion and an outlook for future research are presented.

2 Conceptual Foundations of Service Productivity

Throughout the last decades, scholars of different fields have explored the topic of service productivity (Lehmann, 2015).³ In the context of business administration, Bartsch, Demmelmaier and Meyer (2011) identify four conceptual approaches for operationally managing service productivity. Initially, proponents of the *(1) industrial productivity approach* try to adapt existing concepts of industrial

¹ As discussed by Tangen (2005), the term productivity was used over two centuries ago in the context of agriculture. Since then multiple verbal as well as mathematical definitions for explanation and calculation have been elaborated.

² www.emobilisten.de

³ In an extensive literature review, Lehmann (2015) identified eight scholary perspectives on service productivity: (1) macroeconomic, (2) public management, (3) strategic, (4) organizational, (5) customer, (6) technological, (7) operations management and (8) operations research perspective). This paper focuses on a business context, thus it does not consider the macroeconomic or public management perspective on service productivity.

production to enhance productivity in a service context (e.g. Carlborg, Kindström, & Kowalkowski, 2013; Levitt, 1972; Murphy, 1999; Staats, Brunner, & Upton, 2011). In contrast, proponents of the (2) service production approach stress the particularities of the service delivery processes and aim to formalize specific drivers of service productivity. In this context, it is highlighted that productivity can be considered at different process stages (e.g. Corsten, 1994; Jones, 1988; Sigala, Jones, Lockwood, & Airey, 2005). Next, contributions falling under the (3) customer integration approach consider the management of customer involvement throughout service delivery as a key issue for service productivity. In doing so, it is emphasized that customers have their individual productivity perspective which may be different from the provider's one (e.g. Anitsal & Schumann, 2007; Johnston & Jones, 2004; Parasuraman, 2002; Weijters, Rangarajan, Falk, & Schillewaert, 2007). Finally, contributions from the (4) service marketing approach dismiss the constant quality assumption postulated in the industrial productivity approach and stress the interdependence of service productivity and quality (e.g. Chase & Haynes, 2000; Grönroos & Ojasalo, 2004; Rust & Huang, 2012; Vuorinen, Järvinen, & Lehtinen, 1998). A key contribution of this stream is the service productivity model of Grönroos and Ojasalo (2004) which different authors recognize as the most encompassing conceptual model of service productivity (Bartsch et al., 2011; Becker, Beverungen, Knackstedt, Rauer, & Sigge, 2014). Grönroos & Ojasalo (2004) formalize service productivity as a function of internal efficiency, external efficiency and capacity efficiency. However, the authors admit that it is unclear how to actually measure these efficiencies. As a remedy they suggest that productivity measures should be based on the ratio of revenues from a given service divided by the cost of producing this service.

Notwithstanding the theoretical contributions of existing conceptual approaches, from a managerial perspective, they pose severe challenges. First, it is argued that they are unsuited to measure the productivity of services which are based on interactive inputs and qualitative outputs such as knowledge and information (Biege, Lay, Zanker, & Schmall, 2013). Moreover, existing models do not take into consideration that service processes often consist of interactions among

multiple entities besides the formal service provider and the customer (Sampson, 2012). Finally, they neglect the importance of an entity's individual service objectives, expectations and learning for effectiveness and efficiency considerations.⁴

Next, a new model addressing these issues is introduced. As mentioned before, it is inspired by practical challenges of managing eMobilisten. However, the model will be described on a general level in order to demonstrate a broader range of possible applications.

3 A Model of Perceived Service Interaction Productivity (PSIP-Model)

The proposed model is inspired by an operational view of services as presented by the Unified Services Theory (Sampson & Froehle, 2006) and the related Process Chain Network framework (Sampson, 2012). Following this perspective, services can be understood as special types of production processes that are defined by extensive provider-customer interactions (Fließ & Kleinaltenkamp, 2004; Sampson & Froehle, 2006). As presented in Figure 1, at minimum, a service process integrates activities and/or resources of two entities: one formal provider and one customer (in the figure their interaction is presented by the solid line). However, various additional entities such as other customers or network partners may be involved at certain stages of the service process as well (Alter, 2012; Maglio, Vargo, Caswell, & Spohrer, 2009; Sampson, 2012). These network partners may be interacting with the service provider and/or with one or more customers (indicated by the dashed lines). Each of these process entities has certain objectives and expectations why it takes part in the service process. For some entities the process may meet specific needs (e.g. a company receiving user feedback for an innovation challenge), whereas other entities may receive a generic resource (i.e. a service provider receiving money for carrying out certain process activities) that can be used to engage in other service processes in the future (Sampson, 2012; Vargo & Lusch, 2004, 2008).

⁴ A short overview of existing approaches and their managerial implications is portrayed in the attachment.

For fulfilling these objectives, entities engage in direct interactions (i.e. person to person) and/or surrogate interactions (i.e. where one entity interacts with non-human resources of another entity such as technology or information) (Sampson, 2012). Moreover, service processes are initiated and terminated by stages of independent processing. Furthermore, the degree of control of the entity under consideration can be depicted. It is the highest when an entity engages in independent processing as the respective entity is only working on its own resources. On the contrary, direct interactions are characterized by the lowest level of control. For example, there are various aspects of a personal interaction that cannot be controlled by management such as the mood of the customer or the level of sympathy between customers and front-line employees (Sampson, 2012).



Figure 1

A conceptual model of perceived service interaction productivity (PSIP-Model). **Source:** Own illustration. Service process depicted based on Sampson (2012).

Throughout the service process, each of the process entities provides certain qualitative and/or quantitative inputs and receives certain qualitative and/or quantitative outputs (Vuorinen et al., 1998). Particularly qualitative service

outputs are subject to individual assessments (Frey, Bayon, & Totzek, 2013; Grönroos, 1984; Zeithaml, Berry, & Parasuraman, 1993). Additionally, expectations may influence role behavior and satisfaction (Oliver, 1980; Solomon, Surprenant, Czepiel, & Gutman, 1985). Thus, the perceived productivity of interactions is far from being objective and stable. In fact, it is of dynamic nature and dependent on the expectations of the process entity under consideration. Furthermore, productivity perceptions are based on a mutual learning experience among the entities involved. Over time, entities can familiarize with each other and the service process which may lead to a better awareness about what to expect and how to interact in order to improve outcomes (Grönroos & Ojasalo, 2004).

All in all, perceived service interaction productivity shall be conceptualized as an entity's individually perceived efficiency and effectiveness of interaction stages making up the total service process. In doing so, it is in line with the general trend to dismiss service productivity as a mere efficiency concept (Maroto-Sánchez, 2012). Also, in line with ideas of the proponents of the customer integration approach, productivity can be considered from different entities' points of view.

4 Discussion & Future Research

As mentioned before, this paper presents an early version of a conceptual model for service interaction productivity. In contrast to previous conceptual approaches of service productivity, it highlights the importance of looking beyond a singular (i.e. provider) or dyadic (i.e. provider-customer) perspective and takes the larger service network into account. Moreover, it stresses the idiosyncrasy of productivity assessments and the importance of expectation and interaction management. From a provider's point of view, it is essential to gain in-depth understanding concerning interaction demands and develop measurable productivity objectives that balance and orchestrate the individually perceived productivities of all interaction partners involved.

A potential starting point for developing indicators for measuring the subjective effectiveness of service interactions is provided by literature from the field of organizational psychology (Pritchard, Harrell, DiazGranados, & Guzman, 2008;

Pritchard, Weaver, & Ashwood, 2012). Future work should analyze how such measures could be developed taking the perspective of external interaction partners into account. In order to enhance efficiency, the application of lean principles throughout the different interaction stages could be a promising endeavor. In doing so, actions that are not perceived as valuable by the respective interaction partners may be reduced (Carlborg et al., 2013; Staats et al., 2011; Staats & Upton, 2011).

In the future, in-depth empirical insights are required in order to explore perceived service interaction productivity. For this, case study research will be conducted to evaluate if empirical observations are in line with the model's claims (Yin, 2009). As a pilot case, *JOSEPHS®-the Service Manufactory* will be analyzed. This case is chosen as it represents a highly interactive, multi-sided service setting which is likely to yield rich data. After this, eMobilisten and other cases from different fields will be analyzed in order to repeatedly (dis-)confirm and extend previous findings (Eisenhardt & Graebner, 2007).

Moreover, service scholars and practitioners should evaluate if the proposed model is (1) exhaustive, (2) understandable and (3) does not have unnecessary categories (Gregor, 2006). Based on these insights, the model will be adapted accordingly. By doing so, it shall present a theoretically sound foundation for conducting action design research (Sein, Henfridsson, Rossi, & Lindgren, 2011) in order to elaborate a practice-oriented method to enhance perceived service interaction productivity.

Acknowledgements

We gratefully acknowledge support by the German Federal Ministry of Education and Research (project: CODIFeY-Community-basierte Dienstleistungsinnovation für e-Mobility; FKZ 01FE14002).

References

- Alter, S. (2012). Metamodel for service analysis and design based on an operational view of service and service systems. *Service Science*, *4*(3), 218–235.
- Anitsal, I., & Schumann, D. (2007). Toward a conceptualization of customer productivity: The customer's perspective on transforming customer labor into customer outcomes using technology-based self-service pptions. *The Journal of Marketing Theory and Practice*, 15(4), 349–363.
- Bartsch, S., Demmelmair, M. F., & Meyer, A. (2011).
 Dienstleistungsproduktivität: Stand der Forschung und Zusammenhang zu zentralen vorökonomischen Größen im Dienstleistungsmarketing. In K. Bruhn, M.; Hadwich (Ed.), *Dienstleistungsproduktivität: Management, prozessgestaltung, Kundenperspektive, Band 1* (pp. 35–59). Wiesbaden: Gabler Verlag.
- Becker, J., Beverungen, D., Knackstedt, R., Rauer, H. P., & Sigge, D. (2014). On the ontological expressiveness of conceptual modeling grammars for service productivity management. *Information Systems and E-Business Management*, 12(3), 337–365.
- Biege, S., Lay, G., Zanker, C., & Schmall, T. (2013). Challenges of measuring service productivity in innovative, knowledge-intensive business services. *The Service Industries Journal*, 33(3-4), 378–391.
- Carlborg, P., Kindström, D., & Kowalkowski, C. (2013). A lean approach for service productivity improvements: synergy or oxymoron? *Managing Service Quality*, *23*(4), 291–304.
- Chase, R. B., & Haynes, R. M. (2000). Service operations management: A field guide. In T. Schwartz & D. Iacobucci (Eds.), *Handbook of Service Marketing* and Management (pp. 455–471). Thousand Oaks: Sage Publications.
- Corsten, H. (1994). Diskussonsbeiträge der Wirtschaftswissenschaftlichen Fakultät Ingolstadt. Überlegungen zum Produktivitätsmanagement für Dienstleistungsunternehmen - dargestellt am Beispiel bilateraler personenbezogener Dienstleistungen. Ingolstadt.
- Eisenhardt, K. M., & Graebner, M. E. (2007). Theory building from cases: Opportunities and challenges. *Academy of Management Journal*, 50(1), 25–32. doi:10.2307/20159839

- Fließ, S., & Kleinaltenkamp, M. (2004). Blueprinting the service company: Managing service processes efficiently. *Journal of Business Research*, 57(4), 392–404.
- Frey, R.-V., Bayon, T., & Totzek, D. (2013). How customer satisfaction affects employee satisfaction and retention in a professional services context. *Journal of Service Research*, *16*(4), 503–517.
- Gregor, S. (2006). The nature of theory in information systems. *MIS Quarterly*, *30*(3), 611–642.
- Grönroos, C. (1984). A service quality model and its marketing implications. *European Journal of Marketing*, *18*(4), 36–44.
- Grönroos, C., & Ojasalo, K. (2004). Service productivity: Towards a conceptualization of the transformation of inputs into economic results in services. *Journal of Business Research*, *57*(4), 414–423.
- Johnston, R., & Jones, P. (2004). Service productivity: Towards understanding the relationship between operational and customer productivity. *International Journal of Productivity and Performance Management*, *53*(3), 201–213.
- Jones, P. (1988). Quality, capacity and productivity in service industries. International Journal of Hospitality Management, 7(2), 104–112.
- Lehmann, C. (2015). *Exploring service productivity : Studies in the German airport industry*. HHL Leipzig Graduate School of Management.
- Levitt, T. (1972). Production-line approach to service. *Harvard Business Review*, *September-*, 41–52.
- Maglio, P. P., Vargo, S. L., Caswell, N., & Spohrer, J. (2009). The service system is the basic abstraction of service science. *Information Systems and E-Business Management*, 7(4), 395–406.
- Maroto-Sánchez, A. (2012). Productivity in the services sector: conventional and current explanations. *The Service Industries Journal*, *32*(5), 719–746.
- Murphy, P. (1999). Service performance measurment using simple techniques actually works. *Journal of Marketing Practice: Applied Marketing Science*, 5(2), 56–73.
- Oliver, R. L. (1980). A cognitive model of the antecendents and consequences of satisfaction decisions. *Journal of Marketing Research*, *17*(4), 460–469.

- Ostrom, A. L., Parasuraman, A., Bowen, D. E., Patricio, L., & Voss, C. A. (2015). Service research priorities in a rapidly changing context. *Journal of Service Research*, 18(2), 127–159.
- Parasuraman, A. (2002). Service quality and productivity : a synergistic perspective. *Managing Service Quality*, *12*(1), 6–9.
- Pritchard, R. D., Harrell, M. M., DiazGranados, D., & Guzman, M. J. (2008). The productivity measurement and enhancement system: A meta-analysis. *The Journal of Applied Psychology*, 93(3), 540–567.
- Pritchard, R. D., Weaver, S. J., & Ashwood, E. L. (2012). *Evidence-based* productivity improvement: A practical guide to the productivity measurement and enhancement system (*ProMES*). New York: Routledge.
- Rust, R. T., & Huang, M.-H. (2012). Optimizing service productivity. *Journal of Marketing*, 76(March), 47–66.
- Sampson, S. E. (2012). Visualizing service operations. *Journal of Service Research*, *15*(2), 182–198.
- Sampson, S. E., & Froehle, C. (2006). Foundations and implications of a proposed unified services theory. *Production and Operations Management*, 15(2), 329–343.
- Sein, M. K., Henfridsson, O., Rossi, M., & Lindgren, R. (2011). Action design research. MIS Quarterly, 35(1), 37–56.
- Sigala, M., Jones, P., Lockwood, A., & Airey, D. (2005). Productivity in hotels: a stepwise data envelopment analysis of hotels' rooms division processes. *The Services Industries Journal*, 25(1), 61–81.
- Solomon, M. R., Surprenant, C., Czepiel, J. A., & Gutman, E. G. (1985). Theory perspective on dyadic interactions: The service encounter. *Journal of Marketing*, 49(1), 99–111.
- Staats, B. R., Brunner, D. J., & Upton, D. M. (2011). Lean principles, learning, and knowledge work: Evidence from a software services provider. *Journal of Operations Management*, 29(5), 376–390. doi:10.1016/j.jom.2010.11.005
- Staats, B. R., & Upton, D. M. (2011). Lean knowledge work. *Harvard Business Review*, 89(10), 100–110.
- Tangen, S. (2005). Demystifying productivity and performance. *International Journal of Productivity and Performance Management*, 54(1), 34–46.

- Vargo, S. L., & Lusch, R. F. (2004). Evolving to a new dominant logic for marketing. *Journal of Marketing*, 68(1), 1–17.
- Vargo, S. L., & Lusch, R. F. (2008). Service-dominant logic: Continuing the evolution. *Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science*, *36*(1), 1–10. doi:10.1007/s11747-007-0069-6
- Vuorinen, I., Järvinen, R., & Lehtinen, U. (1998). Content and measurement of productivity in the service sector: A conceptual analysis with an illustrative case from the insurance business. *International Journal of Service Industry Management*, 9(4), 377–396.
- Weijters, B., Rangarajan, D., Falk, T., & Schillewaert, N. (2007). Determinants and outcomes of customers' use of self-service technology in a retail setting. *Journal of Service Research*, 10(1), 3–21.
- Yalley, A. A., & Sekhon, H. S. (2014). Service production process: Implication for service productivity. *International Journal of Productivity and Performance Management*, 63(8), 1012–1030.
- Yin, R. K. (2009). Case study research. Thousand Oaks: Sage.
- Zeithaml, V. A., Berry, L. L., & Parasuraman, A. (1993). The nature and determinants of customer expectations of service. *Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science*, 21(1), 1–12.

Attachment: Table 1

	Conceptual Approach					
	Industrial	Service	Customer	Service	Network	
	productivity	production	integration	marketing	interaction	
Main	Managing	Managing	For managing	For managing	For managing	
rationale	service	service	service	service	productivity it	
	productivity	productivity	productivity it	productivity.	is important to	
	with the help of	based on a	is critical to	the quality	consider an	
	"lessons	detailed	consider both	dimension	entity's	
	learned" from	analysis of the	provider and	needs to be	individually	
	industry	analysis of the	provider and	considered	nerceived	
	industry.	delivery	customer magdu ativity	considered.	officiancy and	
		delivery	productivity.		effectiveness of	
		process.				
					multientity	
					interactions.	
Productivity	Service provider	Service	Service	Service	Service network	
perspective	(total	provider	provider &	provider	entities	
	productivity)	(total	customer	& customer	(individual	
		productivity)	(individual	(total	productivities)	
			productivities)	productivity)		
Key	Factory-like	Productivity	Management	Management	Key levers for	
managerial	thinking is	should be	should look	should seek an	productivity	
implications	beneficial in a	analyzed and	beyond	optimal	management	
for	service setting.	enhanced at	internally-	balance	include an	
productivity		different,	focused	between	entity's goals,	
management	Management	service	productivity	quantitative	expectations,	
0	should invest in	specific stages	measures.	and qualitative	perceptions,	
	standardization,	(e.g. capacity		inputs and	activities and	
	technology.	management	Positive	outputs.	processes	
	automation etc	and customer	changes in	F	throughout	
		integration)	provider's	Customers	different	
		integration).	productivity	need to be	interaction	
			may have	enabled to	stages	
			negative results	improve	stages.	
			for customer's	general	Measurement of	
			noductivity	service	inputs / outputs	
			productivity.	productivity	needs to be	
			Enable	productivity.	head on	
					contextual	
			immenation thain		footors (o a	
			improve their		lactors (e.g.	
			Individual			
			service		goais).	
			productivity.			
					Management	
					should strive to	
					enhance	
					interaction	
					partners	
					perceived	
					service	
					productivity.	
Exemplary	•Levitt (1972)	• Jones	 Fitzsimmons 	 Vuorinen, 	• This paper	
contributions	• Murphy (1999)	(1988)	(1985)	Järvinen, &		
	• Staats,	Corsten	 Parasuraman 	Lehtinen,		
	Brunner, &	(1994)	(2002)	(1998).		
	Upton (2011).	•	 Johnston & 	 Grönroos 		
			Jones (2004)	& Ojasalo		
			Anitsal &	(2004).		
			Schumann.			
			(2007).			

KIT Scientific Working Papers ISSN 2194-1629 **www.kit.edu**